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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of AustAsia Group Limited
and its subsidiaries (“AustAsia” or “the Group”), | am honored
to present the annual results for the financial year ended 31
December 2024 (“Reporting Year”) to our shareholders.

In 2024, China achieved a 5% year-on-year GDP growth.
However, it is evident that the Chinese economy experienced
great difficulties in the year. One of the major challenges
is the continuous weakening of consumer confidence that
caused obvious decreases in consumer spending, or so-called
“consumption downgrade”. This was attributable to multiple
structural reasons, such as higher-than-expected unemployment
rate, demographically falling new-born numbers, and negative
outlook on households’ disposable incomes. Like most of the
consumer related sectors, the operating environments and
financial performances of dairy farm operators in China have been
both challenging and disappointing. In 2024, dairy industry in
China was amongst the ten “profit declining industries”. Almost
all listed diary companies reported revenue decline, and the
sales revenue of all major categories of dairy products, including
UHT, yogurt, cheese and pasteurized milk, experienced decline.
Following a decrease of 2% in 2023, the total sales volume of
dairy products further decreased by about 1.5%. Starting from
the 3rd quarter of 2021, up to until now, this round of nationwide
milk price decline has lasted for more than 3 years. The national
average raw milk price dropped from RMB4.4 /kg in August 2021,
to RMB3.1 /kg in December 2024, representing a decrease of
30%.

BHABRAR
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From the second half of 2023 up to now, the supply-side
consolidation has been ongoing. Some of the less competitive,
small to mid-size individually owned or family run dairy farms with
low efficiency have been forced to leave and ceased operations
due to continued loss-making and stressed cash flow. It is
estimated that during the first 3 quarter of 2024, in China’s 10
major milk production provinces, the herd number reduced by 6.7
%. It is also estimated that the dairy industry has approximately
eliminated 1.2 million dairy cows in 2023 and 2024 together. On
the other hand, since the domestic milk price dropped to a low
level, the imported dairy products have lost price advantages.
In 2023 and 2024, quantities of imported dairy products have
also fallen significantly. In 2024, for the first time since 2018,
the domestic raw milk production volume has experienced
decrease. The total raw milk production volume dropped by 2.9%
to approximately 40.8 million ton (2023: 42.0 million ton). Due to
the above-mentioned supply-side reduction, we expect that the
raw milk market will restore its supply-demand equilibrium in the
second half of 2025.

Under such circumstances, continued improvement in production
efficiency is the key to strengthening competitiveness. In
AustAsia, we have been able to further enhance our milk yield
and operational efficiency and continue to provide customers with
high quality raw milk and beef cattle. In 2024, the Group recorded
AMY of 14.0 tons (2023: 13.6 tons), representing a Year-on-Year
increase of 2.9%. The continued improvement in milk yield was
attributable to the in-depth understanding of every detail of herd
management, the accumulated upgrades in our genetic breeding
technologies over the years and the increase in the number of
dairy cows reaching peak lactation phases. On the other hand,
we continued to make an effort to lower the feed costs and have
seen significant cost savings. In 2024, the feed cost of milking
cows per kg of raw milk decreased from RMB2.42 to RMB1.96,
representing a 19.0% YoY decrease.

Regarding the beef cattle business, we expect that the demand
for high quality beef, especially premium beef products, such as
Wagyu beef, will grow significantly. We have started upgrading
our beef cattle herd structure from the current Holstein breed to
Wagyu and Angus.

H2023F ¥ FE5 - HIGAIBRE —EFHE - HBH
BRFNEIE - MK T AR/ EEE sk R EE AL E
FHSEFEBEERBERERMEER LTS R
FIEEE - HErR2024F H=AZFE - PE101E
FEFPEEEDODNFFRERNL6.7% - Bk
o B RITERR20234F 2024 F 4 HEKL
12EBENF - S—FH ARBEANEHRER
i - EOIARBREBRES - R20234F 2024
FoEOINREEINKRETE - 2024F - BAR
RHNES B2018F AR E N IR T - REHINEE
ET[2.9%E440.8B EME (2023%F : 42.08 8
WE) o AR Ltk a QAR - BRAITEFREHD M5
fE2025F N FMEMRTEFE -

ERBERT  FEESEESERREATFE HAE
B MRT - BME—PRAEENEREERE
WHEARFPREHEEHMERBD AL - R2024
F o KREEER514.018 (20234 : 13.6M8) F/LE
e - B N2.9% - ENEFERANDEAR
HERETESEASNREAER SFRERERE
AT B9 N AR DA B3 A 3L B BRI B AR B E Y
e Z—HE ZAMFES HBREGKAE - I
BEIEKEKAK - 2024F  FT BRI TF
BRABHARB2 42 T TREARE1.967T © AL
TF£19.0% °

BRAE R RAOEFHEESRN  LEREE
FRER (MMEFR) FRBABIER - HAD
ERMTTRBRMNA SR AR - B AR ETE &
TR AN R A HT -



Despite the difficulties and challenges facing the Chinese
economy, the government has acted vigorously in encouraging
consumer spending and stimulating household’s confidence in the
economic growth.

Over the years, the government has also issued a series of
policies to support and steer the development of the dairy
industry. The Chinese State Council issued several nationwide
policies to address the long-term development of the dairy
industry, including the “14th Five-Year Plan for Promoting
Agricultural and Rural Modernization” and the “Opinions of the
CPC Central Committee and the State Council on Learning from
and Applying the Experience of the ‘Green Rural Revival Program’
to Vigorously and Effectively Promote the All-round Revitalization
of Rural Areas”. Such policies are national directives calling for
strengthening the modernizations of large-scale dairy farms,
optimizing the structure of dairy products, enhancing standards
for liquid milk, standardizing reconstituted milk labeling and
promoting fresh milk consumption.

Most recently, in mid-March, the central government issued a
“Special Action Plan for Consumption Revitalizations”. The Plan
emphasized the importance of household consumptions to the
growth of the Chinese economy, and listed specific areas for
provincial and municipal/local governments to focus, including to
provide subsidies to child-birth and home appliance replacement,
to increase retirement pension, and to lower the income tax
burden, etc. we have seen real actions being taken by local
government to follow the Plan and offer subsidies and incentives
to boost consumptions. We expect that more and more favorable
policies and actions will improve the overall consumer confidence
and result in strong recovery and greater-than-expected
consumption growth in China.

Following the deployment of national directives and policies and
supported by the increasing health awareness and continuous
improvement in the quality of dairy products, we believe that the
huge potential of China’s dairy products consumption growth will
be fully released.
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After 3 years of downward decline, 2025 is an important year for
our longer-term growth. We will need to prepare ourselves for the
coming recovery of the market. On the one hand, we will make
relentless efforts to improve our milk yield and to develop new
customers; On the other hand, we will continue to take effective
measures to lower our feed costs and to enhance our advanced
position in genetics and breeding. We believe that once the
current downturn comes to an end, we will become stronger and
more competitive in industry.

IN CLOSING

AustAsia is well positioned to grow in the world’s most promising
dairy market by providing premium raw milk to Chinese
customers. As we work towards this direction, we are committed
to the highest level of operating efficiency, high quality standards
and sustainable farming practices. As Chairman of AustAsia, it
has been my great honor to work with all stakeholders and | want
to thank every person for their contribution. | would like to show
my appreciation to our business partners, suppliers, staff and
shareholders, who have been a part of our development story. We
look forward to continuing our trusted long-term relationship with
them. | thank AustAsia’s management team and all our employees
for their continuous commitment and hard work during hard and
uncertain times. | also want to thank my fellow Directors on the
Board for their dedicated stewardship of the Group and enabling
us to navigate well through the year. | look forward to continuing
this journey with all of you.

Chairman of the Board

TAN YONG NANG

EB=ZFTNBR  2025FREMEGENES
ZF o BIEE AR IR & T 518 BLIAT 2E 4 o
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BEBAWETEREARF -
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BBAATREFPREEERM) BT MFRS
B DEERSKANENARMTEERER -
EHZEEDRABANBET  RABRNRERK
BKFHELYE SLERERUKENEE
B o FRRIBHERE - RIRKRERLLEMNE FI SRR
ERE YA UELERNREBUASE -
it HEA2ERMBERERENEBEMN - HUE
B BT RBRREARES R EEERES
REBESEENEHERER REZHRGEEBEK
RERBTEREIITHESBBSITBEFHT
fE o lbsh  REBRHESGRCHAKBERHE
IR ERMEAIBNEENFE - HEFRFEL
HeidiE —IRAE -
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Raw Milk Production Volume (tons)

FERMEE (M)
CAGR:
FIEAIEREK : 128% 6"/}
850,600 916,600
759,800
638,800 I
2021 2022 2023 2024

Raw Milk Sales Volume (tons)
FRBEE (hf)
CAGR:
FIGEGERE : 11.4%

4. 2%
783, OOO 815,900

712,800
I I I I

2021 2022 2023 2024

Raw Milk Average Selling Price (RMB/kg)
FERMHEEE (AR¥ETAF)

‘I?.O%
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I I 354

2021 2022 2023 2024

Average Milk Yield per Milkable Cow

(tons/head/year)
SEMBLEE (W B F)
CAGR:
FHEAREE  5.5% 2. 9‘7}
13.6
2021 2022 2023 2024
Beef Sales Volume (tons)
P4 H 8 (W)
CAGR:

FIEAEEER  27.9%

64'5y 19,415

1133 11,808
[ l l

2021 2022 2023 2024

Beef Average Selling Price (RMB/ton)

NEHEEB (AR®T W)
-16.4%
o
35,065
33201 30,670

I 25 648

2021 2022 2023 2024
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Segment Revenue (RMB million) Segment Gross Profit (RMB million)
DEBA (ARBEETT) PEWEM(AREBEET)
= Raw milk m Beef cattle = Ancillary ® Raw milk ® Beef cattle = Ancillary
CAGR: R A ity JREH LS Hip
FIPEEIERE 3.1% 3,802.9 3,924.4 11341
3,365.0
883.0
491.0
843.2 -
2021 2022 2023 2024 2021 2022 2023 2024
Herd Size of Dairy Cows (heads) Herd Size of Beef Cattle (heads)
M4 BERE (R) RE4ERE (8E)
L Cialvest& heifers L Millfable cows
CAGH B RERE RE CaGh 38,433
FHEEERE 1 4.8% FIPEEERE  12.0% 35,707

130,802
117,950 122,251 29,615
106,174 '
25,414
: » I I

2021 2022 2023 2024 2021 2022 2023 2024
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FINANCIAL DATA 2024 2023
BBHE 2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000 Change
AR¥T T ARBETF T b

Revenue A 3,683,841 3,924,360 -6.1%
Gross profit E A 491,036 708,462 -30.7%
Losses arising from changes in fair value less KB H LW EE (1,260,646) (667,883) +88.8%

costs to sell of other biological assets NABEREEKAR

BH)HEIE

Loss attributable to owners of the Company RAEHE AEGEBRE (1,269,287) (488,791) +159.7%
Cash EBITDA (Non-IFRS IR 4 EBITDA (3F 513,283 761,121 -32.6%

Financial Measure) Mo 1 (BRI TG R E 2R

BISET 2 481R) i

Basic loss per share (RMB) FREREE (ARET) (1.81) (0.70) +158.6%
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2024 2023 Change
BREIER 2024 20234 k)
Annualised average milk yield per FEEKEFRETY 14.0 13.6 +2.9%

milkable cow (tons) EfhE (18)
Herd size of dairy cows (heads) PG-EF R (38) 122,251 130,802 -6.5%
Raw milk sales volume (tons) R E () 815,900 783,000 +4.2%
Herd size of beef cattle (heads) A RERE (38) 35,707 38,433 71%
Note 1:We define Cash EBITDA as loss for the year excluding (i) AfaF 7 B SEBITDAEE AFRNEIE - TEE>)

finance costs, (ii) interest income, (iii) income tax expense, (iv) BERA - (iDFEBMA -~ (ii)FTEREL - (iv)
depreciation and amortisation, (v) losses arising from changes WERBS - (VEEEMEMEEARBERM
i(nl)fe}ir Yalue Ieis costj'ffto sell oI .(.))thler bFoIogitch assets, SEERABBMEE - (V)NEZR (i) 2R
.V| o're|gn exchange ml erence, (vii) impairment losses on GERERE - R(vil) LR AR R
financial assets, and (viii) share-based payment expenses. =
For the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a revenue of RBWMEFE  AKBEBFWALNARKE3 68388
approximately RMB3,683.8 million, representing a drop of 6.1%  JT ' #2023 F MM T FE6.1% « LIV EFZRMNATH
compared to 2023. This is mainly attributable the combined effect  ERI4RE FE -

of to:

(i) a 17.0% decrease in the raw milk selling price and a 4.2%
growth in the raw milk sales volume; and

(i) a 16.4% decrease in the beef cattle selling price and a
64.5% increase in the beef cattle sales volume.

() ERDEETEI7.0%EEADEEER
42% K&

(i) A EETE16.4% KAFHELIN64.5% °



The gross profit decreased by 30.7%, from approximately
RMB708.5 million to RMB491.0 million. This is mainly caused by:

(i) a 17.0% decrease in the raw milk selling price; and
(i) a 16.4% decrease in the beef cattle selling price.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately RMB1,269.3
million for the Reporting Year, this is mainly attributable to the
losses arising from changes in the fair value less costs to sell
of other biological assets of RMB1,260.6 million. The significant
losses are mainly due to decreases in both raw milk price and
culling cattle price used in the assumption to derive the fair value
of biological assets.

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s key operational efficiency
indicator — annualised average milk yield per milkable cow,
continued to improve and reached a new height of 14.0 tons,
representing a 2.9% increase.

UPDATE ON THE SCHEDULE OF THE DEVELOPMENT
OF PURE SOURCE FARM 4

Reference is made to the prospectus issued by the Company
on 16 December 2022 (the “Prospectus”), the results
announcements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2022 dated 1 March 2023 and the voluntary announcements
dated 1 June 2023, 1 September 2023, 1 December 2023 and
9 February 2024 (the “Announcements”). As disclosed in the
Announcements, the Company commenced construction of Pure
Source Farm 4 in April 2023 and extended the construction period
from April 2023 to December 2023 to from April 2023 to December
2024, and further to from April 2023 to December 2025.
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REBERREFEHEEREFHENARK1,269.380
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The construction progress of Pure Source Farm 4 included, among
others, the completion of engineering surveying and mapping of
the land, various aspects of the design and construction of the
surrounding wall.

Given the continued difficult operating environment of dairy
market, the management of the Company has been evaluating the
industrial outlook constantly to decide the most suitable time for
the development of Pure Source Farm 4. After internal review and
discussion, the Company has decided to pause the construction
of Pure Source Farm 4 for the time being. We will continue to
monitor the supply and demand situation of the raw milk market
and to make further decisions on the schedule of Pure Source
Farm 4 development.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Though China achieved a 5% year-on-year (“YoY") GDP growth, it
is evident that the Chinese economy experienced great difficulties
in 2024. One of the major challenges is the continuous weakening
of consumer confidence that caused obvious decreases in
consumer spending, or so-called “consumption downgrade”.

This was attributable to multiple structural reasons, such as
higher-than-expected unemployment rate, demographically
falling new-born numbers, and negative outlook on households’
disposable incomes. Like most of the consumer-related sectors,
the operating environments and financial performances of
dairy farm operators in China have been both challenging and
disappointing.

In 2024, the dairy industry in China was amongst the ten “profit
declining industries”. Almost all listed dairy companies reported
revenue decline, and the sales revenue of all major categories of
dairy products, including ultra-high temperature, yogurt, cheese
and pasteurized milk, experienced decline. Following a decrease
of 2% in 2023, the total sales volume of dairy products further
decreased by about 1.5%.

Starting from the third quarter of 2021, up to now, this round of
nationwide milk price decline has lasted for more than 3 years.
The national average raw milk price dropped from RMB4.4/kg in
August 2021, to RMB3.1/kg in December 2024, representing a
decrease of 30%.

From second half of 2023 up till now, the supply side consolidation
has been ongoing. Some of the less competitive, small to mid-size
individually owned or family run dairy farms with low efficiency
have been forced to leave the market. It is estimated that during
the first 3 quarter of 2024, the herd number in China’s 10 major
milk production provinces were reduced by 6.7%. It is also
estimated that the dairy industry has approximately eliminated 1.2
million dairy cows in 2023 and 2024. In addition, due to continued
loss-making and stressed cash flow, some farm operators started
leaving the market and ceased operations. From 2022 to 2024,
it is estimated that the number of scaled dairy farm dropped by
20%, from 4,600 in 2022 to 3,700 by the end of 2024. To a limited
extent, the decreases in dairy cow numbers and dairy farms have
helped the industry to restore its supply-demand equilibrium.
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On the other hand, since 2023, quantities of imported dairy
products have been fallen significantly. In 2024, China imported
2.6 million tons of various dairy products, representing a decrease
of 9.6% year on year. The total imported value was USD11 billion,
representing a decrease of 8.39% year on year. Also, since the
domestic milk price dropped to a low level, the imported dairy
products have lost price advantages. It is expected that the
volume of imported dairy products to China will continue to drop.

For the first time since 2018, the domestic raw milk production
volume has experienced decrease. In 2024, total raw milk
production volume was dropped by 2.9% to approximately 40.8
million ton (2023: 42.0 million ton). It demonstrates the effects
from the reduction of supply side capacities. As a results of recent
consolidation, once the current downturn is over, the leading
operators are expected to have much stronger position and more
dominant market share in terms of overall raw milk supply.

On the other hand, in 2024, the costs of feed continued to drop
with prices of some of the key materials and ingredients becoming
lower. This has eased the significant cost pressure that troubled
the dairy farming industry in 2023.

Despite of current difficulties and challenges, the outlook of dairy
sector in China is still promising. On 28 October, 2024, Chen
Mengshan, director of the National Food and Nutrition Advisory
Committee and former Party Secretary of the Chinese Academy of
Agricultural Sciences, said that in 2023, China’'s per capita milk
consumption is 42.4 kg, which is only equivalent to 23%~38% of
the recommended amount in the Dietary Guidelines for Chinese
Residents (B RERIEM ), the current domestic consumption
level is only a quarter compared to Europe and the United
States, and 60% of that in Japan and South Korea. To improve
Chinese people’s nutrition, the consumption of dairy products
needs to be continually encouraged. Over the past 10 years,
China has continued to focus on improving dairy product quality,
making sure consumers have high confidence in domestically
made dairy products. With younger generations become main-
stream consumers, the variety of dairy products in China have
also widened notably. This will also underpin the growth of milk
consumption in long-term.
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To survive this down cycle, farm operators will have to focus on
efficiency to continually reduce production costs, at the same
time to improve the milk yield to higher level. Only by doing so the
significant impact of price decline may be mitigated. Cash flow,
rather than profitability, has become the most important part of the
day-to-day operation.

The beef cattle market in domestic China has seen its worst period
in 2024. On one hand, volume of imported low price frozen beef
and beef products increased significantly. On the other hand, with
more and more small and mid-size dairy farms closing operations
and culling cows, the supply of low-price culling cattle surged to
cause a big impact on what would normally be an orderly high-
quality beef cattle market.

Nevertheless, supported by a series of government policies, the
prices of beef and beef cattle have shown signs of recovery after
more than 2 years of decline. In December 2024, the Chinese
government started anti-dumping investigation against imported
beef products, aiming to reduce the impact of large quantity of
imported beef products on the local farming industry. In the first
week of March 2025, in retaliation to the latest round of tariffs
imposed by the US government against China made goods, the
Chinese government announced additional tariffs on US pork,
poultry and beef products. There are signs that the prices of
beef products and beef cattle have begun to recover from the
historical low level of December 2024. It is expected that the
downturn in the beef market will end in the second quarter of
2025. The industry will start a new phase of healthy development.
This, combined with the current low level of per capita beef
consumption, indicates that there is a huge potential for long-term
growth for beef cattle farm operators.
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In relation to the environment and ecosystems, the Chinese
government has been encouraging energy saving and emission
reduction in the dairy and beef cattle industries vigorously. The
dairy farming industry is required to take the direction of “reducing
pollution and carbon, establishing a cycle of sustainable
ecosystem” to achieve high-quality development of the industry
and to create the harmonious coexistence of human and nature,
as well as to maintain a sustainable development of the industrial
chain with a “green ecological” model. Some leading dairy
enterprises have made continuous investment in research and
innovation in relation to carbon emission reduction, standard
setting, equipment research and development, and model
demonstration, etc., the theme of “sustainable development”
has become a focus for almost everyone in the animal farming
industries.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is mainly engaged in the dairy farming business of
producing and selling high-quality raw milk to dairy products
manufacturers and processors, and beef cattle farming and
fattening business. In 2023, according to Holstein Farmer
Magazine, we were the 3rd largest raw milk producer in China
(in terms of production volume) with a total raw milk production
volume of approximately 917,000 tons.

We provide raw milk to a diversified group of customers, including
leading national and regional dairy product manufacturers and
brands such as Mengniu, Bright Dairy, Meiji, New Hope Dairy,
ClassyKiss and Honest Dairy. We are not reliant on our controlling
shareholders as our customers. We provide our customers with
a stable supply of high quality and traceable raw milk in large
volumes. By doing so, we enable our customers to market and
develop high-end and innovative dairy products to cater to various
needs of end customers.

We have two main business segments, namely raw milk business
and beef cattle business. We also engage in sales of milk
products under our own brand to wholesale customers. We also
have a feed mill to produce feed materials for internal use as well
as external customers.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Raw Milk Business

We breed and raise dairy cows in our large-scale and modernized
dairy farms. We produce and sell raw milk to downstream dairy
product manufacturers and processors. During the Reporting
Year, we continue to provide high-quality and reliable raw milk to
our customers, who further process the raw milk into healthy and
high-quality dairy products to satisfy end customers.

During the Reporting Year, 78.4% of our revenue was derived
from the raw milk business (2023: 85.2%). We have achieved
improvements in some of the important operating indicators:

(a) revenue generated from sales of raw milk for the Reporting
Year was approximately RMB2,888.9 million, representing
a decrease of 13.5% compared to that of 2023 mainly due
to approximately 17.0% decrease in the raw milk selling
price;

(b) the annualised milk yield per milkable cow (“AMY”) for
the Reporting Year reached 14.0 tons (2023: 13.6 tons),
representing a YoY growth of 2.9%;

(c) the total raw milk production volume for the Reporting Year
was approximately 916,600 tons (2023: 859,600 tons),
representing a YoY growth of 6.6%; and

(d) the total raw milk sales volume for the Reporting Year
was approximately 815,900 tons (2023: 783,000 tons),
representing a YoY growth of 4.2%.

Compared to 2023, the average selling price (“ASP”) of raw milk
decreased by 17.0%, from RMB4,268/ton to RMB3,541/ton. The
drop in ASP was mainly attributable to the weaker-than- expected
demand for milk and dairy products, as well as the temporary
over-supply of raw milk caused by a significant increase in new
dairy farms and additional dairy farm investments.
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During the Reporting Year, we continued to lower the feed costs
and have seen significant improvement. Compared to 2023, the
feed cost of milking cows per kg of raw milk decreased from
RMB2.42 to RMB1.96, representing a 19.0% drop. The significant
decrease in both selling price and feed costs off-set one another,
as a result, the gross margin of the raw milk business dropped
slightly to 19.5% for the Reporting Year from 20.8% in 2023.
During the Reporting Year, we have adopted systematic and
timely review into the whole feeding and milking process, we took
measures to adjust the feed formula to strike the optimal balance
between milk yield and feed costs. In doing so, our operating
teams and nutrients make the best effort to switch to compatible
additives with similar output enhancement effects and to improve
the absorbance level and conversion rate of dairy cows. We also
leveraged our centralized procurement activities. As a result, we
have seen notable savings in feed cost per kg of raw milk.

Dairy Farms

As of 31 December 2024, we owned and operated 11 large-scale
modernized dairy farms in Shandong and Inner Mongolia of the
PRC. The number of our dairy cow was 122,251 heads (as of
31 December 2023: 130,802 heads), including 65,282 heads of
milkable cows (as of 31 December 2023: 66,085 heads). The
aggregate gross land area of our dairy farms was approximately
16,992 Chinese mu. Our dairy farms are located strategically, 3
of them are within the “Golden Raw Milk Belt” in Inner Mongolia,
where the mild climate, wide grassland, ample natural feed supply
and abundant fresh water provide an ideal farming environment
for dairy cows to generate high milk yield with good quality. The
remaining 8 dairy farms are in Shandong with close proximities
to both major dairy product processing plants and major dairy
consumption markets such as the Beijing-Tianjin region and the
down-stream Yangzi River Delta region, including Shanghai.

Milk Yield

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded AMY of 14.0
tons (2023: 13.6 tons), representing a Year-on-Year increase of
2.9%. The continued improvements in milk yield were attributable
to in-depth understanding of every detail of herd management,
accumulated upgrades in our genetic breeding technologies over
the years and increase in the number of dairy cows reaching peak
lactation phases.
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Beef Cattle Business

Our beef cattle farms operate synergistically with our raw milk
business. We use our own dairy herd as breeders for beef cattle
calves. By doing so, we optimize the value of our dairy farms’
existing resources and maximize the whole breeding value chain.
In addition, we capitalize on our expertise in genetic breeding
of dairy cattle to improve the quality and productivity of our
beef cattle. As of 31 December 2024, we owned and operated 2
large-scale beef cattle feedlots in Shandong and Inner Mongolia.
The total herd size was approximately 35,707 heads.

For the Reporting Year, revenue of beef cattle business was
RMB497.9 million, representing a 37.6% increase compared to
2023 (RMB362.0 million), and accounted for 13.5% of our total
revenue. The total volume of beef cattle sold was 19,415 tons
(2023: 11,803 tons), representing an increase of 64.5%. The
gross loss of the beef cattle business increased significantly from
RMB3.6 million for 2023 to RMB90.0 million for the Reporting
Period, mainly due to a 16.4% drop in beef cattle selling price,
from approximately RMB30,670/ton to RMB25,648/ton.

Ancillary business

For the Reporting Year, revenue from the ancillary business was
RMB297.0 million (2023: RMB220.8 million), representing an
increase of 34.5% due to a significant increase in the product
sales volume.

Breeding

We continue to implement the genetic improvement program to
enhance the breed of our dairy cows. Compared to the common
industry practice of relying on imported bovine semen, we use
in vitro fertilization (“IVF”) and embryo transfer (‘ET”) breeding
technology to breed better dairy cows. To achieve genetic
improvement of dairy cattle breeds, a high genomic female core
herd is fundamental. With the high genomic female core herd that
our farms were able to provide, we can improve the herd genetic
traits from both parental sides, compared to the common industry
practices used by most of the other large-scale farms operators
which only improve the paternal side with semen. In 2024, we
started commercializing embryo external sales. For the Reporting
Period, we produced 18,527 embryos, transferred 19,427 embryos
and sold 2,054 embryos to the third- party farm operators.
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Milk Quality

We put product quality as the highest priority throughout our
operations. All of our 11 dairy farms are currently certified with the
Safe Quality Food (“SQF”), which is a rigorous and credible food
safety and quality program that is recognized by retailers, brand
owners, and food service providers world-wide. We implement
a rigorous internal quality control system to ensure the highest
standards for our raw milk and beef cattle. We have established a
set of standard operating procedures for each business operating
procedure throughout the process of production of raw milk and
beef cattle, including breeding and reproduction, feeding, milking,
identification and treatment of disease, veterinary assistance, and
inventory management.

Customers

Unlike many of our competitors in the dairy farming and raw
milk production industry, we are independent of our controlling
shareholders, and we develop and explore our customers
independently. We have a well-diversified spectrum of customers.
We serve both leading national and regional dairy product
manufacturers and brands such as Mengniu, Bright Dairy, Meiji,
Chi Forest, Honest Dairy and ClassyKiss. By the end of 2024, we
had 30 active raw milk customers. For the Reporting Year, sales
to the 5 largest raw milk customers accounted for 74.1% of our
revenue.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The following table sets forth the details of the Group’s
consolidated revenue during the years indicated:

B W DA

5t % (51 B8
L'ON
TR AKERARFENEABAFE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREFIT

Types of goods BmiE
Raw milk R 2,888,940 3,341,602
Beef cattle AL 497,946 361,992
Ancillary Hith 296,955 220,766
3,683,841 3,924,360

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s revenue decreased by
6.1% YoY to RMB3,683.8 million (2023: RMB3,924.4 million).
The total raw milk sales volume increased by 4.2% and the total
beef cattle sales volume increased by 64.5%. However, the raw
milk selling price dropped by 17.0% and beef cattle selling price
dropped by 16.4%.

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of raw milk during the years indicated:
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TREBIRFATRFERPEELA « HERFY
EEMFHIE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Sales Sales Sales Sales

Revenue Volume ASP Revenue Volume ASP
HEBKA HE THER SHEWA HE THER
RMB’000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMB/ton
ARBTR M AR%T /M AR%®TT W AR,/ M
Raw milk JREH 2,888,940 815,937 3,541 3,341,602 783,028 4,268

The Group’s total revenue of the sales of raw milk decreased by
13.5% YoY to RMB2,888.9 million during the Reporting Year (2023:
RMB3,341.6 million). The decrease was mainly due to the raw milk
selling price dropped by 17.0% despite the total raw milk sales
volume increased by 4.2% during the Reporting Year.

RMEFE - AEEHEERMDABUI AR LR
P13 5% EAR2888.9BE T (2023F : AR
3,341 6B &) c ZRPVFERRENEE T
17.0% @ BERBNHWBHEHERNBREFERNERT
4.2% °
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Average selling price of raw milk decreased by 17.0% YoY to
RMB3,541/ton during the Reporting Year (2023: RMB4,268/ton).

Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 4.2% YoY to
approximately 815,937 tons during the Reporting Year (2023:
783,028 tons), mainly due to the rise in average yield per milkable
cow and the contribution of sales volume of raw milk from Pure
Source Farm 3.

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of our beef cattles during the years indicated:

RBEFE  REHFHEBRLETHKI7.0%9E
AR®3 5417 /I (20234 : ARW4, 2687,/
Wg) o

RBEFE RRDNAHEERLIERI2HESL
815,937 MA (20234 : 783,028Mf) * T EHN T
REFFHEDE EAHIARERPUSIHERTIEE
Bt o

TREBVRFATRFEAFTHERA HERFIHE
BOS

2024 2023
2024 20234
Sales Sales Sales Sales

Revenue Volume ASP Revenue Volume ASP
HERA HE THEE SHEMA HE THER
RMB’000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMB/ton
AR®T T M AR®T /W ARETL W AR,/
Beef cattle s 497,946 19,415 25,648 361,992 11,803 30,670

The Group’s total revenue from sales of beef cattle increased by
37.6% YoY to RMB497.9 million during the Reporting Year (2023:
RMB362.0 million). The increase was mainly due to the increase in
sales volume of beef cattle, and partially offset by the decrease in
average selling price of beef cattle.

Total sales volume of beef cattle increased by 64.5% YoY to
approximately 19,415 tons during the Reporting Year (2023:
11,8083 tons).

Average selling price of beef cattle dropped by 16.4% YoY to
RMB25,648/ton during the Reporting Year (2023: RMB30,670/ton).

RBREFE  AEEHEAFTHNBRARLEER
37.6%EARMB497. 9B EIT (20234F : AR
362.0BEIL) - ZIEMEBRARAFHESEM
WERD WA F T EBA TR o

MRBEEE > AFMEEERLLEN645%EL
19,4150 (20234F : 11,803Mf) °

RBEFE > AFNTFHEERL TR16.4%2 A
R#25 6487 /B (20234 : AR#¥30,6707T
Wg) o
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Cost of Sales HERAK

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw milk — ZREE 5 E R AT B i RE T M AR ARERK °
and beef cattle. The following table sets forth the breakdown of TRV EEHER AR AL :
the cost of sales for the years indicated:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBET T

Costs of sales of raw milk JREH 80 85 & B AR 2,888,940 3,341,602
Costs of sales of beef cattle A4 $H &S A AR 497,946 361,992
Costs of sales of ancillary HEBHHEEKA 279,956 202,724
Cost of sales SHE KR 3,666,842 3,906,318
Raw Milk Business BEHIET

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales TEREIVNRAIRFEERNESERBDALEE
of the raw milk business before raw milk fair value adjustments for  FIEERTHYIEE R ARIBF 4R -
the years indicated:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T % AREFTT %

Direct Materials BEEMH 1,673,947 72.0% 1,996,813 75.4%

Labor Costs B TR 143,675 6.2% 141,027 5.3%

Overhead costs BEEIPEN 273,906 11.7% 283,228 10.7%
Depreciation of property, plant and  ¥¥ - = M RETE

equipment 122,476 5.3% 116,928 4.4%

Transportation fees Ei B 110,852 4.8% 109,562 4.2%

Total &5t 2,324,856 100.0% 2,647,558 100.0%
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During the Reporting Year, direct materials (mainly from silage,
forage grass, corn and soy-bean products) costs of raw milk
business amounted to RMB1,673.9 million (2023: RMB1,996.8
million), representing a YoY decrease of 16.2%, mainly due to the
decrease in the number of milkable cows and the decrease in the
feeding cost.

Beef Cattle Business

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales of
the beef cattle business before beef cattle fair value adjustments
for the years indicated:

RREFE  BERNEBSHNEEMR(EFERE
B ME - FRRZER) KA ABARK1,673.98
BT (20234 : AR¥1,996.85&7T) © R B
16.2% « TEHRKEFHER D RABKANTEF
FrEg -

RIF

TREIRARFEAFTEBEAT AN EEAE
AR SHEE A ROBAAR

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T % AREFIT %

Direct Materials BNV E 456,172 81.0% 283,897 80.3%

Labor Costs and Overhead costs 8 TR K B R AR 75,635 13.5% 48,747 13.8%
Depreciation of property, plant and  ¥% - BEMREITE

equipment 31,046 5.5% 20,936 5.9%

Total A&r 562,853 100.0% 353,580 100.0%

During the Reporting Year, costs of direct materials (mainly silage, RWEFE @ WFEEBNEEMBAAN(ZEE

forage grass, corn and soy-bean products) of the beef cattle HEF - WE - FARARTE M) RARK456.28

business amounted to RMB456.2 million (2023: RMB283.9 million), &7t (2023%F : AR¥283.988T) * AR

representing a YoY increase of 60.7%, mainly due to the increase
of beef cattle sales volume and partially offset by the decrease in
the feeding cost.

60.7% * TEHRAFHEE MR D RABKA
TPEATIREH o
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Gross Profit

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and
gross profit margin of our business for the years indicated:

B W DA

E7

TREINBRMIEBZRATRFENENRENXH
i

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234

Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin
EF EFI=E EH FEH =

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®EF T
Raw milk JREH 564,084 19.5% 694,044 20.8%
Beef cattle ks (90,047) (18.1%) (3,624) (1.0%)
Ancillary Eh 16,999 5.7% 18,042 8.2%
Total A&t 491,036 13.3% 708,462 18.1%

In general, when milk prices decrease, the Group’s profitability
will decrease correspondingly under normal operational condition.

During the Reporting Year, gross profit of the Group’s raw milk
business amounted to RMB564.1 million (2023: RMB694.0 million),
representing a decrease of 18.7% YoY, which was mainly due
to the decrease in sales price of raw milk. Gross profit margin of
the Group’s raw milk business decreased to 19.5% (2023: 20.8%)
which was mainly due to lower average selling price of raw milk in
2024.

During the Reporting Year, gross loss of the Group’s beef cattle
business amounted to RMB90.0 million (2023: gross loss of
RMB3.6 million), representing an increase of 2,384.7% YoY, which
was mainly due to the decrease in selling price of beef cattle by
16.4%.

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Other Biological Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the biological assets of the Group
were valued at RMB2,905.0 million (as at 31 December 2023:
RMB3,541.0 million) by an independent qualified professional
valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, representing a decrease of 18.0% YoY, mainly due to the
decrease in cattle value.

—RmME AEENBMENEESLERATE
BEE REHDNER Y TS M AR E TR -

RREFE  ZEERMNEBNEFNABARE
564. 1B &7 (20234 : AR¥694.08E7L) ' Atk
BWM18.7% EEERHAREMIMNEE TR - K
SERMDEBHENERIE19.5% (20235 :
20.8%)  EEEEHN2024FN R TFHEE
TR o

RBEFE  AEBAFEBHTEBARE.0
BEJL(2023F : EEEBARKEI6EEL) @ FALLE
£2,384.7%  EX ERARNFEETE16.4%FT
g( °

REEMEMEELAABERHEEREBENE
B

MN20245F12A31H - A"EEBENEYMEERBE LA
EREXHEMPERITEETEREREGRA
AEEAARE2,905.08 &7t (A20234F 12 A 31
H: AR%3541.0887) ' RALTME18.0% ' &
FERARAFEBERD
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Losses arising from changes in the fair value less costs to sell
of other biological assets were RMB1,260.6 million (2023: loss of
RMB667.9 million). The significant losses are mainly due to lower
raw milk price used in the assumption to derive the fair value of
biological assets.

The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk used in the valuation
process ranged from RMB2.35 to RMB2.90 and RMB1.98 to
RMB2.18 as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024,
respectively. Estimated average prices of raw milk per kg ranged
from RMB4.17 to RMB4.83 and RMB3.56 to RMB3.93 as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2024, respectively.

The estimated local market selling price of 14 months old heifers
was RMB21,800 per head and RMB20,700 per head as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2024, respectively.

The estimated culling price of milkable cows was RMB16,000 per
head and RMB13,700 per head as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2024, respectively.

The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk used in the valuation
process ranged from RMB2.27 to RMB3.06 and RMB2.35 to
RMB2.90 as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023,
respectively. Estimated average prices of raw milk per kg ranged
from RMB4.49 to RMB5.21 and RMB4.17 to RMB4.83 as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2023, respectively.

The estimated local market selling price of 14 months old heifers
was RMB21,800 per head and RMB21,800 per head as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2023, respectively.

The estimated culling price of milkable cows was RMB16,000 per
head and RMB16,000 per head as at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2023, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a lower average
selling price of raw milk, a lower estimated local market selling
price of 14 months old heifers and coupled with a lower estimated
culling price of milkable cows, contributed to the higher amount of
fair value losses recorded for the Reporting Year.

REEMEMEERNABERMMBESKANEENE
BAARY1,260.6 58T (2023F : BHEARK
667.9EBIL) BEABREBNIEHNEEEMEE
ARBENRETFERT EENERRDER -

M 202312 A31H K2024%12A318 » WM&
BEAPRANEG TR RN T SRR BN
TARKE2IBLEARE2.90TEARKE1.98LE
AR#2187T - B 2023% 12 F31H k20244124
318 STREREMNHEFFHESI N TAR
417 T2 AREA48ITRAREI S6TLE AR
3.937C °

R2023F 12 831 H M 2024128318 » 141@A
AERTHNHAEHTHEEELNABEARE
21,8007t & & 88 AR #20,7007T °

R 2023F 12 A31 B %2024 12 318 - BH4EH
HEERER DR ATEARE 16,000t X FEA
R#13,7007T °

R2022F 12 A31 8 &2023F 12 A31H » WA
BEFHANS TR ER DG AR RS BN
FARE227T 2 ARB3.06 TR ARKE2.3570E
ARB2.907T ° 182022912 A31H & 2023F 124
31H  ETREREMNOEAFHEEININFAR
BA49TTEARES 21T RARBEAAITTEARY
4.837C °

R2022512 A31 A & 2023F12A31H - 1418 A
RKERFNEHAEHTMBEEES N ATHEARE
21,8007t k& 8E AR 21,8007T ©

MR2022F12 A31 B &2023FE 12 A318 » fIh4H)
FHEHAKEBRE DR AFE AR 16,000 T M FIEA
R #16,0007T ©

HE2024F12A31BIEFE RN FEHEE
BRAX - 14 ARBERF MG EHTMISEERIE -
mzRNF R EFHARERRE  EBEREFEH
SRR EBERIEEM -
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Other Income and Gains

During the Reporting Year, other income amounted to RMB67.0
million (2023: RMB94.7 million) which mainly consisted of
government grants, insurance claims, material sales, technical
service fees and gain on modification of leases. The lower amount
recorded in 2024 was mainly due to the decreases in gain from
modification of lease term by RMB21.1 million and the technical
service fee by RMB13.5 million, while the insurance claims
increased by RMB10.2 million.

Other Expenses

During the Reporting Year, other expenses amounted to RMB15.6
million (2023: RMB10.8 million), representing an increase of 44.2%
YoY mainly due to the increase in loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment in the Reporting Year by RMB3.7 million.

Administrative Expenses

During the Reporting Year, administrative expenses amounted to
RMB231.5 million (2023: RMB225.6 million), representing a YoY
increase of 2.6%.

Research and Development Expenses

During the Reporting Year, research and development expenses
amounted to RMB13.6 million (2023: Nil), it's generated by the
feed mill. The research and development expense mainly included
the direct labor cost, direct input cost including raw materials and
energy-related expenses, deprecation and amortization expenses,
and other related expenses.

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a higher finance
cost which amounted to RMB282.3 million, representing a YoY
increase of 5.0%. The increase in overall finance cost was
mainly due to higher amount of average bank borrowings for the
Reporting Year as a result of additional drawdown in working

capital loans.

BERENWED

H A K W 28

RREFE - HaBA (EZEREBRAHE - RBXR
B MEHEE - BRWRBEREREERRZ) BA
R#67.0E8 87T (2023F : ARMUMATHETL) -
2024 F 5 E XA © BE 0 = B i PME B FE UGS R
DARBEAAABELREMREERD AREK13.5
BETT MRERBIEMAREI102H5ET

Hitpixx

RBFEFE - HiAZAARB15.6 BE T (2023
F: ARME1088E) - AHIEM44.2% - £EH
REREREAN L EWE - BE RRENEHIELL N
AREITHET °

TR

R|EFE  THAZAAREE231.58& 7T (2023
F: ARW2256EETL) @ [AILIEN2.6% °

WrEmx<

RIREFE - ARBMEENHERIRARK13.6
BET(2023F : &) - AEHITEBRFEEES
TARAE - BEEREARE (BIEREMF 5L IRHE 5
) ERBIHEFAX REMAERMAS -

& KA

RBEFE  AEEFSESNRERAINAARE
282.3BEIT BTN T5.0% - EEERE ARG
MEZRANAREFERITFHERSELEN
REZREIMER T EEESER °
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Loss before Tax and Loss Attributable to Owners of the
Company

Loss before tax was RMB1,250.5 million in the Reporting Year
(2023: RMB470.0 million). Loss attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to RMB1,269.3 million during the Reporting
Year (2023: RMB488.8 million). This was mainly due to:

a)

A decrease in gross profit of the Group’s business to
RMB491.0 million (2023: RMB708.5 million), representing
a decrease of 30.7% or RMB217.5 million. The drop in
gross profit is mainly due to lower average selling price of
raw milk incurred for the Group’s raw milk and beef cattle
businesses. Average selling price of raw milk decreased
by 17.0% YoY to RMB3,541/ton during the Reporting Year
(2023: RMB4,268/ton). Average selling price of beef cattle
decreased by 16.4% YoY to RMB25,648/ton during the
Reporting Year (2023: RMB30,670/ton).

During the Reporting Year, the average feed cost per
kilogram of raw milk decreased to RMB1.96 (2023:
RMB2.42), representing a decrease of 19.0%.

Higher losses arising from changes in fair value less costs
to sell of other biological assets. The Group recorded
a loss of RMB1,260.6 million (2023: loss of RMB667.9
million), representing an increase of RMB592.7 million. The
Group measures its biological assets by referencing to
the market prices of certain key assumptions such as milk
price and feed cost. Owing to the continuing decrease in
average milk selling price, resulting in lower valuation of
the Group’s biological asset.

During the Reporting Year, basic and diluted loss per share of the
Company (the “Share”) was RMB1.81 (2023: RMBO0.70 loss per

Share).

BAIBERADFREE ARGER

WREFEMNHABEAARE1,25058&7T (2023
F: ARMBA4700BET) - RMEFE - ZRAHE
EAELBEAARKE1,269.3HET (20234 © A
R#¥4888HEL) c TEEZMN :

a) AEEBEBHNEFNTREARE491.088
JC (20234 : AR¥E7085EET) @ %
T30.7%HXARE2175H5ET °» EFITRE
DEZHRASENRBDREAFEBE
EHRBDEFHEERE  RFEFE
REHEFHEEBRL THR17.0%E2AR
#3541, (20234 : AR¥A4, 2687
WE) - RREFE  AFNFEHEBRLT
[£16.4% % ARE25,648 7T/ E (20234 :
AR30,6707T ME) °

RFEFE  S5TREMDOFHHERK A
TREEAR1.967T (2023F : ARM2.42
JC) 0 TF19.0% °

b) HAEMEEMNRAABERBEXNAEEE
BE BRI - ANEESEEARKE1,260.6
BET(2023F  BHEAR®KG667.98 8
TC)  EINT ARBE27THEET c ALES
EZETIBERE (FIMAPER LR A)
MMEBTEEMEENMISER - ARG
MEOFHEETE TR  BRAEBEME
EMGERK -

RBEFE AR ER (R ) ERARESE
BAARE1.817T(20234F : FREBAREO0.70
JT) °
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Cash EBITDA (Non-IFRS Financial Measure)

We define Cash EBITDA as loss for the year excluding (i)
finance costs, (ii) interest income, (iii) income tax expense, (iv)
depreciation and amortisation, (v) losses arising from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of other biological assets, (vi) foreign
exchange difference, (vii) impairment losses on financial assets,
and (viii) share-based payment expenses.

During the Reporting Year, Cash EBITDA has decreased to
RMB513.3 million (2023: RMB761.1 million) which represents a
drop of 32.6%. The drop in Cash EBITDA during the Reporting
Year is mainly attributable to decrease in overall gross profit by
30.7% during the Reporting Year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the Reporting Year, the Group funded its cash
requirements principally through a combination of cash generated
from operating activities and bank borrowings.

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the years
indicated:

B W DA

B EEBITDA GE(EIBRMBHREER) MBKFHE
ER)

HMBIESEBITDATE AFAEIE » TRIEHME
AR~ (iDFIBURA - (D) ATS TS « (iv)I7 8
8 (v >X§ﬁ@$m§%@ﬁﬁ@mﬁ%m$“
BIETIE ~ (VI)IMNEZE - (vii) @ REERERE -
(viil) ARG 1D AR -

NBEFE - WELEBITDAR A EARKES13.30E

JC(2023F : ARM761.1HET) 4 32.6% -
RBREFEMNIRNESEBITDA TR EERREREFE
KRB EFFL30.7% ©

RBERELER

RBEFE $EI‘IE‘ BB A ,@
ReRRITERSERS

fin

TREFIBRFIRPIRFERNIRSIR

2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Net cash flows from operating activities KEESEENRESREFHE 813,551 183,960
Net cash flows used in investing activities ~ HE/EEBARESREF5E (561,032) (1,220,102)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing mEES (FTA),/ IEmEs e Fa
activities (244,700) 910,754
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRBSEBYEM,CRD) FE
cash equivalents 7,819 (125,388)
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes,  YMEMERE B EFE
net 103 1,441
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning F#3E & MRS EEY
of the year 273,999 397,946
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRESRBECSED
of the year 281,921 273,999
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Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows from operating
activities was RMB813.6 million, which was mainly attributable to
loss before tax for the year of RMB1,250.5 million, adjusted for
(i) depreciation of property, plant and equipment of RMB184.1
million, which was a non-cash item; (ii) net loss from changes in
fair value of biological assets of RMB1,350.7 million, which was
a non-cash item; (iii) finance costs of RMB282.3 million that was
accounted for as cash used in financing activities; (iv) decrease
in trade payables and other payables and accruals of RMB55.3
million.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash flows from
operating activities was RMB184.0 million, which was mainly
attributable to loss before tax for the year of RMB470.0 million,
adjusted for (i) depreciation of property, plant and equipment of
RMB164.4 million, which was a non-cash item; (ii) net loss from
changes in fair value of biological assets of RMB671.5 million,
which was a non-cash item; (iii) finance costs of RMB268.9 million
that was accounted for as cash used in financing activities; (iv)
decrease in trade payables and other payables and accruals of
RMB415.9 million.

Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows used in investing
activities was RMB561.0 million, which was mainly attributable
to (i) payments for biological assets of RMB803.5 million and
(i) payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment
of RMB139.7 million, partially offset by the proceeds from the
disposal of biological assets of RMB377.2 million.

REFDELENRESREFHE

RBEFE  KEFHELANBESREFEAAR
#g13.6BET TERERFAKRMAIBEEAR
#1250 6 EHETL WA THEBELAZ : (D
¥ BMEARBHNEARKI1841EBET (AR
SHEE)  (IVEVEEAABEEGHFRIEAR
#1,350.7EB B (RIEBLEE) : (i) BEKEA
R¥so823EETL  ARIIEREETSHMARSE ¢
(iV)FERTFIE - EtENRIEREIERE RO ARE
55.3B& T °

HE2023F12A31HIEFE K& FHEENR
CREFEAARBISI0BEET  FEEENERN
BRATE B ARKA470.0B 8T WA TEEBE
LHE (V% BELREBETEARK164.488
T (AFBLER)  (VEVEEAABEZSEIE
FRARE67T1 588 (RIFRESIER) : (ii)FHE
RAARE268.9E BT - ABRVIEREEZEFTAR
€ (iv)ER R - EfEMREREEERDA

i —

R¥E4159B8ETT -

REFHFMARSREFH

RBEFE  REZHMABESREFEAAR
H561.0BB T TEREB()VEMEENRARE
803 5EBTTR(INEEME  BERREBENIAR
¥139.7E &L BN WEEEMEEMGHIEAR
W377 2B E LA o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash flows used in
investing activities was RMB1,220.1 million, which was mainly
attributable to (i) payments for biological assets of RMB1,291.3
million and (ii) payments for purchases of property, plant and
equipment of RMB523.9 million, partially offset by the proceeds
from the disposal of biological assets of RMB582.6 million.

Net Cash Flows (Used in)/Generated from Financing
Activities

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows used in financing
activities was RMB244.7 million which was mainly attributable to
(i) repayment of interest-bearing bank borrowings of RMB3,125.2
million, (ii) principal portion of lease payments of RMB121.9
million, and (iii) interest paid of RMB202.7 million, partially offset
by the new interest-bearing bank borrowings of RMB3,206.2
million.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash flows generated
from financing activities was RMB910.8 million which was
mainly attributable to new interest-bearing bank borrowings
of RMB3,196.7 million, partially offset by (i) repayment of
interest-bearing bank borrowings of RMB1,948.7 million, (ii)
principal portion of lease payments of RMB148.0 million, and (iii)
interest paid of RMB185.4 million.

BERENWED

HZE2023F12A31BIEFE  REEHMARS
REFBEAARB12201B8T TEXRANED
BEMNRARE1201.3EETLLNVBEDE - K
EREBEMNFARKES239HE T SBoWHEELEY
BEMBSHEARES82.6F S AT -

BMEED (A MENRERERHE

RBEFE  BEZPTARERSFEAARE
2447TEBT  TEBAER)EEFERITERA
R#3,125.28 870 ' (IVHENZOAREHES AR
12198 &ET 0 RIS HFBARKE202.7E8E
TC BB IR BIR1TERARKES,206. 258 T
Frig sy -

HZE2023F12A31HILFE F gEETMBERE
REFEAARBII0SEHE  EEHEEMNIIGT
BIRTTIER AR 196.7HETT © BOW()EEST
BIRITHEIARE1 048 7AET @ (VRENKHAK
SEHOARKE148.085E T - R(INEFNFIEARE
185.4E B ILATHKEE o
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Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings

FTERITER

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

2024%12H31H 202312 A31H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BERFE(%) FBMA  AR®TR ERFIE%) IR ARETR
Current L
Bank loans - secured FITER — FHEF 3.90-4.80 2025 2,031,410 4.00-4.80 2024 1,560,212
Current portion of long-term KHIRTEZENEIL 5
bank loans - secured - FiEH 3.30-9.56 2025 431,085 3.40-8.86 2024 456,201
2,462,495 2,016,413
Non-current FEEN A
Bank loans - secured RITEFH — B 3.30-9.56  2026-2028 1,035,897 3.40-8.86  2025-2028 1,383,910
3,498,392 3,400,323
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Analysed into: ST
Bank loans: RITEF
Within one year or on demand —F AR ER 2,462,495 2.016,413
In the second year F-F 461,863 523,680
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-FEZLF (REERMTF) 574,034 860,230
3,498,392 3,400,323
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Contingent Liabilities and Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2024, some of the Group’s bank loans and
other borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s
assets.

(i) As at 31 December 2024, deposits of RMB15,000 were
pledged to banks to secure bank borrowings granted to
the Group (31 December 2023: RMB4,000);

(i) As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of
RMB277,019,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB310,033,000);

(iii) As at 31 December 2024, inventories of RMB1,026,713,000
were pledged to banks to secure certain bank
borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB1,045,701,000);

(iv) As at 31 December 2024, property, plant and equipment of
RMB509,805,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB659,456,000);

(v) As at 31 December 2024, biological assets of
RMB3,324,174,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2023: RMB3,684,156,000);

(vi) As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets of
RMB12,858,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB13,134,000);

(vii)  As at 31 December 2024, shares of a subsidiary of
RMB562,000,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB562,000,000);

(viii)  As at 31 December 2024, investments in certain
subsidiaries of RMB1,517,996,000 were pledged to banks
to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2023: RMB1,517,996,000); and

(ix) As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s bank
loans amounting to RMB3,476,940,000 were guaranteed
by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group (31
December 2023: RMB3,236,561,000).
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REREREEEN

R2024F12831H » AEBENETRTERLE
IS FARE B M E E RS R ER IR o

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viil)

(ix)

R2024F12H318 » FRARE15,0007T
(2023128318 : AR¥4,000T) 2K
WFIRIT - LIS ARAREAEBEZEIR

THE

MN2024F 128318 ERZEARKE
277,019,0007t (2023F 12 A31H : AR
310,033,000 T) BEHEMFTRIT - ERAEHE
A TIRITERAER

N2024F12A31H  HEARM
1,026,713,0007C (20234 12 A31H : AR
#1,045,701,00070) B3| T IR1T - tEAXR
SEERETRITEROER

K2024F 128310 * % - BERZHEA
K #509,805,0007T (2023412 HA31H : A
R¥659,456,0007) BEEIFFIRIT - EAAE
EEERE TRITEROER

R2024%F 128318 £WEEARE
3,324,174,0007C (2023412 A31H : AR
#£3,684,156,0007T) B3| T #R1T « tEAXR
SEERETRITHEROER

M2024F12A31H - FAEEEARKE
12,858,0007T (2023F 12431 H : ARM
13,134,0007T) EHEIF T RT - IFERALREE
BB TIRITERAOER

R2024F12A318 » —KHWERRKGD
FR#562,000,0007T (2023F 12 A31H : A
R#562,000,0007T) B FIRTT - fEAAR
EEERE TIRITEROER

R2024F12A31H @ EFHBRATEREA
R#1,517,996,0007T (2023F 124318 :
AR#1,517,996,0007T) EHEIFFIRTT - 1E
BREEERS TRITEROER &

R20245 128310 - AEEETRITER
ANR¥3,476,940,0007T (20234 12 A 31
B AR%3,236,561,0007T) B A MA
EEHETH B RARMEER -

37



38

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE W DA

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023.

The bank borrowings are denominated in following currencies:

Mr A FRFTHFEE I - R2024F 12 A31H k2023

F12A310  AEETEFAEASEEE -

RITEFATINEEHE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

128318 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBET T

UsD EI 206,004 256,925
RMB AR 3,292,388 3,143,398
3,498,392 3,400,323

Loan agreements with covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
20 September 2024, on 18 September 2024, the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, Pure Source Dairy Farm Co., Ltd.,
entered into a RMB440 million facility agreement with certain
financial institutions for the purpose of (i) refinancing an existing
facility of RMB170 million; and (ii) providing an additional working
capital facility of RMB270 million. The term of the facilities
provided under this facility agreement is two years from the date
of the facility agreement with an option to extend for a further two
years, which is subject to financial institutions’ sole discretion.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 24
February 2025, on 24 February 2025, the Company entered into
a USD25 million facility agreement with a financial institution for
the purpose of providing working capital for the Group. The term
of the facility provided under this facility agreement is six months
from the date of the first drawdown of the facility agreement with
an option to extend for a further three months, which is subject to
the financial institution’s sole discretion.

The above-mentioned facility agreements include, among others,
as events of default the following change of control relating to the
Controlling Shareholders of the Company:

MEERRREBEEBNETEAZAONNER
E

ZIRMAANFTBEA2024F920AAE » B
20249 A 188 + ARAMEEWE R 7RIS
ERAFHEETSRMEEIT LARE440EE TN
BmERZE BNR>)AEEREAMEARKE70
BET RINRBHEICEECREARKE2708
B RERERZRHEANBRENARABRE R
HEOAEREEHRT  WAREFERMT - ZCEHH
SRIEIE 2 REBIERTE -

ZARM A AR B EA2025FE 2 24 AE -
2025F2H 248 » RRRIE—RKe @B L —I18
DSEBELMNRBER®  ALEERMHEEES -
BEZAEHRIEHORENTARAERERZES
IR E IR AEA  WAREFBER=@A -
ZIEERZE RSB S ERIERE

FlBEGFEERE (R ak) AT EAR R
RAMOZEHRESIERENSTM
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The Controlling Shareholders of the Company and certain other
persons (taken as a group) ceasing to:

(1) own at least 30 percent (whether owned directly or
indirectly) of the issued share capital in the Company and/
or be the single largest shareholder of the Company; or

(2) have (a) the de facto ability to direct the affairs of the
Company and (b) the de facto right to determine the
composition of the Board, in each case, except with
prior written consent of the facility agents (acting on the
instructions of the financial institutions and such consent
not to be unreasonably withheld).

As at the date of this annual report, the aggregate amount of
loan facilities of the Group that may be affected by a breach of
covenants tied to the Controlling Shareholders of the Company
is approximately USD511 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB3,676 million).

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Controlling
Shareholders of the Company has an interest, directly or indirectly,
in the above transaction, save through their shareholdings (if any)
in the Company.

B W DA

RRABHERBREETEMAL (EA—EEE) T

B

(1)

BAE (THhEaERBERE) AAREBITR
KOEDL30% K,/ RAEKRARE —FKK
17

BB ()EEARRBEHENERES F(b)R
TESFSHERNEREN  ESEBRT
BRIFELERBRERENEEARE (RME
CREBOHESITFEZABREEIZE
)

RAFHRBEH  AEBEAERERANR R BIERK
REBNROMZINFENE AR E LB /511
BEXT(HEROARKEI676ESET) °

B BRI - ARREFRIERAR R AN Lt
RpPERIEREE D HEBRENARA
B (20 F) BEA BIBRSN o
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Capital Management

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt
divided by capital. Debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings
and lease liabilities. Capital includes equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of each reporting
year were as follows:

BEXEHE
FEBERERBEL X (EBRAER) BEEE
K BERHBEASRTERNEEERE - EABE
BREAGEEARGRERZ - RIBEFERNELE
BEEEET

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024F 20234

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 3,498,392 3,400,323
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,441,039 1,505,227
Debt &% 4,939,431 4,905,550
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BARHEE AEILER 3,807,512 5,075,666
Gearing ratio BEAXRBELE 130% 97%

Material Litigation

In April 2023, Shanghai AustAsia Food Co., Ltd. (F/&RER
R A 7\], hereafter referred to as “Shanghai AustAsia”) applied for
a preservation order against Hebei Yuanfuda Trading Group Co.,
Ltd. (b EREER EEE AR A F], hereafter referred to as “Hebei
Yuanfuda”) for failure to pay RMB7,223,812.5 for milk products
supplied to Hebi Yuanfuda under its procurement contract with
Shanghai AustAsia. The People’s Court of Lianchi District, Baoding
City ruled by the Second Instance Civil Judgment (Ji 0606, Min
Chu No. 5524 [2023]) to defer Shanghai AustAsia’s application
until after criminal charges against Hebi Yuanfuda have been
resolved. On 8 December 2023, Shanghai AustAsia appealed
against this decision and was ruled against by the Intermediate
People’s Court of Baoding City ({fREMHHRARZET). Shanghai
AustAsia will continue to seek recovery from Hebei Yuanfuda
once the criminal proceedings against Hebei Yuanfuda have been
completed.

Save as disclosed above, the Company was not involved in other
material litigation or arbitration during the Reporting Year. The
Directors are not aware of other material litigation or claims that
are pending or threatened against the Group for the Reporting
Year.

EPAETEN

M2023F 48 - LERERMAER AR (A TEHE
[EERE DTt ERERESEBEABR LA (MU
TR EEE]) R RIEESR R
MRBEORATILEREHENIELRINE
HARMET 223, 812 5 wet ¥t B i@E R E
Re2< REMBHEARZIRE -_BREH R (X
0606 - R#5E5524[2023]5%) 15 /8 R Y B 55

EEETILERENMEEERAEEIRE - 12023
F12A88 + EEBRERZIRIEL EF - BHRKR
EMHRREARERE T BESF R - ML EREER
FIEFD— LR - GRS EE R EREE

BRIER -

BREXPREEI  RBEFE » AARRFRE
MERFRRME - BEEMM  REFERNEH
It H RSB ARRKEEBRHENERFLRLRE -
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Company did not conduct any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the
Reporting Year.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk principally mainly
relates to the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China and
Singapore where some of the transactions are denominated in
USD and Singapore Dollars (“SGD”). In addition, the group has
a USD10.0 million working capital loan and USD19.0 million term
loan outstanding as at 31 December 2024.

Though the fluctuations in the exchange rates could affect the
Group’s results of operations, the exposure to foreign currency
was immaterial to the Group’s size of operation, in the opinion
of management, the Group does not face any significant foreign
currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. The management of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely and will consider hedging any significant foreign
exchange exposure should the needs arise.

Employees

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate
talented employees. To this end, as part of our human resource
strategy, we are committed to building the most competitive talent
team in our industry. We primarily recruit our employees through
on-campus job fairs, recruitment agencies and online channels.
We provide regular training and guidance to our employees to
continuously upgrade their skills in line with the industry trends
and enhance their performance. Therefore, we can attract and
retain talented employees and maintain a stable core management
and technical team.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of employees of the
Group was 2,671 (as at 31 December 2023: 2,620). The total
employee remuneration expenses (including Directors and chief
executive's remuneration, pension scheme contributions and
share-based payments expenses) for the Reporting Year were
approximately RMB380.49 million (2023: RMB386.29 million),
representing a decrease of 1.5% YoY.
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=
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STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

Both the Chinese economy and the dairy industry in China
continue to face great difficulties. However, we are confident
that the long-term prospects of both consumer markets and dairy
products are promising. We believe we are close to the end of this
major economic downturn.

Our vision is to become one of the TOP 3 dairy farm operators
in the world in terms of OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY and
ECO-SUSTAINABILITY. We focus on creating long-term value for
our stakeholders in a responsible and sustainable way. To achieve
our vision, we intend to pursue a comprehensive strategy focusing
on the following:

Continue to improve our operating efficiency and diversify
our customer base

We expect that there will be a significant number of small to
mid-size and less efficient dairy farms made redundant because
of this round of supply side consolidation. Large-scale, highly
efficient farm operators like us will come through and hold better
competitive positions afterwards. We anticipate that the raw milk
market will restore its supply and demand equilibrium in the
second half of 2025. In view of the current unfavorable situation,
instead of making immediate investment, we have reserved a
land site for the future development of Pure Source Farm 4 in our
portfolio to prepare for longer-term capacity growth. On the other
hand, we will also extend our reach to potential new customers
who are located near our farms and further diversify our customer
base and increase the number of our raw milk customers.

BN RE

PEEERIERITENEBRERKE - A -
MRBBET S MIAARRNOEBAREAL - RMHE
5 HAEEOIESEAKERENER -
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Upgrade our beef cattle business to premium markets

Though China has become the second largest nation in beef
consumption, on per capital basis, it is significantly lower than all
developed countries and some of the developing countries. We
believe there is great potential for consumption growth in China as
consumer appetite continues to evolve and consumption catches
up with other developed and developing countries.

We expect that the demand for high quality beef, especially
premium beef products, such as Wagyu beef, will grow
significantly. Going forward, we plan to upgrade our beef cattle
herd structure from the current Holstein breed to Wagyu and
Angus. We will continue to ramp up our in-house Wagyu heifer
selection program and to reach scalable operation. We will
also continue to perform Wagyu IVF embryo production and
transplantation. We will further diversify our customer base and
start our own down-stream beef brands to solidify our position as
a quality and premium beef cattle supplier to make this business
more resilient and profitable.

Enhance in-house integration through genetic breeding
technology and feed mill operation to further improve our
operational efficiency

Animal breeding and genetics provide an essential foundation
for our dairy farming and beef farming operations to be efficient.
Advancements in genetic technology can increase productivity,
lower disease and mortality rates, as well as lengthen the lifespans
of dairy cows and beef cattle. We will continue to implement
genomic testing and in vitro embryo production technology
to rapidly build a core herd of cattle with desired genes and
genetic traits, thereby increasing our production capacity and
accelerating the genetic improvement of our existing dairy cows
and beef cattle. With the support of these new technologies, we
expect that our farms will achieve higher operational efficiency,
larger production capacity and better product quality.

Our in-house pre-mix feed mill will continue to improve feed
quality and help us control feed costs.
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Build a sustainable business

Sustainable development has never been an option, but a
necessary pathway towards our future development. Through
years of learning and training, we have successfully embedded
ESG concepts into daily operations, ways of thinking and long-
term planning.

Guided by our vision, we have established an effective
governance structure to ensure sustainability in our business. Our
ESG Committee, ESG Management Committee and Sustainability
Department have been working closely and effectively in
managing daily and long-term ESG matters.

Followings are our ESG progress up-to-date:

° We are able to manage the calculation of GHG emissions
and drafting of ESG report with internal resources only.
Furthermore, we have developed an in-house system with
over 90 worksheets to consolidate, monitor and analyse
ESG related information on a regular basis;

o With in-depth knowledge on the impact of different farming
operations on GHG emissions, we have set ambitious
emissions reduction targets. We are committed to reduce
the GHG emissions (scope 1 & 2) per ton of fat and protein
corrected milk (“FPCM”) produced by 10%, 28% and
40% by 2025, 2030 and 2035 respectively. In 2024, we
met the reduction targets successfully and decreased the
emissions to 0.81 tCO.e/t FPCM, representing a drop by
approximately 9.00% as compared to the 2022 baseline;

. In 2024, as one of the pioneers, we used an automated
system to monitor enteric methane emission from cattle.
The on-site measurement can significantly improve the
accuracy of emission data. Meanwhile, the analysis of
measured data can assist us in identifying emission
patterns of cattle under different growing stages and
feeding conditions, which allows us to design more
accurate emission reduction program.

° We are going to disclosure scope 3 from 2024 ESG report
onwards to reflect a more comprehensive GHG emissions
from value chain activities associated with our business;
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° 4 of our farms are equipped with biogas or photovoltaic
power generation facilities and around 33 million kWh
green electricity was generated in 2024;

° All of our 11 dairy farms are certified with the Safe Quality
Food (“SQF”); and

° We actively work with financial institutions and have signed
sustainability-linked loans totalling CNY2.09 billion with
ESG targets set to reduce environmental impacts and to
improve animal welfare.

Actions for 2025

Though we look forward to a positive shift in the consumer markets
in the second half year, we will still focus on taking actions to
further improve milk yield and to enhance efficiency. On one
hand, we will make relentless efforts to develop new customers
and expand our customer base. On the other hand, we will
continue to take effective measures to lower our feed costs like
what we have been doing since 2023. To enhance our advanced
position in genetics and breeding, we will continue to strengthen
the operation of IVF laboratory and Wagyu heifer selection, as well
as Wagyu IVF productions and transplantations.

For 2025, we target to reach a higher level of milk yield than
2024, which will continue to keep us in the unchallenged leading
position in China. We will also complete the upgrade of beef cattle
herd structure from Holstein to Wagyu and Angus. Moreover, our
feed mill will significantly increase its sales volume to 3rd party
farms.

We believe 2025 is an important year for our longer-term growth,
and we will become stronger once this industrial downturn comes
to an end.

BERENWED
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EEGHRES

The Board is pleased to present this report of the Directors
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company has two main business segments, namely raw milk
business and beef cattle business. The Company is also engaged
in ancillary businesses, namely the sales of milk products under
“RIHIS AustAsia”, and the production of feed.
The integrated farming model includes (i) dairy cow breeding

our own brand

and farming, raw milk production, and sales of raw milk, (ii) beef
cattle breeding and farming, and sales of beef cattle, and (iii)
production and sales of feed.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated financial statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A general review of the business of the Group and a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
These discussions form part of this report of the Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Yong Nang (Executive Chairman)
Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YANG Ku (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. GAO Lina

Mr. Tamotsu MATSUI (appointed on 5 June 2024)
Ms. Gabriella SANTOSA

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki (retired on 5 June 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. SUN Patrick
Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter
Mr. LI Shengli

Pursuant to Regulation 34.1 of the Constitution, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation.
Provided That every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three (3) years.
Regulation 34.2 of the Constitution provides that the Directors to
retire in every year shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain
the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who
wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further
Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject
to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election.

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki, appointed on 3 July 2020 as a Non-
executive Director, retired and ceased to be a member of the
Audit Committee on 5 June 2024. Mr. Tamotsu MATSUI has been
appointed as a Non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee on 5 June 2024.
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Mr. Edgar Dowse Collins, Mr. Patrick Sun and Ms. Gao Lina
(collectively the “Retiring Directors”) will retire by rotation at the
coming AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-

election at the coming AGM.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of some major risks and
uncertainties involved in the Group’s operations:

° The business and financial results are sensitive to market
prices of raw milk and beef cattle;

o Fluctuations in market prices of raw materials, as well as
any disruptions in the supply of raw materials, could have
a material adverse effect on financial condition and results
of operations;

. The quality of our raw milk and the milk yield are influenced
by a number of factors, some of which are not fully within
our control;

o Fair value adjustments to our biological assets are subject

to a number of assumptions which involve unobservable
inputs and can adversely affect our results of operations;

. We face significant competition in our businesses and may
not be able to compete successfully against our existing
competitors and future market entrants;

. Changes in our relationships with our major customers,
or in our commercial terms with these customers, may
adversely affect our business and results of operations;

o Any major outbreak of diseases at our farms, at
neighbouring farms or attributed to livestock generally,
could significantly affect our production, supply, and
demand for our products;
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° Any actual or perceived food safety issue or product
contamination related to our products, or the dairy or beef
industry generally could harm our reputation, financial
condition and results of operations, and subject us to
product liability claims and regulatory actions;

° We may not be able to sustain our historical growth rates,
and our historical performance may not be indicative of our
future growth or financial results;

° We are subject to risks associated with managing future
growth and expansion;

o The future growth of our business partly depends on the
quality and supply of heifers and bovine semen; and

° Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may lead
to volatility in our reported results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

In 2024, we launched several ESG projects, including on-
site measurement and analysis of GHG emissions from
cattle, promotion and utilisation of green energy, calculation
and disclosure of GHG emissions scope 3, and signing of
sustainability-linked loans. While improving our own ESG work,
we actively participate in the formulation of industry standards
and share success stories and experiences at seminars so as to
promote the sustainable development of the industry.

More details will be disclosed in our ESG report which will be
published together with the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024. An electronic form of our ESG report is available
for viewing and downloading on the Company’s (“Financial
Statements & ESG” under “Disclosures” of the “Investors” section
of www.austasiadairy.com) and HKEX’s (www.hkexnews.hk)
websites.
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LEGAL PROCEEDING AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to legal proceedings, investigations and
claims incidental to the conduct of our business from time to
time. No member of the Group had been involved in any actual or
pending legal, arbitration or administrative proceedings (including
any bankruptcy or receivership proceedings) that the Company
believe would have a material adverse effect on the business,
results of operations, financial condition or reputation and
compliance, as a whole, during the year of 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed below or elsewhere in the annual report,
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group had complied with the laws in all
material respects, including the requirements under the Singapore
Companies Act 1967, the Listing Rules, SFO and the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for, among other
things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance.

Late announcement of Connected Transaction

On 27 March 2024, the Company released an announcement
on a Connected Transaction on entry of loan agreement by PRC
subsidiary to Executive Director, YANG Ku on 27 March 2024.
The loan was in connection of tax paid by the PRC subsidiary on
behalf of YANG Ku in 2023 constituted a connected transaction
of the Company which was exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Listing Rule 14A.76(2) but was subject
to the announcement requirement under Listing Rule 14A.35.

KEY RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its stakeholders, including Shareholders,
employees, suppliers, business partners are key to the
Group success. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.
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Suppliers

The suppliers of the Company are categorised into (i) suppliers of
feed and feed additives and (ii) other suppliers (such as suppliers
of farming equipment, veterinary medicines, vaccines, frozen
semen and packaging service). Feed and feed additives account
for a large portion of the Company’s procurement. The Company
provides the feed and feed additives suppliers with detailed
formulations for optimal nutrition for cattle health and milk yield,
and purchase these from eligible suppliers to feed dairy cows and
beef cattle of the Company.

The top five suppliers and the largest supplier for the year ended
31 December 2024 accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
total trade purchases from continuing operations respectively.

Customers

The Company has a well-diversified customer base. Our
customers in the raw milk business include leading national and
regional dairy product manufacturers.

The sales to top five customers and the largest customer for the
year ended 31 December 2024 accounted for approximately
58.1% and 25.7% of our total revenue from continuing operations
respectively.

Other than Mr. Tamotsu MATSUI, a nominee Director of Meiji
(China) Investment Company Limited, a substantial shareholder of
Company, none of the Directors, their respective close associates,
or any shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued
capital, has any material interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers.
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Save as disclosed under “Material Litigation”, during the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not experience any
significant disputes with its customers or suppliers.

AAG PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

On 8 July 2020, the Company adopted the AAG Performance
Share Plan (the “AAG PSP”), which was amended on 5 December
2022 and effective from the Listing Date. The remaining life of the
AAG PSP is about two months as at the date of this annual report.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the AAG PSP:

1. Purpose of the AAG PSP

The purpose of the AAG PSP is to (i) foster an ownership
culture within the Group which aligns the interests of the
executives and employees of the Group with the interests
of Shareholders, (ii) motivate participants to achieve key
financial and operational goals of the Company and/or its
respective business units and (iii) make total employee
remuneration sufficiently competitive to recruit and
retain staff having skills that are commensurate with the
Company’s ambition to become a world-class company.

2. Eligible Participants

Awards of Shares (“‘Awards”) may be granted to any
employee of the Group (including any executive director
of companies in the Group) subject to such employees
meeting the relevant criteria set out in the AAG PSP or
determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Board.

The AAG PSP is subject to a maximum limit of 40
participants from time to time.
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Administration of the AAG PSP

The AAG PSP is administered by the Remuneration
Committee, which shall have authority, in its discretion
to, among other things, in relation to an Award, where
applicable, determine (i) the participant; (i) the date on
which the Award should be granted; (iii) the conditions
to the Award (the “Performance Conditions”); (iv) the
period during which the Performance Conditions is to be
satisfied; (v) the number of Shares which are the subject
of the Award; (vi) the schedule for release of Awards; (vii)
the retention period; and (viii) any other condition which
the Remuneration Committee may determine in relation
to that Award. The Company shall be entitled, in its sole
discretion, prior to an Award being released, encash
such Awards to the extent the Performance Conditions
have been met or otherwise waived by the Remuneration
Committee. The Company shall in its sole discretion,
determine the fair value of such Award if it intends to
encash such Award.

The Company may appoint a professional trustee to
assist with the administration and vesting of Awards
granted pursuant to the AAG PSP. The Company may to
the extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations
and the Listing Rules direct and procure the trustee
to make on-market or off-market purchases of Shares
to satisfy the Awards upon vesting (provided that the
trustee shall abstain from voting in respect of such Shares
unless otherwise required by applicable laws to vote in
accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction and such
a direction is given). The Company shall to the extent
permitted by applicable laws and regulations provide
sufficient funds to the trustee by whatever means as the
Remuneration Committee may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration and vesting of the
Awards.
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Vesting Period of the Awards

Awards which are satisfied with the issuance of new
Shares may not vest less than 12 months from the date
the Award is granted unless otherwise determined by the
Remuneration Committee in the case of grants of Awards in
the following specific circumstances:

(1) to new joiners to replace the share awards they
forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(i) to participants whose employment is terminated
due to death, ill health, serious injury, disability
or retirement or upon the occurrence of any
event which is not within the Company nor the
participant’s control, where the release of the
Awards may accelerate based on the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee;

(iii) which would have been made earlier but for
administrative and compliance reasons and are
made in a subsequent batch, in order to put the
participants in the same position as they would have
been in had the Award been made earlier; and

(iv) where a corporate event takes place as set out in
paragraph (i) below.

Limitation on the Size of the AAG PSP

The plan mandate limit (the “Plan Mandate Limit") refers
to total number of new Shares in respect of Awards
which may be granted pursuant to the AAG PSP after the
Listing Date, being (i) 5% of the Shares in issue on the
Listing Date or (ii) 5% of the Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date.

At any time during the term, the maximum aggregate
number of new Shares which Awards may be granted
pursuant to the AAG PSP shall be calculated in accordance
with the following formula:

X=A-B
Where
X = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in

respect of which Awards may be granted pursuant to the
AAG PSP;
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A = the Plan Mandate Limit; and

B = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting of Awards
granted pursuant to the AAG PSP, which in the event that
there has been a New Approval Date, shall only include
those new Shares which may be issued upon the vesting of
Awards that have been granted since that most recent New
Approval Date.

Shares in respect of (i) Awards which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP or which have
been encashed and (ii) share grants which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the relevant share plan
or which have been encashed will not be counted for the
purpose of determining the maximum aggregate number
of new Shares in respect of Awards which may be granted
pursuant to the AAG PSP.

The Plan Mandate Limit may be renewed (a) every 3 years
subject to Shareholders’ approval; or (b) within a 3-year
period subject to Shareholders’ approval and with the
relevant persons specified in the Listing Rules abstaining
from voting on the relevant resolution and in each case,
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
In any event, the total number of new Shares in respect
of which Awards may be granted under the AAG PSP
following the date of approval of the renewed limit (the
“New Approval Date”) under the limit as renewed must not
exceed 5% of the Shares in issue as at the New Approval
Date. Shares in respect of Awards granted pursuant to
the AAG PSP or share grants made pursuant to any other
share plan (including those which are outstanding, lapsed,
vested, exercised or encashed) prior to the New Approval
Date will not be counted for the purpose of determining the
maximum aggregate number of new Shares in respect of
which Awards may be granted following the New Approval
Date under the limit as renewed. For the avoidance of
doubt, new Shares issued prior to the New Approval Date
pursuant to the vesting of Awards granted under the AAG
PSP and pursuant to the vesting or exercise of share
grants under any other share plans will be counted for the
purpose of determining the number of Shares in issue as at
the New Approval Date.
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Large Share Grants and Grants to Connected
Persons

In any 12-month period after the Listing Date, the maximum
number of new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon:

(i) the vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG
PSP; and

(i) the vesting of all share grants made under any other
share plans,

(excluding any Awards or share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP or the
relevant share plan) to any individual participants shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time being. Where
any further grant of Awards to a participant under the AAG
PSP would result in the breach of this limit, such grant
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Any Awards granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of
their respective associates) must be approved by the
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Where any grant of Awards to a Director or chief executive
of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
would result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued)
upon the:

(i) vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG PSP;
and

(i) vesting of all share grants (but excluding any share
options) made under any other share plans,

(excluding any Awards and share grants (other than share
options) lapsed or encashed in accordance with the terms
of the AAG PSP or the relevant share plan) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date on
which the Award is granted representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant of Award
under the AAG PSP shall be subject to prior approval by
the Shareholders in general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules.
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Where any grant of Awards to a substantial shareholder of
the Company (or any of his respective associates) would
result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon
the:

() vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG PSP;
and

(i) vesting or exercise of all share grants made under
any other share plans,

(excluding any Award and share grants lapsed or
encashed in accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP
or the relevant share plan) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date on which the Award is
granted representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares
in issue, such further grant of Awards under the AAG PSP
shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Term of the AAG PSP

The AAG PSP shall continue in effect for a term of five
years from 3 July 2020, provided always that the AAG PSP
may continue beyond the above stipulated period with the
approval of the Shareholders.

Right as Shareholders

Until the participant is registered on the register of
members of the Company, no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall exist
with respect to the Shares subject to an Award. Shares
when issued or transferred pursuant to an Award shall
rank in full for all entitlements, including dividends or other
distributions declared or recommended in respect of the
then existing Shares, the record date for which is on or
after the relevant issue or transfer date, and shall in all
other respects rank pari passu with other existing Shares
then in issue.
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Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalisation, Merger
or Certain Other Transactions

If a variation in the issued ordinary share capital of the
Company (whether by way of a capitalisation issue, rights
issue, subdivision or consolidation of shares or reduction of
the share capital of the Company) shall take place, then:

(i) the class and/or number of Shares which are the
subject of an Award have not yet been vested;

(i) the class and/or number of Shares in respect of
which future Awards may be granted under the AAG
PSP; and/or

(iiiy ~ the maximum aggregate number of new Shares
which may be issued in respect of Awards granted
under the AAG PSP pursuant to the plan mandate
limit, shall be adjusted in such manner as the
Committee may determine to be appropriate to
give the participant the same proportion of the
share capital of the Company as that to which such
participant were previously entitled (rounded to the
nearest whole Share), provided that no adjustment
shall be made if as a result, the participant receives
a benefit that a Shareholder does not receive. The
Committee may, notwithstanding any occurrence
of any variation in capital, determine that no
adjustment shall be made.

Unless the Committee considers an adjustment to be
appropriate, the issue of securities as consideration for
an acquisition or a private placement of securities, or the
cancellation of issued Shares purchased or acquired by
the Company during the period when a share purchase
mandate granted by Shareholders (including any renewal
of such mandate) is in force, shall not normally be
regarded as a circumstance requiring adjustment.

XM aHRETEMXZSBERNA
B

WARBDETEBRRBRAZLEEE (TH
REBENMEET - fI - RO REA G
HHIRARRIRA) - Bl :

() EEATSREOBAERIR, A #
BB

(i)  WRIBAAGEDB ORI A LR K
RAREZEHO RGOSR HBE :
&/ %

(i)  RIBFTBIRERE - HIRIBEAAGER
e fn &t BIpT IR T RE) T A BE BT &R
BHRAH  ARZEERREEN
FRTFUARE  NS2EEELRRF]
P 25 vh P = 8 B B 1) Bt T AR R) (4
EESRMINTERE) @ EH2HE
FRILEGRRRESHNE - Al
TEELRAE - EHEEEFRER
BE  ZRENAREMEH T

= .

BIZEeRRRABIBEE  BRETE
FERBBAMLARLEZEFHNHE - Tl
ARREBRRETHOERNBERE (B
RENEMEN) ERPEBESLEND
BTG BETERATERENER -



10.

Corporate Events

If before a vesting date, any of the following occurs:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

a compromise or arrangement proposed for the
purposes of, or in connection with, a scheme for the
reconstruction of the Company or its amalgamation
with another company or companies being approved
by Shareholders and/or sanctioned by the court
under the Singapore Companies Act;

an order being made or a resolution being passed
for the winding-up of the Company (other than a
winding-up of the Company on the basis or by
reason of its insolvency or for amalgamation or
reconstruction); or

in the event a take-over offer for the Shares
becomes or is declared unconditional,

the Committee will consider, at its discretion, whether or
not to release any Award, and will take into account all
circumstances on a case-by-case basis, including, but
not limited to, the contributions made by that participant.
If the Committee decides to release any Award, then in
determining the number of Shares to be vested in respect
of such Award, the Committee will have regard to the
proportion of the performance period which has elapsed
and the extent to which the Performance Conditions have

been satisfied.

10.

Annual Report 2024
ZRCNEER

Report of Directors

EEGHRES

EEEE
55 B HIAT - AT HERIER -

(i) MRARREARES —HKAZHAF
B ET B iR B M Z ik Bk
BERRRILAE K/ SR H K R R
EVEERRE

(i) MARFERIEHGSHBBRESR
(ARERENHEFKEAHREA
MHEITEDEEERIN) & 3k

(i) IR E R B R ARE R
f

ZEeMMBEZEREDEMEMER - A
RERBERAEEAERER  BRETRRZ
SEEEBNER - W8 @REHREM
B NEEEMRZEZES T RENRD R
B ZE2REECBREOMAENLIR
BRI RmRIRER -

59



60

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Report of Directors

EEGHRES

11.

Modification to the AAG PSP

Save as provided below, the Board may alter any of
the terms of the AAG PSP at any time, including but not
limited to the method by which a participant accepts
the Award and such other minor amendments to benefit
the administration of the AAG PSP, provided that such
alterations comply with the requirements of the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules, to the extent
applicable.

Any alterations to the terms and conditions of the AAG
PSP which are of a material nature or any alterations to
the specific provisions of the AAG PSP which relate to the
matters set out in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules to the
advantage of participants and changes to the authority
of the Board in relation to any alteration of the terms
of the AAG PSP, in each case, must be approved by
Shareholders in general meeting.

Any changes to the terms of Awards granted must be
approved by Board, the Committee, the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and/or the Shareholders in general
meeting (as the case may be) if the initial grant of such
Award was approved by the Board, the Committee, the
Independent Non-Executive Directors and/or Shareholders
in general meeting (as the case may be), except where
the alterations or changes take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the AAG PSP. The Committee’s
determination as to whether any proposed alteration to the
terms and conditions of the AAG PSP is material shall be
conclusive.

The amended terms and conditions of the AAG PSP and
the Awards shall comply with the Listing Rules and the
amendments thereto which came into effect 1 January
2023, including in particular Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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12.

13.

Outstanding Awards Granted under the AAG PSP

During the Reporting Year, there were no awards nor
options that lapsed or cancelled. No grants of share
awards were made in FY2024.

No Awards granted under the AAG PSP which are
outstanding as at 31 December 2024.

Vested Awards Under the AAG PSP

Details of the Award Shares vested during the Reporting
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RBEFEERBOEBROFELT

Year is as follows:

Maximum

number of % of issued
Participant Date of Grant = Vesting Date Shares Shares™

HERITRAN

2HE RHBH SEAH BEeROEE Bako
Directors
=
TAN Yong Nang 23 March 2022 8 October 2024 566,470® 0.08%
BREE 20224 3H238 2024%10H8A
Edgar Dowse COLLINS 23 March 2022 8 October 2024 629,000® 0.09%
Edgar Dowse COLLINS 2022F 3 H23H 2024F10A8H
YANG Ku 23 March 2022 8 October 2024 251,600® 0.04%
15E 20224 3H23H 2024%10H8H
GAO Lina 23 March 2022 8 October 2024 166,500® 0.02%
=B 20224 3H238 2024%10H8A
Other participants
Hih gk
36 other employees of the Group 23 March 2022 8 October 2024 910,200® 0.13%

BB AKHEEMER

202243 H23H

202410 H8H
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14.

Notes:

The calculation is based on the total number of
700,463,112 issued Shares as at 31 December 2024.

As this is a Share Grant, there is no exercise period nor
exercise price.

The vesting of these Awards is subject to the
achievement of certain key performance indicators
during the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2023 and the final number of Shares subject to the
Award can vary from 0% to 200% of the initial number
of Shares subject to the Award. The maximum potential
number of Shares which are subject to the Award has
been calculated assuming the achievement of the
relevant key performance indicators and based on
200% of the initial number of Shares subject to the
Award.

Consideration and Purchase Price

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, there is no amount

payable on application or acceptance of the Award and no
purchase price of Shares awarded.

AAG POST-IPO RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the AAG post-
IPO RSU Scheme (the “RSU Scheme”) conditionally approved by
the Shareholders and adopted by the Company on 5 December
2022 and effective from the Listing Date. The remaining life of the
RSU Scheme is about seven years and eight months as at the
date of this annual report.

Purpose of the RSU Scheme

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to attract skilled and
experienced personnel, to incentivise them to remain with

the Group and to motivate them to strive for the future
development and expansion of the Group by providing
them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests in the
Company.
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Eligible Participants

The Executive Directors, the executive directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries, or the full-time employees of the
Group who have been employed by the Group for more
than 12 months (the “Participants”).

Administration of the RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme will be subject to the administration
of the Remuneration Committee in accordance with the
RSU Scheme. Any decision made by the Remuneration
Committee as to all matters arising in relation to the RSU
Scheme shall (including the interpretation of any rules
therein) be final and binding on all parties.

The Company may appoint a professional trustee to assist
with the administration and vesting of awards of RSUs (the
“RSU Awards”) granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme. The
Company may to the extent permitted by the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules direct and procure
the trustee to make on-market or off-market purchases of
Shares to satisfy the RSU Awards upon vesting, provided
that the trustee shall abstain from voting in respect of such
Shares unless otherwise required by applicable laws to
vote in accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction
and such a direction is given. The Company shall to the
extent permitted by the Singapore Companies Act provide
sufficient funds to the trustee by whatever means as the
Board may in its absolute discretion determine to enable
the trustee to satisfy its obligations in connection with the
administration and vesting of the RSU Awards.

RSU Awards

The Remuneration Committee may grant a RSU Award to
a Participant, which gives that Participant a contingent
right to receive Shares (or a cash payment), subject to
the satisfaction of relevant vesting conditions as provided
under the RSU Scheme and in the Notice of Grant (as
defined below).
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Maximum Number of New Shares to be Granted

The scheme mandate limit (the “Scheme Mandate Limit")
refers to the total number of new Shares in respect of
which RSUs may be granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme,
being (i) 10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
or (ii) 10% of the Shares in issue as at the New Approval
Date.

The total number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may
be granted under the RSU Scheme shall be calculated in
accordance with the following formula:

X=A-B-C

Where:

X = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in
respect to which RSUs may be granted pursuant to the
RSU Scheme;

A = the Scheme Mandate Limit;

B = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting of RSUs
granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme, which in the event
there has been a New Approval Date, shall only include
those new Shares which may be issued upon the vesting of
RSUs that have been granted since the most recent New
Approval Date; and

C = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting or exercise
of any share grants made after the Listing pursuant to any
other share schemes, which in the event that there has
been a New Approval Date, shall only include those new
Shares which may be issued upon the vesting or exercise
of share grants that have been granted since that most
recent New Approval Date.

Shares in respect of (i) RSUs which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or which
have been satisfied by the making of a cash payment
and (ii) share grants which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the relevant share scheme or which
have been encashed will not be counted for the purpose
of determining the maximum aggregate number of new
Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted pursuant
to the RSU Scheme.
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The Scheme Mandate Limit may be renewed (a) every
3 years subject to Shareholders’ approval; or (b) within
a 3-year period subject to Shareholders’ approval and
with the relevant persons specified in the Listing Rules
abstaining from voting on the relevant resolution and in
each case, in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. In any event, the total number of new Shares
in respect of which RSUs may be granted under the RSU
Scheme following the date of approval of the renewed
limit (the “New Approval Date”) under the limit as renewed
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date. Shares in respect of RSUs or share grants
made pursuant to the RSU Scheme or any other share
scheme (including those which are outstanding, lapsed,
vested, exercised or encashed) prior to the New Approval
Date will not be counted for the purpose of determining
the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in
respect of which the RSUs may be granted following the
New Approval Date under the limit as renewed. For the
avoidance of doubt, new Shares issued prior to the New
Approval Date pursuant to the vesting of RSUs granted
under the RSU Scheme and pursuant to the vesting or
exercise of share grants made under any other share
schemes of the Company will be counted for the purpose
of determining the number of Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date.

Large Grants of RSUs and Grants of RSUs to
Connected Persons

In any 12-month period, the maximum number of new
Shares issued (and to be issued) upon:

(1) the vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU
Scheme; and

(i) the vesting or exercise of all share grants made
under any other share schemes

(excluding any RSUs or share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or the
relevant share scheme) to any individual Participant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time being.
Where any further grant of RSUs to a Participant under the
RSU Scheme would result in the breach of this limit, such
grant must be separately approved by Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Any grant of RSUs to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of
their respective associates) must be approved by the
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Where any grant of RSUs to a Director or chief executive of
the Company (or any of their respective associates) would
result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon
the:

() vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme;
and

(i) vesting of all share grants (but excluding share
options, if any) granted under any other share
schemes,

(excluding any RSUs and share grants (other than share
options) lapsed or encashed in accordance with the terms
of the RSU Scheme or the relevant share scheme) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the offer
date representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue, such further grant of RSUs under the RSU Scheme
shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Where any grant of RSUs to a substantial shareholder (or
any of his respective associates) would result in the new
Shares issued (and to be issued) upon the:

(i) vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme;
and

(i) vesting or exercise of all share grants made under
any other share schemes

(excluding any RSUs and share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or the
relevant share scheme) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the offer date representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue. such further
grant of RSUs under the RSU Scheme shall be subject to
prior approval by the Shareholders in general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Vesting of RSUs

Subject to and in accordance with the terms of the RSU
Scheme and the specific terms applicable to each RSU,
an RSU shall vest on the vesting date, which for RSUs to
be satisfied with the issuance of new Shares, may not be
shorter than 12 months unless otherwise determined by
the Remuneration Committee in respect of grantees who
are employees, executive Directors or directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries in the case of grants of RSUs in
the following specific circumstances:

(i) to new joiners to replace the share awards they
forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(i) to grantees whose employment is terminated due
to death, ill health, serious injury, disability or
retirement or upon the occurrence of any event
which is not within the control of the Company,
where the vesting of the RSUs may accelerate
based on the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee;

(iii) which would have been made earlier but for
administrative and compliance reasons and are
made in a subsequent batch, in order to put the
grantees in the same position as they would have
been in had the grant of RSUs been made earlier;
and

(iv) where a corporate event takes place as set out in
paragraph (13) below (in which case RSUs may be
accelerated for all grantees at the sole and absolute
discretion of the Company (and not just in respect
of grantees who are employees, executive Directors
or directors of the Company’s subsidiaries)).
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10.

Term of the RSU Scheme

Subject to the conditions referred to above being satisfied,
the RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the year
commencing on the date Listing (30 December 2022) and
expiring on the tenth anniversary (i.e. 30 December 2032)
thereof or such earlier date as the Scheme is terminated in
accordance with the RSU Scheme (the “Term”), after which
period no further RSUs shall be offered or granted but the
provisions of the RSU Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect in all other respects. Awards granted during the
Term shall continue to be valid in accordance with their
terms of grant after the end of the Term.

Grant of Awards

A grant shall be made to a Participant by a notice (the
“Notice of Grant”) specifying the terms on which the Award
is to be granted, including the date of grant, the number of
RSUs underlying the Award, the vesting date, the relevant
vesting and/or other performance conditions that must be
satisfied in order for the Award to vest in whole or in part
and any other terms which the Remuneration Committee
has determined shall apply to the Award.

Awards to be Personal to the Grantees

An Award shall be personal to the grantee. Before the
Award is vested in a grantee pursuant to the RSU Scheme,
the Award shall not be assignable or transferable by the
grantee and the grantee shall not, without the prior written
consent of the Remuneration Committee, in any way sell,
transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest in favour of any third party over or in relation to
the Award, provided that following the grantee’s death, an
Award may be transferred by will or by the laws of testacy
and distribution.

Where permitted by applicable laws and regulations
(including the Listing Rules) and subject to the approval
of the Stock Exchange, Awards may be transferred to
a vehicle (such as a trust or a private company) for the
benefit of the grantee and any family members of such
grantee that would continue to meet the purpose of the
RSU Scheme, provided the terms of the grant of such
Award will continue to bind any such transferee with
reference to the grantee, where relevant.

10.

ZRERD B EIAHR

Em R EEFARIET - SRHARM B
SHEIfE FTEE (2022612 A308) &
TMRE +EF (A12032F12 5308 ) siiRiE
SRR BT BRENRERIIENTF
WER(THER]) - R BE & - TEHEIR
MR TFZREIRMDEL - BZRFIRGDE
U ENREEMBEMAEDES T 2K
TNIRAER o RHEIR AR B 2B R BAR 45
BIRBER DGR EBEG N -

RBHOET

BB ABHATARS2EERL ([BETB
&) ERFTRRTRBNGR  BERT
B BEMSOXRIBDECHE B
BREH - REEEERARE D B AN T
EVIERESR B & S AR - A R A
% B & W O 4 A 50 BR R A () EL A 15K

REEDARABEARE

REBARANBAFRE - ZEREZR IR
MEMAEBBRARARN - ARATEH
EAEE AARARFMEZESEELEEER
BABRANSUERTABZBLE - &
2 EE O RIB RUERAEAERR
YAERE=FT R B ANEMER - BE
ABAG IR - SRR AR E S SOEE R
FZETTEE

WERERER (B LETMRR) FFAI
R - BB BB EREARARK
EARANEMREXR BN @EMRLNTE
(BINEFERFRARE]) - ZTAAFEM R
ZRBIBDEMETER R - FIREREZE
BREFSEEOREMLBEREA (2R
AN - WEE) o



11.

Vesting of Awards

The vesting principles of the RSU Scheme are summarised
below:

(i) An Award shall vest on the relevant vesting date
specified in the Notice of Grant. If the vesting of an
Award is subject to the satisfaction of performance
or other conditions and such conditions are not
satisfied in whole or in part, the Award shall lapse
automatically in respect of such proportion of
underlying RSUs as have not vested.

(i) Awards which have vested shall be satisfied as
soon as practicable on or after the vesting date
and in any event by no later than 10 business days
following the vesting date, at the Remuneration
Committee’s absolute discretion by allotting and
issuing or transferring the relevant number of Shares
to the grantee credited as fully paid or encashing
the relevant Awards, the amount of which shall be
determined by the Remuneration Committee at its
sole and absolute discretion.

(iii) If there are administrative and compliance reasons
which mean that Awards could not have been made
earlier, the Remuneration Committee may decide in
its absolute discretion to shorten the vesting period
of the Awards so as to put the grantees in the same
position as they would have been in had the grant
been made earlier.

(iv) If the Company or any grantee would or might be
prohibited by applicable laws, regulations or rules
(including any dealing code of the Company) from
dealing in the Shares on the vesting date, the date
on which the relevant Shares shall be allotted and
issued or transferred to the grantee shall occur as
soon as possible after the date when such dealing
is permitted.
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12.

13.

Rights Attaching to the Awards and the Shares

Shares to be allotted and issued or transferred, (as the
case may be) pursuant to the RSU Scheme will rank pari
passu in all respects with the Shares then in issue except
for any rights attaching to Shares by reference to a record
date before the date of issue. A grantee shall have no
rights in respect of Shares subject to RSUs until the Shares
are allotted and issued or transferred to him (as the case
may be) under the terms of the RSU Scheme.

Lapse and Cancellation of Awards

Subject to the RSU Scheme, an Award (or any part thereof)
that has not vested shall lapse automatically on the earliest
of:

(i) the date of termination of the grantee’s employment,
service or engagement by any member of the
Group;

(i) the date on which the grantee (1) becomes an
officer, director, employee, consultant, adviser,
partner of, or a shareholder or other proprietor
owning more than 5% interest in any competitor of
the Group without the prior written consent of the
Board; or (2) knowingly performs any act that may
confer any competitive benefit or advantage upon
any competitor of the Group without the prior written
consent of the Board;

(iii) the date of the commencement of the winding-up of
the Company;

(iv) the time specified in paragraph (13) below;

(v) the date on which the grantee (whether intentionally
or otherwise) commits a breach of paragraph (9)
above;

(vi) the date on which the grantee is declared bankrupt
or enters into any arrangement or compromise with
his creditors generally; and
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14.

(vi)

in respect of an Award which is subject to
performance or other vesting condition(s), the date
on which the condition(s) to vesting of the Award is
not satisfied (save that the Award shall lapse only
in respect of such proportion of underlying RSUs as
have not vested because of the application of such
performance or other vesting condition(s)).

The Remuneration Committee may at any time with the
consent of and on such terms as may be agreed with the
relevant grantee cancel Awards previously granted but not
yet vested and may, at its discretion, make a grant of new
RSUs to the same grantee.

Corporate Events

In the event of:

(i)

or

(if)

a general offer by way of a takeover or otherwise
(other than by way of scheme of arrangement
pursuant to sub-paragraph (ii) below) which is made
by any person to acquire all of the issued Shares
(other than those already owned by the offeror and/
or any person controlled by the offeror and/or any
person acting in association or concert with the
offeror) and such offer becoming or being declared
unconditional prior to the vesting date of any Award;

a general offer by any person for the Shares by
way of scheme of arrangement which is made to
all the Shareholders and which is approved by the
necessary number of Shareholders at the requisite
meeting(s) prior to the vesting date of any Award; or

14.
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(iii) a compromise or arrangement (other than a scheme
of arrangement contemplated in sub-paragraph (ii)
above) between the Company and the Shareholders
and/or the creditors of the Company which is
proposed for the purposes of or in connection with
a plan for the reconstruction of the Company or its
amalgamation with any other company or companies
prior to the vesting date of any Award,

the Board shall prior to the offer becoming or being
declared unconditional or (in the case of paragraph (ii) or
(i) prior to the date of the relevant meeting(s)), determine
in its absolute discretion whether any Award that has
not vested shall vest. To the extent that any Award does
not vest, it shall lapse automatically on (in the case of
paragraph (i)) the date on which the offer closes; (in the
case of paragraph (ii)) the record date for determining
entittements under the scheme of arrangement; and (in
the case of paragraph (iii)) on the date of the meeting of
Shareholders or creditors.

In the event a notice is given by the Company to the
Shareholders to convene a general meeting for the
purposes of considering and, if thought fit, approving a
resolution to voluntarily wind-up the Company prior to
the vesting date of any Award, the Company shall give
notice thereof to all the grantees on the same day as it
despatches to the Shareholders the notice convening the
meeting. Notwithstanding any other terms on which the
Award was granted, the Award shall vest so as to enable
the allotment and issue or transfer, as the case may be
of the relevant number of Shares underlying the Award
by no later than two business days immediately prior to
the date of the proposed general meeting. The Company
shall as soon as possible and in any event no later than
one business day immediately prior to the date of the
proposed general meeting, procure the allotment and issue
or transfer of the relevant number of Shares to the grantee
which falls to be allotted and issued or transferred on such
vesting of the Award or procure that a cash payment (or
a combination of Shares and a cash payment) be made
to the grantee. Provided that the resolution to voluntarily
wind-up the Company is approved, any Award that has not
vested shall lapse.
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15.

16.

Reorganisation of Capital Structure

In the event of an alteration in the capital structure of
the Company by way of a capitalisation issue, rights
issue, subdivision or consolidation of shares or reduction
of the share capital of the Company in accordance
with applicable laws and the Listing Rules (other than
any alteration in the capital structure of the Company
as a result of an issue of Shares as consideration in a
transaction to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
is a party or in connection with any share option, restricted
share or other share schemes of the Company) whilst any
Award has not vested or has vested but has not yet been
satisfied, the Remuneration Committee may adjust the
number of Shares subject to an Award and/or the maximum
aggregate number of new Shares which may be issued
in respect of Awards granted under the RSU Scheme
pursuant to Scheme Mandate Limit as it, in its absolute
discretion, thinks fit so that any such adjustments give the
grantees the same proportion of the share capital of the
Company as that to which such grantees were previously
entitled (rounded to the nearest whole Share).

Alteration of the RSU Scheme

Save as provided below, the Board may alter any of the
terms of the RSU Scheme at any time, including but not
limited to the method by which a grantee accepts the
Award and such other minor amendments to benefit the
administration of the RSU Scheme, provided that such
alterations comply with the requirements of the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules, to the extent
applicable.
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Any alterations to the terms and conditions of the RSU
Scheme which are of a material nature or any alterations to
the specific provisions of the RSU Scheme which relate to
the matters set out in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules to the
advantage of grantees and changes to the authority of the
Board in relation to any alteration of the terms of the RSU
Scheme, in each case, must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting.

Any changes to the terms of the Awards granted must
be approved by Board, the Remuneration Committee,
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and/or the
Shareholders in general meeting (as the case may be)
if the initial grant of such Awards was approved by the
Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Independent
Non-Executive Directors and/or Shareholders in general
meeting (as the case may be), except where the alterations
or changes take effect automatically under the existing
terms of the RSU Scheme. The Remuneration Committee’s
determination as to whether any proposed alteration to the
terms and conditions of the RSU Scheme is material shall
be conclusive.

The amended terms and conditions of the RSU Scheme
and the Awards shall comply with the Listing Rules and
the amendments thereto which came into effect 1 January
2023, including in particular Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

As at 31 December 2024, no Award of RSUs has been granted
or agreed to be granted by the Company pursuant to the RSU
Scheme. The scheme mandate limit is 10% of the shares in issue
on the Listing Date, that is the aggregate number of shares
which may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the AAG
PSP and the RSU Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the shares
in issue on the Listing Date (i.e. 69,985,711 shares, being 10%
of 699,857,112 shares in issue on the Listing Date), 69,985,711
shares representing approximately 10% of the shares in issue at
the date of this annual report.
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As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of
awards available for grant under the overall scheme mandate
limit for both the AAG PSP and RSU schemes is 69,985,711
and 69,985,711 respectively, being approximately 10% of the
issued share capital as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024 respectively. The existing plans do not allow for any share
awards to service providers. Therefore there is no service provider
sublimit.

AAG SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the Annual General Meeting held on 5 June 2024 (the “Adoption
Date”), Shareholders approved the adoption of the AAG Share
Option Scheme, the terms of which are in line with the relevant
requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The AAG Share
Option Scheme will be valid for 10 years commencing from
the Adoption Date. The remaining life of the AAG Share Option
Scheme is about nine years and one month as at the date of this
annual report.

Reasons for the adoption of the AAG Share Option Scheme

The AAG Share Option Scheme is intended to provide the
Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to the
Participants and for such other purposes as the Board may
approve from time to time, and attract skilled and experienced
personnel, to incentivise them to remain with the Group and to
motivate them to strive for the future development and expansion
of the Group by providing them with the opportunity to acquire
equity interests in the Company.

Scope of Participants

Participants of the AAG Share Option Scheme include (i) any
executive Director, or (i) any full-time employee of the Group
who has been employed by the Group for more than 12 months
(regardless of whether he is a director of any company within the
Group). Having considered the scope of the Participants and the
terms of the AAG Share Option Scheme, the Directors are of the
view that the adoption of the AAG Share Option Scheme would
give the Company flexibility to incentivize and reward employees
to contribute to the development, growth and success of the
Group, thus achieving the long-term growth targets of the Group.
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Scheme Mandate Limit and maximum entitlement of Shares
of each Participant

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all Options to be granted under the AAG Share Option Scheme
and any options or awards under any other schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date (i.e. 70,046,311
Shares), unless otherwise permitted by the Listing Rules or the
Company obtains the approval of its Shareholders to refresh the
Scheme Mandate Limit in accordance with the rules of the AAG
Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options pursuant to the AAG Share Option Scheme together
with all other options and awards granted under the AAG Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme(s) of the Company to
each Participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the issued share capital of the
Company comprised 700,463,112 Shares. Assuming that there
is no change in the number of issued Shares during the period
between the Latest Practicable Date and the Adoption Date, the
total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all Options to be granted under the AAG Share Option Scheme
together with all options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the Company would
be 70,046,311 Shares, representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company on the Adoption Date.

The Company adopted the AAG Performance Share Plan and the
RSU Scheme prior to the date on which the Shares are first listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, each of which remained
effective as at the Latest Practicable Date. For the avoidance of
doubt, the AAG Performance Share Plan and the RSU Scheme will
not be terminated by virtue of the proposed adoption of the AAG
Share Option Scheme.
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As at the Latest Practicable Date, no award of restricted share
units had been granted or agreed to be granted by the Company
pursuant to the RSU Scheme. Options and awards which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the AAG Share Option
Scheme (or any other schemes of the Company) or which have
been satisfied by the making of a Cash Payment shall not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Basis of determination of the Subscription Price

The Subscription Price in respect of each Share issued pursuant
to the exercise of Options granted under the AAG Share Option
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Remuneration
Committee and notified to a Participant and shall be at least the
highest of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the Offer Date, which
must be a Business Day;

(b) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five (5) Business Days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and

(c) the nominal value of a Share (if applicable).

As the Subscription Price must not be less than the price
stipulated in the Listing Rules, it is expected that Grantees will
endeavour to contribute to the development of the Group so as to
bring about an increased market price of the Shares in order to
capitalise on the benefits of the Options, which in turn is expected
to benefit the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Vesting Period

An Option shall be held by the Grantee for a minimum period of
12 months (or such other minimum period as the Listing Rules
may prescribe or permit) before the Option can be exercised,
unless the Remuneration Committee agrees to a shorter vesting
period under specified circumstances. The Board considers that
such minimum vesting period serves to incentivize Grantees to
remain in and continue to contribute to the Group’s business, at
the same time, the Company can retain flexibility with accelerated
vesting under specific circumstances where justified, which is in
line with the purpose of the AAG Share Option Scheme.
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Performance targets and clawback mechanism

Vesting of Options shall be subject to the conditions (if any) as
may be determined by the Remuneration Committee at its absolute
discretion and/or specified in the Offer Letter granting the Options,
but shall not involve any performance target. The extent to which
the conditions have been achieved will be determined by the
Remuneration Committee. No clawback mechanism is established
under the AAG Share Option Scheme.

The Board and the Remuneration Committee are of the view that
the lack of any performance target and clawback mechanism
attaching or applicable to the Options is (i) in line with the
purpose of the AAG Share Option Scheme; and (ii) fair and
reasonable to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole for
the following reasons:

(a) it may not always be appropriate to impose performance
targets or clawback mechanisms, particularly when
the purpose of granting Options is to remunerate or
compensate employees for past contributions to the Group,
and incentivize them to remain with the Group to motivate
them to strive for the future development of the Group;

(b) the grant of Options is also for the purpose of attracting
and retaining talents. As such, the Board should be given
sufficient flexibility to decide the best way to achieve
such purpose taking into account changing market
conditions, industry competition as well as the individual
circumstances of each Grantee and at its discretion specify
any conditions (which shall not involve any performance
target) which must be satisfied before the Options may be
exercised;

(c) the Board believes that each Grantee will play a different
role and contribute in diverse ways to the Group and
not setting out a set of generic performance targets and
clawback mechanisms in the AAG Share Option Scheme
will facilitate the Board’s aim to offer meaningful incentives
to attract and retain quality personnel that are valuable to
the development of the Group;
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(d) the economic benefits of the Options to the Grantees
depend upon the increase in share price of the Company
at the time or after the vesting of the Options which will
be driven by, among others, improving performance of
the Group. Thus, the grant of Options can effectively
incentivize the Grantees to devote themselves to increase
profitability of the Group, thereby raising share price and
share value of the Company, which in turn will benefit the
Shareholders as a whole;

(e) the requirement for a vesting period of the Options,
including a general minimum vesting period of 12 months
before the Options can be exercised, would encourage
the Grantees to focus on the Company’s long-term
performance and better align their interests with that of the
Shareholders while promoting retention; and

(f) there are arrangements in place under the AAG Share
Option Scheme for the lapse of an Offer or Option upon
certain circumstances, which include the lapse of the
Offer upon the offeree ceasing to be a Participant and
the lapse of an Option (to the extent not already vested
and exercised) following the termination of employment of
the relevant Grantee, and a mechanism for any clawback
after the vesting or exercise of the Options would not be
necessary.

Cash Payment

The Remuneration Committee may, in its absolute discretion,
determine whether all or any of the Options granted or to be
granted under the AAG Share Option Scheme shall be satisfied
upon exercise by the allotment and issue of Shares or by a Cash
Payment. The Board takes the view that such discretion will give
the Remuneration Committee maximum flexibility to make such
determination based on the circumstances of each grant and/
or Grantee prior to the grant or vesting date of the Option(s)
in question. If there are reasons (including regulatory or legal
reasons) which may make the issuance of Shares difficult or
undesirable, the Remuneration Committee may decide in its
absolute discretion to satisfy an Option fully or partially with a
Cash Payment in lieu of all or any part of the Shares.
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Conditions precedent of the AAG Share Option Scheme

The AAG Share Option Scheme shall take effect subject to and
conditional upon:

(a) the passing of an ordinary resolution to approve the
adoption of the AAG Share Option Scheme by the
Shareholders in general meeting and to authorise the
Board and/or the Remuneration Committee to grant Options
pursuant to the AAG Share Option Scheme and to allot
and issue or otherwise deal with the Shares which fall to
be issued by the Company pursuant to the exercise of any
Options granted under the AAG Share Option Scheme; and

(b) the Listing Committee (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Stock Exchange granting the approval of the listing of,
and permission to deal in, the Shares to be allotted and
issued pursuant to the exercise of the Options granted
under the AAG Share Option Scheme.

Application will be made to the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange for the approval of the listing of, and permission to deal
in, the Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the exercise
of all the Options to be granted under the AAG Share Option
Scheme.

Once the AAG Share Option Scheme is adopted, any alterations
to the terms and conditions thereof, which are of a material
nature, must be approved by the Shareholders, except where
the alterations take effect automatically pursuant to the terms
originally provided for in the AAG Share Option Scheme.

No option has been granted during the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this annual report.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of
options available for grant under the scheme mandate limit of AAG
Share Option Scheme is nil (as the scheme is not adopted) and
70,046,311 (being 10% of the issued share capital) respectively.
The AAG Share Option Scheme do not allow for any share awards
to service providers. Therefore there is no service provider
sublimit.
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There were no share awards granted under either the AAG PSP,
the RSU schemes or the Share Option Scheme of the Company,
thus the ratio of options and shares granted under all schemes
against weighted average number of shares for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2024 is not meaningful.

Under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, there is in addition to the
respective scheme limit, an overall 10% limit on all share plans.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company
was 700,463,112 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements. As set out in note 39, as at 31
December 2024, the distributable reserves of the Company were
RMB367,615,000.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

The Company had bank loans of RMB3,498,392,000 as at 31
December 2024. Details of bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group are set out in the note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31
December 2024.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final
dividend and there is no dividend payment for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make charitable donations during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “AAG Performance Share
Plan”, “AAG post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme” and “AAG
Share Option Scheme” as set out in this report of the Directors, no
equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended
31 December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
constitution of the Company or laws of Singapore where the
Company is incorporated.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Constitution and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director and other officer shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred or to be
incurred by him in the execution and discharge his duties or in
relation thereto.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The Company has arranged
appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors since the
Listing Date.
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment in relation
to his/her role as a director of the Company, which is subject to
termination by the Director or the Company in accordance with the
terms of the letter of appointment, the requirements of the Listing
Rules and the provisions relating to the retirement and rotation of
the Directors under the Constitution.

Directors’ service contracts have a term of one to three years
and the appointments of Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Constitution of the
Company. Three Non-Executive Directors have entered into the
appointment letter with the term of one year, and the other three
Non-Executive Directors have entered into the appointment letter
with the term of three years.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than normal statutory obligations.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of employees of the
Group was 2,671 (as at 31 December 2023: 2,620). In compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the Company has established
Remuneration Committee for developing remuneration policy,
reviewing the remuneration structure of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

The remuneration package of the employees including salary,
bonus, allowance, benefits in kind (including contributions to
pension schemes) and pension or allowance on the retirement.
The Company also adopted AAG PSP, RSU Scheme and AAG
Share Option Scheme, details of which are set out in the section
headed “AAG Performance Share Plan”, “AAG POST-IPO
Restricted Share Unit Scheme” and “AAG Share Option Scheme”
as set out in the Report of Directors.

Both Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki (appointed on 5 December 2022 and
retired on 5 June 2024) and Mr. Tamotsu MATSUI (appointed on 5
June 2024) agreed to waive any remuneration by the Group upon
appointment as the Non-Executive Director.

During the year no emoluments were paid or receivable by any
Directors or the five highest paid employees as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
and remain so as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARE OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the year, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under
the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the equity
or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates had
engaged in or had any interest in any business, apart from the
Group’s business, which competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2024, which would require
disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive of the Company in any of the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors
and chief executive of the Company were taken or deemed to
have pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO), or (ii)
entered in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code adopted by the Company.

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares
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Number of Approximately

Name of Director or Chief Executive Nature of Interest Shares Percentage(”
ESgBRSTRABRS BEEMtE RBHE BMABSLEO
TAN Yong Nang Interests in controlled corporation 28,031,111(L)®@ 4.00%
PR E5 B el VNI £

Beneficial owner

EnlEAA

Interests held jointly with another person

HEAM AT HEEENER

Beneficial of trust

EFEX@mA
Edgar Dowse COLLINS Beneficial owner 8,124,060(L) 1.16%
Edgar Dowse COLLINS EmEAA
YANG Ku Beneficial owner 3,010,000(L) 0.43%
15 EnfEBA
GAO Lina Beneficial owner 135,000(L) 0.02%
=B EnEAA
Gabriella SANTOSA Joint investment power holder, 259,814,213(L)® 37.09%

beneficiary of Trust and

beneficial owner
Gabriella SANTOSA

BAEA

Notes:
(L) denotes long position

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 700,463,112
issued Shares as at 31 December 2024.
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The shares of Mr. Tan Yong Nang include (i) 16,844,898 shares
are held by Great Alpha Investments Limited, which is wholly-
owned by Mr. Tan; (ii) 586,213 shares held jointly with Mdm
Puah Bee Neo; and (iii) 10,600,000 shares as a founder of a
discretionary trust who can influence how the trustee exercise
at Mr. Tan’s discretion.

Rangi Management Limited is wholly owned by Fusion
Investment Holdings Limited. Tasburgh Limited holds
21,342,875 Shares. The shares in each of Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited are collectively held
by Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited
as bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Scuderia Trust, which is a
reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by Rangi
Management Limited and Tasburgh Limited are assets of
the Scuderia Trust. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are appointed as the joint investment power holders
of the Scuderia Trust. Under the terms of the Scuderia Trust,
they are jointly entitled, as investment power holders, to
direct the trustee of the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees
Limited, to procure to the best of its ability that the directors
of Fusion Investment Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited
act in accordance with his instructions in relation to the
investments of the Scuderia Trust. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa and Highvern
Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust) is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Rangi Management
Limited and Tasburgh Limited, and Fusion Investment Holdings
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Rangi Management Limited. Rangi Management Limited is also
deemed interested in Japfa Ltd's 12,536,038 Shares in the
Company.

The beneficiaries of the Scuderia Trust are Mdm. Farida
Gustimego Santosa, her children (Mr. Renaldo Santosa,
Ms. Gabriella Santosa, Mr. Mikael Santosa and Mr. Raffaela
Santosa) and remoter issue.

Rangi Management Limited holds 212,395,300 Shares and
has pledged such Shares to an independent third-party
financial institution to support loan facilities of the Controlling
Shareholders.

Tallowe Services Inc. holds 13,540,000 Shares. Tallowe
Services Inc. is wholly owned in equal shares by Magnus
Nominees Limited as bare trustee for Renaldo Santosa and
Fidelis Nominees Limited as bare trustee for Gabriella Santosa.
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2 Great Alpha Investments Limited#&H)
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#7255 510,600,000 A% A1) ©

Rangi Management Limited @& &%
BERARZERE ° Tasburgh Limited#
F21,342,875 %D - Magnus Nominees
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to Directors or chief
executive of the Company are aware, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required
to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
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section 336 of the SFO:

Number Approximately
Name of Substantial Shareholders Nature of Interest of Shares Percentage®
TERRESR BB EEME RHEE BAOBDED
Rangi Management Limited Beneficial owner 212,395,300(L)® 30.32%
Rangi Management Limited EmEAA
Fusion Investment Holdings Limited Interest in controlled entity 212,395,300(L)®@ 30.32%
BEREZERERRAR REEEEER
Morze International Limited Beneficial owner 62,155,958(L)® 8.87%
Morze International Limited EmEAA
Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas Settlor/Beneficiary of Trust 62,155,958(L)® 8.87%
Rachel Anastasia Kolonas% =+ ERERASZHEA
Highvern Trustees Limited Trustee of Trusts 308,430,171(L)@® 44.03%
Highvern Trustees Limited BEFEXFEA
Mr. Renaldo Santosa Joint investment power holder and 260,171,073(L)?® 37.14%
beneficiary of Trust

Renaldo Santosa%t 4 BAEEREENRBARZZA

Beneficial owner 356,860(L)% 0.05%

EmfAA
Ms. Gabriella Santosa Joint investment power holder and 259,814,213(L)®®) 37.09%

beneficiary of Trust

Gabriella SantosaZ + GEEEREENFBBAREREA

Beneficial owner

E=EBA
MNM Holdings Limited Interests in controlled corporation 308,430,171(L)® 44.03%
MNM Holdings Limited R 2k NG ey
Mr. Martin John Hall Interests in controlled corporation 308,430,171(L)® 44.03%
Martin John Hall5t 4 g VNI
Ms. Naomi Julia Rive Interests in controlled corporation 308,430,171(L)® 44.03%
Naomi Julia Rive &z + RSN AR
Meiji (China) Investment Company Beneficial owner 155,451,785(L) 22.19%

Limited
BA (R E) I EBRA A

EmEAA

87



88

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Report of Directors

EEGHRES

denotes long position

The calculation is based on the total number of 700,463,112
issued Shares as at 31 December 2024.

Rangi Management Limited is wholly owned by Fusion
Investment Holdings Limited. Tasburgh Limited holds
21,342,875 Shares. The shares in each of Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited are collectively held
by Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited
as bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Scuderia Trust, which is a
reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by Rangi
Management Limited and Tasburgh Limited are assets of
the Scuderia Trust. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are appointed as the joint investment power holders
of the Scuderia Trust. Under the terms of the Scuderia Trust,
they are jointly entitled, as investment power holders, to
direct the trustee of the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees
Limited, to procure to the best of its ability that the directors
of Fusion Investment Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited
act in accordance with his instructions in relation to the
investments of the Scuderia Trust. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa and Highvern
Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust) is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Rangi Management
Limited and Tasburgh Limited, and Fusion Investment Holdings
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Rangi Management Limited. Rangi Management Limited is also
deemed interested in Japfa Ltd's 12,536,038 Shares in the
Company.

The beneficiaries of the Scuderia Trust are Mdm. Farida
Gustimego Santosa, her children (Mr. Renaldo Santosa,
Ms. Gabriella Santosa, Mr. Mikael Santosa and Mr. Raffaela
Santosa) and remoter issue.

Rangi Management Limited holds 212,395,300 Shares and
has pledged such Shares to an independent third-party
financial institution to support loan facilities of the Controlling
Shareholders.

Tallowe Services Inc. holds 13,540,000 Shares. Tallowe
Services Inc. is wholly owned in equal shares by Magnus
Nominees Limited as bare trustee for Renaldo Santosa and
Fidelis Nominees Limited as bare trustee for Gabriella Santosa.

Mr. Renaldo Santosa holds 356,860 Shares through his client
account with a financial institution.
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RIE2024F12A31HERITHRMAR
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= UBEEAZRFIERRENE SRS -
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f&15 - Tallowe Services Inc.fiMagnus
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AGabriella SantosaMEEIZFEA) UREEH
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The shares in Morze International Limited are held by
Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited as
bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Capital Two Trust, which
is a reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by
Morze International Limited are assets of the Capital Two Trust.
Highvern Trustees Limited is the trustee of Capital Two Trust.
Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas is the settlor of Capital Two
Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas and
Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Capital Two Trust)
are each deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Morze
International Limited. Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas is Mr.
Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella Santosa’s cousin.

The beneficiaries of the Capital Two Trust are Ms. Rachel
Anastasia Kolonas, her issue and remoter issue and her aunt,
Ms. Tati Santosa.

Highvern Trustees Limited is a professional trustee

MNM Holdings Limited is the holding company of Highvern
Trustees Limited, which has an interest in the Shares as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust and the Capital Two Trust. MNM Holdings
Limited is wholly owned by Martin John Hall and Naomi Julia
Rive in equal shareholding proportions. By virtue of the SFO,
each of MNM Holdings Limited, Martin John Hall and Naomi
Julia Rive is deemed to be indirectly interested in the Shares
that Highvern Trustees Limited is interested in.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of HKEX or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December
2024 as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to HKEX and
the SFC under the Model Code.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

The trustee of the AAG Performance Share Plan has pursuant to
the terms of the rules and terms of the Trusts and Share Plan,
purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 1,060,000 shares at
a total consideration of HKD 1,295,699 (RMB1,176,118 equivalent)
during the Reporting Year and up to the date of this annual report.

Saved as disclosed, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities (including sale of treasury shares (as defined under
Listing Rules)) during the Reporting Year and up to the date of
this annual report. The Company did not hold any treasury shares
as at 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS &
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the continuing connected transactions as described in
the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” as
set out in this report of the Directors, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or
its parent company was a party and in which any Director or any
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024 under
review.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
1. Technical Service Agreement

Annona Technical Services Pte. Ltd. (“ATS"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. (a close associate of the
controlling shareholder of the Company) entered into an
amended and restated technical services agreement (the
“Technical Service Agreement”) with the Company dated
14 December 2022, ATS has agreed to provide financial
solutions (including assisting with certain technical aspects
of the financial statements and upgrading the financial
management tools to review the Group’s business against
key performance indicators), debt financing and debt risk
solutions (including providing training to the Group’s staff
on financial, capital expenditure and budget planning,
developing balanced capital structure and assisting
with managing relationships with debt partners), legal
solutions, human resource solutions, strategic solutions
and digitalization solutions on a cost-sharing basis (the
“Technical Service”) to the Group on normal commercial
terms and at an arm’s length service fee equal to cost
plus a 5% mark-up, subject to a yearly cap on the amount
payable by the Group to ATS.
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The Technical Service Agreement is for an initial term
commencing on the Listing Date (30 December 2022) till
31 December 2024 with automatically subsequent renewal
for successive terms of three years subject to compliance
with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules, unless
either party issues a written notice of non-renewal or either
party terminates such agreement by giving six months’
written notice. Reference is made to the announcement of
the Company dated 19 December 2024, the Company and
ATS have renewed the Technical Service Agreement to 31
December 2027.

The maximum service fees payable by the Group to ATS
for the provision of the Technical Services for each of the
year ending 31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027 shall not
exceed USDO0.85 million, USD0.90 million and USDO0.95
million, respectively. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the total service fees paid/payable by the Group to
ATS was approximately USD0.58 million and was within the
annual cap of USD0.80 million. The pricing policies set out
in the Technical Service Agreement have been followed
when determining the price and terms of the transactions
conducted during the Reporting Year.

Japfa Ltd. is a close associate of controlling shareholders
(comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa,
the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis
Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment Holdings Limited,
Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe
Services Inc.) of the Company. Accordingly, Japfa Ltd. and
its subsidiary ATS are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules and the transaction between
ATS and the Company constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the above Technical Services Agreement
have been set out in the section “Connected Transactions”
in the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company
dated 19 December 2024.
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Supply Agreement

Annona Pte. Ltd., (“Annona”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Japfa Ltd. (a close associate of the controlling shareholder
of the Company) entered into a supply agreement
(the “Supply Agreement”) with the Company dated 14
December 2022, Annona has agreed to supply the feed
(such as alfalfa, hay and oats) and other agricultural
commodities, premixes and vitamins (the “Goods”) on
normal commercial terms and on CIF (cost, insurance,
freight) at the prevailing market price of similar Goods,
subject to an overall trading margin which is capped at
5% of Annona’s earnings before interest and tax for each
financial year.

The Supply Agreement is for a term commencing from the
Listing Date (30 December 2022) till 31 December 2024
with automatically subsequent renewal for successive
terms of three years subject to compliance with the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules, unless either party
terminates such agreement by giving one month’s written
notice. Reference is made to the announcement of the
Company dated 13 May 2024, the Company and Annona
have renewed the Supply Agreement to 30 June 2027.

The maximum purchase amounts payable by the Group
to Annona for the supply of the Goods for the year ending
31 December 2025 and 2026 and for the six months from
1 January 2027 to 30 June 2027 shall not exceed USD30
million, USD35 million and USD20 million, respectively.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total purchase
amounts paid/payable by the Group to Annona was
approximately USD23.61 million and was within the annual
cap of USD42 million. The pricing policies set out in the
Supply Agreement have been followed when determining
the price and terms of the transactions conducted during
the Reporting Year.
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Japfa is a close associate of controlling shareholders
(comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa,
the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis
Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment Holdings Limited,
Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe
Services Inc.) of the Company. Accordingly, Japfa and its
subsidiary Annona are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules and the transaction between
Annona and the Company constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Details of the above Supply Agreement have been set out
in the section “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus,
the announcements of the Company dated 1 March 2023
and 13 May 2024, and the circular of the Company dated
14 May 2024.

Raw Milk Purchase and Sale Agreement

Meiji Dairy (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Meiji Suzhou”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Meiji (China) Investment Company
Limited (controlling shareholder of the Company), entered
into an amended and restated a raw milk purchase and
sale agreement (the “Raw Milk Agreement”) among
Dongying Xianhe AustAsia, Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia
and its Xinhu branch company (the “Supply Subsidiaries”)
dated 14 December 2022 for the long-term supply of raw
milk. The Raw Milk Agreement is for a term commencing
from the Listing Date (30 December 2022) and expiring on
31 December 2027.

The maximum purchase amount payable by Meiji Suzhou
(and other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.) for raw milk supplied
by the Group to Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of
Meiji Co.) for the year ended 2023 and 2024 and ending
2025, 2026 and 2027 shall not exceed USD41 million,
USD47 million, USD56 million, USD68 million and USD77
million, respectively. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the total raw milk purchase amount paid/payable
by Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.) to
the Group was approximately USD23.92 million and was
within the annual cap of USD47 million. The pricing policies
set out in the Raw Milk Agreement have been followed
when determining the price and terms of the transactions
conducted during the Reporting Year.
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Meiji Suzhou is a subsidiary of Meiji (China) Investment
Company Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Accordingly, Meiji Suzhou is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules and the transaction
between Meiji Suzhou and the Company constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the above Supply Agreement have been
set out in the section “Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus.

Annual review on the continuing connected
transactions

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions mentioned above
pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules and confirmed
that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions had
been entered into are:

() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better to the Group;
and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor of the Company confirmed to the
Board that:
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
above transactions of the Group in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group above in
accordance with Listing Rules 14A.56. The auditor has the
following conclusions in the letter on continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the
Company’s board of directors;

(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that such
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions;

(iv) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of
the continuing connected transactions, nothing
has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set
by the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Saved as
disclosed in the paragraph below, the transactions with related
parties recorded during the year ended 31 December 2024 do
not constitute connected transaction nor continuing connected
transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.

The transactions of (i) Technical Services Agreement; (ii) Supply
Agreement; and (iii) Raw Milk Purchase and Sale Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of which
were disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

In April 2023, Shanghai AustAsia Food Co., Ltd. (L/8RHR A
FR A 7], hereafter referred to as “Shanghai AustAsia”) applied for
a preservation order against Hebei Yuanfuda Trading Group Co.,
Ltd. CAdLERERE £ B AR A R], hereafter referred to as “Hebei
Yuanfuda”) for failure to pay RMB7,223,812.5 for milk products
supplied to Hebi Yuanfuda under its procurement contract with
Shanghai AustAsia. The People’s Court of Lianchi District, Baoding
City ruled by the Second Instance Civil Judgment (Ji 0606, Min
Chu No. 5524 [2023]) to defer Shanghai AustAsia’s application
until after criminal charges against Hebi Yuanfuda have been
resolved.

On 8 December 2023, Shanghai AustAsia appealed against this
decision and was ruled against by the Intermediate People’s Court
of Baoding City (fREMHHFKARERL). Shanghai AustAsia will
continue to seek recovery from Hebei Yuanfuda once the criminal
proceedings against Hebei Yuanfuda have been completed.

Save as disclosed above, the Company was not involved in other
material litigation or arbitration during the Reporting Year. The
Directors are not aware of other material litigation or claims that
are pending or threatened against the Group for the Reporting
Year.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting will be scheduled on Wednesday,
21 May 2025 (the “AGM”"). A notice convening the AGM of the
Company will be issued and dispatched (if requested) to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the record date will be Wednesday, 21 May 2025 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
16 May 2025 to Wednesday, 21 May 2025 during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. All transfer documents of the
Company accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 15 May 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance practices.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
under the section “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report. Details of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee are given in the same
report. The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with
management the annual results and the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on the information
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Company has maintained the public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. There has been no change in the auditors of the
Company in the preceding three years.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any
significant investments (including any investment in an investee
company with a value of 5% or more of the Group's total assets as
at 31 December 2024).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
YEAR

On 24 February 2025, the Company entered into a USD25 million
facility agreement with a financial institution for the purpose of
providing working capital for the Group. The term of the facility
provided under this facility agreement is six months from the date
of the first drawdown of the facility agreement with an option to
extend for a further three months, which is subject to the financial
institution’s sole discretion.

On 26 March 2025, the Company entered into a USD8 million
facility agreement with a financial institution for the purpose of
financing the Group’s repayment of bank borrowings. The term
provided under this facility agreement is six months from the date
of the first drawdown.

OTHER DISCLOSURES

During the Reporting Year, the Company (i) other than trade
credits granted in the ordinary course of business did not make
any advance to any entity; (ii) did not have any breach in relation
to loan agreements; (iii) did not have any information about any
guarantee regarding the financial performance of a company or
business acquired needed to be disclosed.

EARE

R2024F 12 A31H » AR AW ERFE LM EKRE
B (BHFEP2024F 12 A31 HR IR E RN A0 T %
BEEMAEEBEENS%IAL) -

ERAREREREEN KRS

BAFEREMBEREESN  RALBEEGBERKRE
MEXREERE -
FBEFERNEAREE

MR2025F2 248 + ARAIE—REFEEET L —
HSEBELNRERE  AASEIEHEESR
& REZBREBZRHUENBENHRAERE R
FENIEDRBSREANEA  YAREBCER =
B ZTHHZEREE S ERIERE -

2025934268  ARRIE—REFMEBT L —
ESHBEITNME W - UAREBEERITER
REES - ZBEBRRENER S &5 XREIRA
HRREN@ER -

H i &=

R|EFE  ARA()RERFEEHBERREDN
BHEEN  UEAETAERELRR  ()LEE
RAERIBEAE R RZE ¢ (i)W E TR A ATk EA
AISEBNPBERBFLTARERENATHRE -



APPRECIATION

The Company would like to take this opportunity to thank the
management and all our employees for the contribution they
have made towards the Group’s continued progress and to our
shareholders, valuable customers, and business partners for their
support.

By Order of the Board
AustAsia Group Ltd.
TAN Yong Nang
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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The Board consists of three executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors

TAN Yong Nang (FR%F), aged 64, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 28 July 2010 and was
appointed as Executive Chairman on 1 April 2020. Mr. Tan was
last re-elected as an Executive Director on 5 June 2024. As the
Executive Chairman, Mr. Tan holds a leadership role in the board
of directors, focusing on setting the Company’s strategic direction,
directing the management and nurturing stakeholder relationships.
Mr. Tan is also the Chairman of Nomination Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Tan is also serving as the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Japfa Group since 2014. He joined Japfa
Group in May 2007, and had taken on many positions including
a director of PT Japfa Comfeed Indonesia, Tbk, a subsidiary of
Japfa.

Prior to joining the Japfa Group, Mr. Tan worked at PAMA
(Singapore) Private Limited and PT PAMA Ventura Indonesia, both
of which are subsidiaries of The Prudential Insurance Company
of America, where he served as, among other roles, a director
and a president director. After that, Mr. Tan joined Delifrance Asia
Ltd as its chief executive officer, responsible for executing the
overall business strategies, facilitating business development and
managing the operations of the company. Mr. Tan subsequently
joined Li & Fung Group as its project director and chief operating
officer.
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Mr. Tan obtained a bachelor of arts degree and a master of arts
degree from the University of Cambridge in the United Kingdom in
June 1983 and March 1987, respectively. He was also registered
as a Chartered Financial Analyst with The Institute of Chartered
Financial Analysts, US in September 1992.

Edgar Dowse COLLINS, aged 58, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 17 April 2009 and was last re-elected
on 7 June 2023. He has been the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since April 2009. He is primarily responsible for the
Group’s overall operations and management, in particular, the
day-to-day operation. He is the chairman of the ESG Committee of
the Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Collins has accumulated over 30 years of industry experience
having been involved in dairy farming and beef and cattle
operations throughout his career. He has been with the dairy
division of Japfa Group, since June 1999 and is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the dairy business and in charge
of formulating, developing and implementing both strategic and
long-term business plans for the dairy operations. From 1991
to 1999, Mr. Collins was the head of operations of PT Santosa
Agrindo, one of Japfa’'s subsidiaries, where he was involved in the
development of a cattle and beef business in Indonesia.

Mr. Collins obtained his high school diploma from The King’s
School, Sydney in December 1985.

YANG Ku (#%[E), aged 56, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 5 August 2020 and was last re-
elected on 7 June 2023. Mr. Yang has also been the chief
operating officer of the Group since October 2015. Mr. Yang
is primarily responsible for the day-to-day management and
operations of dairy farms in the PRC. Mr. Yang has more than 30
years of experience in dairy industry. Mr. Yang joined the Group
in October 2009 as a general manager where he was responsible
for the day-to-day management of farms in the PRC. Mr. Yang is
a member of the ESG Committee of the Company. He is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
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Prior to joining the Group, from August 1991 to August 2004, Mr.
Yang worked at Teaching Experiment Farm of Ningxia University
as a technician, where he was responsible for technical and
production management of the chicken, pig and cattle farms.
From August 2004 to September 2009, Mr. Yang worked at
Mengniu AustAsia Model Dairy Farm Co., Ltd. (AREESF R
REHBUISHEREML AT (now known as Modern Dairy (Helingeer)
Co., Ltd. CRARBE(RMIER)EBR A A])) (“Helingeer Dairy”), a then
subsidiary of the Group which was acquired by Modern Farming
(Group) Co., Ltd. CRRHZE(EB)AER~AR) (“Modern Farm”), a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Modern Dairy (as defined
below) in December 2008 and successively held positions as
feeding supervisor (responsible for the management of its feeding
division), dairy farm manager (responsible for the management of
the dairy farm) and general manager (responsible for the overall
management of the company).

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in animal husbandry
from School of Agriculture, Ningxia University (EE AXZEE[R)
(formerly known as Ningxia Agricultural College (2E 22Fft)) in
the PRC in July 1991 and a master's degree in animal nutrition
and feed science from Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences
(PEZERIER) in the PRC in July 2007. Mr. Yang was awarded
the certificate of Senior Animal Technician by the Personnel
Department of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region (EE [l ik BaE A
=E) in August 2005.

Non-Executive Directors

Tamotsu MATSUI (A# & EY), aged 62, has been nominated
by Meiji (China) Investment Company Limited and was elected
as a non-executive Director of the Company on 5 June 2024. He
is responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance on
corporate development and making recommendations on major
operational and management decisions. Mr. Matsui was appointed
as a member of the Audit Committee of the Company on 5 June
2024.
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Mr. Matsui has around 38 years of experience in the dairy
business. He joined Meiji Co., Ltd. ("“Meiji”) in April 1986 where
he worked at production dept. at Sendai Plant until June 1987.
Between 1987-2011, Mr. Matsui served in various positions in Meiji
such as the IT dept., Corporate Planning Corporate Production
Management Department in headquarters as well as in various
plants such as Kanagawa plant, Tokachi plant and Moriya plant
where he was responsible for production planning, quality control,
cost management and capital investment plannings.

Mr. Matsui was promoted and served as (i) the General Manager
of Okayama plant (2012-2014), (ii) Vice President of CP Meiji Co.,
Ltd., a Meiji Dairy joint venture company in Thailand (2014-2017),
(iii) General Manager, Dairy Business Dept, International Business
Division, Meiji (2017-2020), (iv) General Manager, Strategic
Planning Dept., International Business Division, Meiji (2020-2021),
(v) Executive Officer, Meiji (2021-2023) and (vi) President, Meiji
(China) Investment Company Limited in China (2021-31 March
2024) and is currently serving as Managing Executive Officer,
Global Business/Asia Pacific Region, Meiji.

GAO Lina (SE ), aged 68 was appointed as Executive Director
of the company on 22 December 2021 and was last re-elected as
a Non-Executive Director on 7 June 2023.

Ms. Gao has over 17 years of extensive experience in dairy
industry. Ms. Gao co-founded the Modern Dairy Group (as
defined below) and had been the executive director and the
chief executive officer of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (%
B4R EEIAR AR (“China Modern Dairy”, together with
its subsidiaries, “Modern Dairy Group”), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117) in November 2008, for nearly
13 years. Ms. Gao retired from these positions with effect from
1 July 2022. Prior to this, Ms. Gao had accumulated significant
experience in cross-border trading, resource integration and
administrative management. Ms. Gao was the general manager
of Tai'an Foreign General Trade Corporation (ZEZMINE AN T])
between October 1993 to June 2005. Ms. Gao was the director
general of Tai’an Municipal Trade Promotion Bureau (&M
/) between October 2003 and June 2005.
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Over the years, Ms. Gao has received various awards and
accolades acknowledging her accomplishments. For example,
she was awarded Tai'an City Excellent Entrepreneur in Reforming
and Enterprising Endeavours (RLTHRELLELNEFTLER)
in 2004. Ms. Gao was awarded the Scientific and Technological
Progress Award (Class 1 of Promotion Category) (RFHEH i 2 12
HEHE—%4) by the Ministry of Education of the PRC in January
2013, and Ms. Gao was granted the honour of Top 10 Business
Leaders in China Economy (FBI&E+ KEEEM) at the 2014
China Economic Summit Forum & The 12th Annual Meeting of
China Economic Characters. Ms. Gao was awarded Best CEO in
Institutional Investors — Survey Report on All Asian Management
Team 2016 ("#EHREE —2016F 2 BMERBEKRASTRE PHE
CEO) and 2017 China Financial Market Awards e Best Corporate
Leader of the Year (2017 1 Bl gt & K #e F [H ix fF (> E M ). Ms,
Gao was awarded the Meritorious Person of the Chinese Dairy
Industry (FFEIIZEINEIAY) by the Dairy Association of China (/1
B E) in 2018, the Top Ten Influential Women in China’s
Economy (FFE4E+RKFE M) at Boao Enterprise Forum in
2019, 2020 Best Manager & Operator of the Year (FE&EKLE A
&EHEF) at the NetEase New Energy Dairy Industry Summit Forum
and the Outstanding Contribution Award for the High Quality
Development of the Dairy Industry (JHEEEHEERLEEEE) by
National Dairy Science and Technology Innovation Alliance (BIZX

PERZ AR ).

Ms. Gao completed an undergraduate course at Tai'an Municipal
CPC Party School (FHZFEZMZEER) majoring in economic
management in December 1999.

Gabriella SANTOSA, aged 32, was elected as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 7 June 2023. She is primarily
responsible for providing a wealth of knowledge and experience
in animal health, biologics and genetics to the Group. Ms.
Gabriella SANTOSA is a member of Remuneration Committee of
the Company.

Ms. Santosa is responsible for the expansion of Japfa's network
and partnership mainly in animal health, digital and biological
technology solutions, and drives cross-divisional initiatives. In
addition, she explores and evaluates new venture potential in both
new growth areas and existing operations and focus resources
to support technological efficiencies and innovation in current
operational process.
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Ms. Santosa was appointed Head of Projects in PT Japfa Comfeed
Indonesia Tbk in March 2024 and also holds the position as
Deputy Head of Animal Health and Livestock Equipment since
2017, where she is responsible for improving processes and
systems within the business and the key expansion initiatives for
new products, markets and technologies.

She joined Japfa Ltd as a Business Executive in 2016 and was
promoted to her current role as Head of Business Development &
Strategy since August 2022.

Ms. Gabriella Santosa completed her Bachelor of Science in
Biochemistry with a year in Industry from the Imperial College
London, UK, in 2016. She was selected as Forbes 30 under 30
(Europe 2019) under Manufacturing and Industry stream as Co-
founder of Puraffinity, a deep tech start-up that has accumulated
over $17m in funding. This venture has also recognised her as
a 2016 finalist for the Innovate UK ‘Women in Innovation’ grant,
and author and owner of papers and patents in the biomaterials
space.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

SUN Patrick (£ %), aged 66, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 5 December 2022
and re-elected on 7 June 2023. He is primarily responsible
for providing strategic advice and guidance and providing
independent judgement and advice to the Board. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company, and a member
of Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company.
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In addition to his position at the Company, Mr. Sun has been an
independent non-executive director of Kunlun Energy Company
Limited, which is engaged in domestic and international oil-gas
exploration and development and listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0135), since February 2016 and an independent
non-executive director of Ferretti S.p.A., which is engaged in
the design, construction and sale of luxury yachts and listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9638), since December 2022.
Additionally, Mr. Sun was an independent non-executive director
of Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd., a pharmaceutical
company and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0460)
from October 2010 to April 2023, an independent non-executive
director of China Railway Construction Corporation Limited,
which is engaged in transportation infrastructure construction
services and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1186) and
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601186), from October
2014 to December 2022 and an independent non-executive
director of CRRC Corporation Limited, which is engaged in
manufacturing and distribution of railway transportation equipment
and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1766) and
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601766), from May 2015
to December 2022.

Mr. Sun was the group executive director and head of investment
banking for Greater China at Jardine Fleming Holdings Limited
from December 1996 to 2000 and the senior country officer and
head of investment banking for Hong Kong of JPMorgan Chase
from 2000 to March 2002. Subsequent to that, Mr. Sun was an
executive director of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited
(formerly known as SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 0188) between September 2004 and May 2006
and an executive director and chief executive officer of Value
Convergence Holdings Limited (stock code: 0821) from August
2006 to October 2009 (both companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange).
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Mr. Sun was formerly the Chairman of the Chamber of Hong Kong
Listed Companies from 2013 to 2015. He was a member of the
Takeovers & Mergers Panel and the Takeovers Appeal Committee
of SFC from 1995 to 1997 and from 1999 to 2001, respectively.
Mr. Sun was a member of the Council and the deputy chairman
of the Listing Committee and of the Stock Exchange from 1995 to
2000 and from 2000 to 2002, respectively.

Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor of science degree in economics
from Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, the
United States, in May 1981. Mr. Sun also completed the Stanford
Executive Program of Stanford Business School, the United
States, in 2000. Mr. Sun is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the United Kingdom, and a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

LI Shengli (ZB7#), aged 59, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 5 December 2022.
He was re-elected as a Director on 5 June 2024. Professor Li is
primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance
and providing independent judgement and advice to the Board.
He is a member of Nomination Committee and ESG Committee of
the Company.
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Since 2003, Professor Li has been with China Agricultural
University (REIEZEKXE),
assistant professor and professor. Professor Li is currently the
vice president of Dairy Association of China. In 2005, Professor
Li obtained a patent on Rubeili (2Lf&7F]), a type of high-energy
and high-protein supplementary feed for dairy cows. Over the
years, Professor Li has received various awards and accolades
acknowledging his accomplishments. For instance, he was
awarded the second prize and a prize of the Beijing Science
and Technology Award (It RMEIZRETE#E) in 2000 and 2011,
respectively, and was recognised by the Beijing Municipal
Government as “Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to the
Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” (FXBE2 A4
EEETE"RHETEE) in 2009. He also received the first prize
of Science and Technology Progress Award awarded by the
Ministry of Education of the PRC (B SEHZ# 26 48) in 2012, the
first prize for Chinese Agricultural Science Technology Progress
awarded by the Ministry of Agriculture of the PRC (FFEEEERIK
#H—%48) in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific
and Technological Progress Award (B R BBl FE =5 48) in
2014.

working at various times as an

Professor Li has been an independent non-executive director
of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a dairy farm operator and
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117), since October
2010, an independent director of Zhejiang Yiming Food Co., Ltd.
(MI—ER MM ERAR]), which is engaged in dairy farming,
manufacturing and sale of dairy products and listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 605179), from 2018 to 2020 and
an independent director of Xinjiang Tianrun Dairy Co., Ltd. (#7158
* BILEMMD BB AF), which is engaged in manufacturing and
sale of dairy products and listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600419), from 2020 to 2021. Additionally, Professor
Li was an independent non-executive director of China Zhongdi
Dairy Holdings Company Limited, a dairy farm operator which was
listed on the Stock Exchange in December 2015 and delisted due
to privatisation in June 2022 (previous stock code: 1492), from
February 2015 to December 2021 and an independent director
of Beijing Scitop Bio-tech Co., Ltd. (At ZREHAEBEMHITRHDE
fRA7\]), which is engaged in lactic acid bacteria research and
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300858), from
December 2019 to November 2020.
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Professor Li obtained a bachelor's degree in animal husbandry
and veterinary science graduated from Shihezi Agricultural
College (FAAF2EPFE) (currently known as Shihezi University
(BAFKE)) in the PRC in July 1987 and a master's degree
in animal husbandry and nutrition from Xinjiang Agricultural
University (¥TIEZ2%AZ) in the PRC in June 1993. He then
obtained his doctorate degree in animal nutrition science from
China Agricultural University in the PRC in July 1996.

CHANG Pan, Peter (3R%), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent Director on 5 August 2020 and was redesignated
as an Independent Non-executive Director on 24 March 2022.
Mr. Chang is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice
and guidance and providing independent judgement and advice
to the Board. He is the chairman of Remuneration Committee of
the Company and a member of Audit Committee of the Company.
From October 2010 to December 2024, Mr. Chang served as the
independent director of Dongying AustAsia and several other
operating subsidiaries of the Company in China and provided
independent advice and judgement on the operations and
management of the subsidiaries on issues relating to the PRC
business, strategy and performance as well as relationships with
key stakeholders.

Mr. Chang is an entrepreneur with extensive experience in
corporate management and investments. Since August 2004,
Mr. Chang founded several companies under the brand of KAIA
Group in Singapore, China and Malaysia which are engaged in
property development, new material manufacturing and private
equity investments (“KAIA Group”). Mr. Chang has served as the
chairman and has been actively involved in the KAIA Group’s
development over the past years. Prior to founding KAIA Group,
Mr. Chang had years of experience spanning across consultancy,
property investment and power plants business. Mr. Chang
worked at Paclantic Pte Ltd as its director until February 1997,
where he was mainly responsible for oversight of company’s
consultancy and property investment business. From March
1997 to July 2004, Mr. Chang held positions of director, chief
executive officer and president of AsiaPower Corporation Limited,
a company mainly engaged in power plants management and
operation which was voluntarily delisted from the SGX-ST in May
2014 (previous stock code: A03).
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Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor of engineering degree from Harbin
Institute of Technology (MEE T AKE) in the PRC in July 1984
and a doctor of philosophy (Ph.D) degree from Loughborough
University of Technology in the United Kingdom in September
1989. Mr. Chang was elected a graduate of the Institution of
Engineering and Technology (formerly the Institution of Production
Engineers) in the United Kingdom in October 1990.

Senior Management

TAN Yong Nang (FR% ), aged 64, is the Executive Chairman of
the Company. His biographical details are set out above under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Edgar Dowse COLLINS, aged 58, is the Executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company. His biographical details
are set out above under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

YANG Ku (#E), aged 56, is the Executive Director and chief
operating officer of the Company. His biographical details are
set out above under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

CHEN Yuan (PfiE), aged 55, has been the chief finance officer
of the Group since July 2021 and is primarily responsible for the
financial and risk management, capital markets, investor relations
of the Group.
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Mr. Chen has around 18 years of experience spanning across
investment banking, securities underwriting, equity capital market
and corporate finance. From January 1995 to September 1999,
Mr. Chen worked at China Southern Securities Co., Ltd. (F
FEHAEMRAR) as the manager of securities underwriting in
international business department, where he was responsible for
underwriting and listing of Chinese B shares. From March 2002
to July 2002, Mr. Chen worked at Standard Capital Brokerage
Limited as a business development manager. From July 2002 to
December 2003, Mr. Chen worked at Polaris Capital (Asia) Limited
(formerly known as GC Capital (Asia) Limited) as an associate
director of equity capital market division. Mr. Chen joined Piper
Jaffray Asia Securities Limited (formerly known as Goldbond
Securities Limited) in April 2006 as a director of equity capital
market division and was designated as the principal in October
2007, and Mr. Chen subsequently served as the head of Hong
Kong equity capital market division from August 2008 to April
2009. From April 2009 to September 2010, Mr. Chen held the
positions as managing director and head of institutional sales at
China Everbright Limited.

In September 2010, Mr. Chen joined Fufeng Group Limited
(“Fufeng Group”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0546), as the vice general manager, and subsequently
served as the executive director and chief financial officer
from November 2010 to December 2014, during which he was
responsible for matters relating to corporate finance, capital
markets, investor relations, corporate development and other
financial management. Subsequent to that, Mr. Chen served as
the chief financial officer at Hyalroute Communication Group
Limited (formerly known as International Telecommunication Group
Holdings Limited), a telecom infrastructures provider in Southeast
Asia, where he was primarily responsible for formulating the
financial strategies and directing financial management functions
of the company. Mr. Chen then rejoined Fufeng Group in July
2017 and served as the chief financial officer until June 2021.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Xiamen
University (EPIAKE) in the PRC in July 1991 and a Master of
Business Administration in international banking and finance from
Birmingham Business School of the University of Birmingham in
the United Kingdom in December 2001.
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Mr. Chen ranked as one of the best CFOs by Finance Asia in the
Best Companies Polls covering Hong Kong, Mainland China and
Taiwan in March 2014.

ZHANG Haicheng (5&#&H), aged 45, has been the operation
general manager of the Group since January 2019 and is primarily
responsible for the day-to-day management of dairy farms in the
PRC. Mr. Zhang has more than 16 years of experience in dairy
farm management and operation. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in
September 2009 as a deputy dairy farm manager of Dongying
AustAsia, our principal operating subsidiary in the PRC, and
successively served in its information division and farm operation
manager from August 2010 to April 2013. Mr. Zhang worked as
a dairy farm manager at Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia, our other
principal operating subsidiaries in the PRC, from May 2013 to
December 2014. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the dairy farm
deputy general manager of the Group in January 2015, and
successively promoted to be the general manager in Shandong
region in January 2017 and the operation general manager in
January 2019.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang joined Helingeer Dairy as the
information division manager in October 2005. From September
2009 to July 2010, Mr. Zhang worked at Modern Farm as a deputy
manager of information division.

Mr. Zhang obtained a college degree in computer and
applications from Inner Mongolia University of Technology (A& &
T %K) in the PRC in July 2003.
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COMPANY SECRETARIES
Singapore Company Secretary

Ms. CHUA Sook Ping Christina (%), aged 58, was
appointed as the Singapore Company Secretary of the Company
on 5 January 2012. Ms. Chua joined Japfa Group in 2010 and
currently holds the position of head of legal and compliance in
Japfa. Ms. Chua will continue to oversee all legal, compliance
and secretarial functions of operations of the Japfa Group and
company secretarial affairs of the Group following the completion
of the Japfa Distribution and the Global Offering.

Ms. Chua has more than 30 years of experience as a lawyer.
She joined Drew & Napier LLC in 1990 and later joined Rajah &
Tann LLP in 2007. During her time in practice, Ms. Chua was a
director at Drew & Napier LLC and later a partner at Rajah & Tann
LLP, and was recommended in the 2003/2004, 2004/2005 and
2006/2007 editions of The Asia Pacific Legal 500 for Mergers &
Acquisitions.

She was also named in Who's Who Legal (Singapore) 2007
for Mergers & Acquisitions and the International Tax Review
2004. She was named a highly recommended tax practitioner in
Practical Law Company’'s Which Lawyer? Yearbook Singapore
(2008).

Ms. Chua obtained a bachelor’s degree in Laws from the National
University of Singapore in June 1989 in Singapore. She is an
advocate and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore and
was admitted to the Singapore Bar in March 1990. She has been
a member of the Law Society of Singapore since 1990.
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Hong Kong Secretary

Ms. HO Wing Nga (fi#% %), was appointed as the Hong Kong
Secretary of the Company on 24 March 2022.

Ms. Ho currently serves as the managing director, head of
governance services, of an external governance services
provider. She is currently a joint company secretary and the
company secretary of various companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Ms. Ho has over 25 years of experience in corporate
secretarial services. She obtained a master's degree in corporate
governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
December 2006 and became an associate of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (the “HKCGI”, previously known
as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) in the same
month. In March 2015, Ms. Ho became a fellow of both the HKCGI
and The Chartered Governance Institute. She is also a holder of
the practitioner’s endorsement of HKCGI and a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. She is not a “secretary” of the
Company as defined in the Singapore Companies Act.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors confirm that
there is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or
“Director(s)”) is pleased to report to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) on the corporate governance
practices for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting
Year”).

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance so as to deliver long-term and sustained value for
the Shareholders. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to provide an effective
Board, prudent risk management and internal control system,
transparency and quality disclosure, and accountability towards
Shareholders and other stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of corporate
governance practices, and the CG Code has been applicable to
the Company with effect from 30 December 2022 (the “Listing
Date”).

The Board recognises certain internal control weaknesses.
As announced on 17 April 2024, the Board will (i) engage
an external and independent internal controls consultant to
conduct a review of the Group’s internal control procedures,
(ii) address any deficiencies identified in that internal controls
review and implement appropriate remediation steps, taking
into consideration the recommendations of the internal controls
consultant, and (iii) implement additional procedures to strengthen
the Group’s internal controls to identify, monitor transactions and
arrangements which may constitute connected transactions and
ensure that such arrangements and transactions are identified and
the applicable Listing Rules are complied with in a timely manner
in the future, including promptly making the necessary disclosure
and, if needed, obtaining independent shareholders’ approval. In
addition, the Company will:
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(a) engage a compliance adviser for an additional year;

(b) procure appropriate external service providers to conduct
refresher training on the Listing Rules and compliance for
Directors and the heads and deputy heads of the Group’s
key business and compliance functions (human resources,
finance, legal and compliance, internal controls and
administration and procurement); and

(c) convene regular meetings amongst senior management
and the heads of the Group’s key business and compliance
functions to discuss and monitor the sufficiency.

Updates to the date of this annual report:

(a) the Company has engaged a compliance adviser up till 30
April 2025 and has recently extended such engagement till
30 April 2026;

(b) refresher trainings on the connected transactions were
provided by our Hong Kong legal adviser in May 2024 for
some of our Directors and the heads and deputy heads of
the Group’s key business and compliance functions (human
resources, finance, legal and compliance, internal controls
and administration and procurement). Subsequently, the
Company arranged more Listing Rules related trainings
with external service providers in September 2025 for
Directors and heads of key business and compliance
functions;

(c) a review of the Group’s internal controls in relation to the
compliance with Listing Rules has been conducted by an
external and independent risk advisory service provider.
The review findings, together with remedy actions by the
management, have been reported to the Audit Committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the Board
in August 2024. A follow-up review has been conducted
by the service provider with the follow-up report issued
in September 2024. The remedy actions agreed by the
management have been implemented; and
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(d) the Company has convened bi-weekly meeting since April
2024 amongst senior management and the heads of the
Group’s key business and compliance functions to discuss
and monitor the compliance with Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has complied with the CG Code during
the Reporting Year and up to the date of this annual report.
The Company will continue the regular review and consistent
monitoring of its corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code and maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions, and the Model Code
has been applicable to the Company with effect from the Listing
Date.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry made
by the Company, that they have complied with the guidelines
contained in the Model Code during the Reporting Year. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code was noted by the
Company during the Reporting Year and up to the date of this
annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The
Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors, which include:

(a) the development and review of the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Year, the Company has complied with the
provision of:

o C.5.1 of the CG Code which stipulates that Board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals; and

o C.2.7 of the CG Code which stipulates that the Board
Chairman should at least annually hold a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors.

CULTURE AND STRATEGY OF THE COMPANY

Our vision is to become one of the TOP 3 dairy farm operators
in the world in terms of OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY and ECO-
SUSTAINABILITY and our mission is to provide quality and safe
animal protein. We place values on simplicity, self-discipline,
enthusiasm, positive-attitude and health and safety in the conduct
of our operations.

The Company focus on creating long-term value for stakeholders
in a responsible and sustainable way. To achieve our vision,
we intend to pursue a comprehensive strategy focused on the
following:

. Continue to improve our operating efficiency and diversify
our customer base;

° Upgrade our beef cattle business to premium markets;
° Enhance in-house integration through genetic breeding
technology and feed mill operation to further improve our

operational efficiency; and

o Build a sustainable business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
businesses, strategic decisions and performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and takes decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company. The daily management of
the Group's business is delegated to the Executive Committee
(including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer
and Chief Financial Officer) and the management under the
supervision of the executive Directors of the Company.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good
faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine (9)
Directors, of which, three (3) are Executive Directors, three (3)
are Non-executive Directors, and three (3) are Independent Non-
executive Directors. There are two (2) female Directors and seven
(7) male Directors. Four (4) are Chinese national Directors and
five (5) are non-Chinese national Directors.

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Yong Nang (Executive Chairman)
Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YANG Ku (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. GAO Lina

Mr. Tamotsu MATSUI (appointed on 5 June 2024)
Ms. Gabriella SANTOSA

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki (retired on 5 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Independent Board Committee)

Mr. SUN Patrick (Chairman)
Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter
Mr. LI Shengli
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The Board comprises members (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) with diverse professional and/or educational
backgrounds which includes accounting, corporate finance,
management and industry expertise. It brings a diverse and
balance set of skills and experience to the Board, contributing to
the effective direction of the Group.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the “Directors
and Senior Management” section of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there has been no
relationship (neither financial, business nor family or other
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board as
at the date of this annual report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Throughout the Reporting Year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with at least one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

At the annual review of independence status of Independent
Directors, the Board noted that the Company has received a
written confirmation from each of the independent directors that
there is no change or impending change in their respective
personal particulars that may affect their independent status set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Company’s Prospectus, Mr. Chang Pan, Peter
has served AustAsia for an aggregate period of more than nine
years where he was appointed as an Independent Director of
our subsidiary company, Dongying AustAsia Modern Dairy Farm
Co., Ltd (Dongying AustAsia) on 13 October 2010 and he did not
receive any fees/remuneration for his service as an Independent
Director from FY2019 to FY2022.

The Board has considered and are of the view that Mr. Chang
Pan, Peter's prior appointment as an Independent Director of
Dongying AustAsia would not affect his current independent
status.

The Board considered the conduct by each of the Independent
Directors at the Board meeting and is of the view that each
of the independent Director is free from any relationships and
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
their independent judgement.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
overseeing the Group's strategic decisions, monitors business
and performance, monitor the financial performance, and internal
control and risk management system.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are particularly
responsible for bringing an independent judgement on the Board.
They take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise
and monitor the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives and the relevant reporting.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of liability arising from legal action against its Directors,
and will conduct annual review on such insurance coverage.

Appointment and Re-appointment of the Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Constitution. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

Directors are subject to the provision of retirement and rotation
of directors under the Constitution. Pursuant to the Constitution
34.1, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
(8) years.

Pursuant to Constitution 34.8, any person so appointed either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director by the Directors
shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting after
his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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All Directors have entered into the letters of appointment with
the Company and subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms and may be renewed in accordance with the
Constitution and the applicable Listing Rules

Directors’ service contracts range from one to three years
commencing from the Listing Date and may be renewed from the
date of their re-election at the AGM. Their service contract may
be terminated by the Company under certain circumstances,
including but not limited to, breach of the Director’'s obligations
under the contract or misconducts.

The appointments of our Directors are also subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
Constitution. The total compensation of the Executive Directors
and key executives of the Company are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee on an annual basis. The variable
component of the remuneration is subjected to adjustments. When
determining the fixed and variable component for the Executive
Directors and key executives, the individual performance is
taken into consideration and remuneration recommendations are
reviewed based on competitive market practices and information
gathered from market surveys. Executive Directors are employees
of the Company do not receive Directors’ fee.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a policy of “diversity from inclusiveness — the
best person for the job regardless of gender, age, race, religion,
social and cultural background”.

All Board appointments are made on the merit of the candidates,
in the context of the skills, knowledge and experience the Board
as a whole requires and the contribution which such candidates
will bring to the Board, and taking into account, the regulatory
requirements and the factors relevant to the Company’s business.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring that gender
diversity objectives are adopted in board recruitment, board
performance evaluation and succession planning processes. |t
will consider the balance in board composition in terms of skills,
experience, independence as well as diversity in carrying out the
annual performance assessment on the effectiveness of the Board,
the Board Committees and individual Directors. The Nomination
Committee periodically identifies and, when suitable, recommends
suitable candidates to the Board for consideration for appointment
as a Director and ensure that there is at least one director with
different gender. The Company also ensures that gender diversity
is considered when recruiting staff so as to develop a pipeline of
female management members.

The Board, with the support from the Nomination Committee,
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy and considered that the requirements had been
met during the Reporting Year. Regarding the gender diversity,
the Board currently has 2 female directors, accounting for 22.22%.

The Company is committed to maintaining a suitable working
environment of respect for people regardless of their gender in all
business dealings and achieving a workplace environment free of
harassment and discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or
mental state, ethnicity, nationality, religion, age or family status.
As at 31 December 2024, female employees (including senior
management) accounted for 21.34% of the workforce of the Group
(as at 31 December 2023: 21.79%).

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
not to be performed by the same individual to avoid power being
concentrated in any one individual. Mr. Tan Yong Nang is the
Chairman of the Board, and Mr. Edgar Dowse Collins is the Chief
Executive Officer.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
segregated with a clear division of responsibilities, the role of
chairman of the Board is responsible for strategic planning of the
Group and the management of the Board, the role of the chief
executive officer is responsible for the Group’s overall operation
and management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Delegation by the Board

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and ESG Committee (collectively, the
“Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee of the Board in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference of the Audit Committee are available for inspection on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three members, two of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. SUN Patrick (Chairman) and Mr. CHANG
Pan, Peter, and one Non-executive Director, Mr. Tamotsu MATSUI.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in discharging its statutory duties and responsibilities relating to
accounting and reporting practices of the Group. The key duties
and responsibilities include:

o overseeing the financial reporting and reviewing the
financial information of the Group;

o considering issues relating to the external auditors and
their appointment; and

o reviewing the internal controls systems of the Group
(including financial, operational, compliance, information

technology controls and risk management processes).

3 Audit Committee meetings were held during the Reporting Year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and has met with the independent auditor, Ernst & Young.
The Audit Committee considered that the annual results are in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and
regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures
thereof.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee of
the Board in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The
written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available for inspection on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, two of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter (Chairman) and Mr.
SUN Patrick, and one Non-executive Director, Ms. Gabriella
SANTOSA.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

o making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy;

o reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

o either (i) determining, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management or (ii) making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. This should
include benefits-in-kind, pension rights and compensation
payments (including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment); and

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors.
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2 Remuneration Committee meetings were held during the
Reporting Year.

Subsequent to 31 December 2024 and to the date of this annual
report, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held to
discuss and consider the following matters:

. recommendation to the Board the remuneration packages
of Executive Directors, Non-executive Director and senior
management in respect of the year ended 31 December
2024; and

o recommendation to the Board the remuneration packages
of Non-executive Directors for the coming AGM.

Directors’ Fee for Non-Executive Directors and the total
compensation for Executive Directors and Key Executives of
the Company are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on
an annual basis. The variable component of the remuneration
Executive Directors and Key Executives are subjected to
adjustments. When determining the fixed and variable component
of the total compensation for the Executive Directors and Key
Executives, individual performance is taken into consideration
and remuneration recommendations are reviewed based on
competitive market practices and information gathered from
market surveys. Executive Directors are employees of the
Company do not receive Directors’ fee.

Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management

The aggregate amount of the fees, salaries, housing allowances,
other allowances, benefits in kind (including contributions to
pension schemes) and bonuses and share-based payment
expenses paid by the Group to Directors for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The level of remuneration is mainly based on the experience,
scope of duties, work performance and time committed to the
Company, prevailing market rates, salaries paid by comparable
companies and remuneration packages elsewhere in the
Group. The remuneration payable to the Directors and senior
management of the Company fell within the following bands for
the year 2024:
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RMBO to RMB2,000,000 AR¥0TZE AR 2,000,0007T 6
RMB2,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 AR#2,000,0017cE ARK3,000,0007T 2
RMB3,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 AR ¥3,000,00170E AR 4,000,0007T 1
RMB4,000,001 to RMB5,000,000 AR #4,000,0017t2 AR5 000,0007T 1
RMB5,000,001 to RMB6,000,000 AR #5,000,001 T2 AR¥6,000,0007T 2

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee of the
Board as recommended by the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available for inspection on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three members, including one Executive Director, Mr.
TAN Yong Nang (Chairman), and two Independent Non-executive
Directors, Mr. SUN Patrick and Mr. LI Shengli.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include:

. reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) required of the
Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

° formulating and reviewing the policy of diversity of
Board members as appropriate, ensuring that gender
diversity objectives are adopted in Board recruitment,
Board performance evaluation and succession planning
processes, and preparing the appropriate disclosure on
the diversity policy in the corporate governance report;
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o considering the balance in Board composition in terms
of skills, experience, independence as well as diversity
in carrying out its annual performance assessment on
the effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and
individual Directors; and

o giving full consideration to succession planning for
Directors and other senior executives in the course of its
work, taking into account the challenges and opportunities
facing the Company and what skills and expertise are
therefore needed on the Board in the future.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence (for
appointment of independent non-executive Directors), and
Board diversity aspects, where appropriate, before making its
recommendation to the Board.

2 Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Reporting
Year.

ESG Committee

The Company has established the ESG Committee of the Board.
The written terms of reference of the ESG Committee are available
for inspection on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the ESG Committee
comprises three members, including two Executive Directors, Mr.
Edgar Dowse COLLINS (Chairman) and Mr. YANG Ku, and one
Independent Non-executive Director, Mr. LI Shengli.

The primary duties of the ESG Committee include:

° formulating, reviewing and approving or recommending
to the Board for approval, the vision, mission, objectives,
strategies, management structure, policies, risk profile, and
metrics, targets and key performance indicators (together,
“KPIs") relating to ESG;
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. assessing the achievement of strategies and KPls on
a yearly basis and giving advice to the Board and
Management for the development of such strategies;

o reviewing the main trends in ESG;

o identifying the risks and opportunities (including climate-
related) related to ESG; and

° reviewing and approving the Company’s annual ESG report
to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

2 ESG Committee meetings were held during the Reporting Year.

Independent Board Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Independent Board
Committee (“IBC”) comprises 3 Independent Non-executive
Directors, Mr. SUN Patrick (Chairman), Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter and
Mr. LI Shengli.

The IBC is responsible for bringing an independent judgement on
the Board. It reviews and consider on connected and/or material
transactions, taking into account the recommendation of an
independent financial adviser where applicable, and advises the
Board and/or shareholders on:

o whether the terms of the connected transaction considered
are fair and reasonable;

o whether the proposed connected transaction is on normal
commercial terms or better and in the ordinary and usual

course of business of the Group;

o whether the connected transaction is in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole; and

o how to vote (“for” or “against”) the proposed connected
transaction.

1 IBC meeting was held during the Reporting Year.
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Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals in accordance with the CG Code. Notices of no less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are sent to the Directors or Board
Committee members at least 3 days before the meetings, and all
Directors have full and timely access to the senior management
for any information to enable them to make informed decisions
and perform their duties and responsibilities.

Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the Company Secretary with
copies circulated to all Directors for information and records.
Minutes of Board meeting and meetings of Board Committees are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors
for comments within a reasonable time after the date on which
the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by the Directors.
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A summary of the attendance records of each Director at Board U TABUEENREERELEEES  -ZEES
meetings, committee meetings and general meetings during the EMBREASHEEEEE
Reporting Year is set out below:
No. of meetings attended
LEEERY
Remuneration ~ Nomination ESG General
Board Audit Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee* ~ Committee IBC Meeting
A BiZ88 FMEREE RHEZRY* ESGEEE BUESZRE BRRKE
Tan Yong Nang 5/5 - 2[2n 2[2 - - i
Gt
Edgar Dowse Collins 5/5 2/3 1128 1218 2/2 - 11
Edgar Dowse Collins
YANG Ku 5/5 - - 121 2/2 - -
BE
Gao Lina 4/5 - - 1/2n - - -
=EH
Tamotsu MATSUI 2[2 2/2 - - - - il
(elected on 5 June 2024)
Tamotsu MATSUI
(R202456A5AEE)
Gabriella Santosa 3/5 - 2/2 1/27 - - i
Gabriella Santosa
Hirata Toshiyuki 313 1 - 1/2n - - il
(retired on 5 June 2024)
FHET
(R202456 A5AERM)
Sun Patrick 5/5 33 2/2 2/2 - /1 1
Chang Pan, Peter 415 33 2/2 1/2n - il il
R
Li Shengli 3/5 - - 2/2 2/2 11 -
&l
A By invitation N JEH
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Our Directors generally keep themselves updated on new laws
and regulations as well as changes in the industry and general
economic environment. Where required, the Company engages
external lawyers or service providers to brief the Board on
material changes to their statutory duties and to update them on
material changes in laws and regulations. External seminars and
conferences are arranged for the Directors when appropriate.
During the Reporting Year, the Company engaged external service
providers to provide trainings on update of requirement of Listing
Rules for the Directors.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the purpose
of the Company. Mr. Tamotsu MATSUIl who was elected during
the Reporting Year obtained the legal advice from Woo Kwan Lee
& Lo and has confirmed his understanding of the obligations as a
director on 31 May 2024.

All Director and the Singapore Company Secretary have disclosed
their training received and/or materials read during the Reporting
Year and the training record are maintained by the Singapore
Company Secretary.
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approximately 21 hours of training for Directors.
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Directors’ duties

and responsibilities,
corporate governance
and ESG matters,
updates on HKEX
Listing Rules, and

Directors others
EERERERE -
TEERUR
ESGEIE -
BT LR B
2= BEHER R HA
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. TAN Yong Nang PRES A o v
Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS Edgar Dowse COLLINS 4 v/
Mr. YANG Ku HEEE v/
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Ms. GAO Lina =BT v
Mr. Tamotsu MATSUI Tamotsu MATSUISE4E v
Ms. Gabriella SANTOSA Gabriella SANTOSAZ & v
Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki FHETEE v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. SUN Patrick FEELE v/
Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter RALA v
Mr. LI Shengli FEHENEE v/
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company has established risk management systems
consisting of appropriate policies and procedures, and we
continue to improve these systems. The Company has adopted,
among other things, the following risk management measures:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Board is responsible for monitoring our internal control
system, reviewing its effectiveness, and maintaining the
Company’s risk at an appropriate and effective level. A
review of the Group's risk management and internal control
system has been conducted and will be conducted at least
annually, which will include a review of all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls;

All departments are required to proactively identify the
risks they face and various internal and external factors
that affect the occurrence of the risks; and

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group with the support from
the Internal Audit Department at least twice a year. The
Internal Audit Department conducts risk-based audits to
assess the effectiveness of internal control systems and
reports to the Audit Committee on the control deficiencies
identified and corresponding remedy actions taken by the
management. The Board is of the view that such systems
are generally effective and adequate.

The Company will engage external professional advisors,
where necessary, and work with our internal audit,
compliance and legal teams to conduct regular review to
ensure the effectiveness of relevant registrations, licences,
permits, filings and approvals.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Prevention of Corruption
Act of Singapore and the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

The Group has zero tolerance for corruption and welcome
anonymous or real-name whistleblowing on all forms of fraud,
bribery, corruption and unethical behaviours. Our whistleblowing
system is available to all stakeholders in following three channels:

By mail:

AUSTASIA GROUP Anti-corruption Committee

No. 10, Yongguan Road, Yongan Town, Kenli District,
Dongying City, Shandong Province, China

Postcode 257503

By hotline: +86 0546 8326699

By online platform:
“Whistleblowing” under “Corporate Governance” of the “Investors”
section of www.austasiadairy.com

We handle the whistle-blower’s privacy and contents of the
whistleblowing with the utmost confidentiality, and clearly stipulate
that no one should impede the investigation or is allowed to
threaten or retaliate against the whistle-blower. After receiving
a whistleblowing, the Internal Audit Department will carry out
investigation and report the facts to the Anti-corruption Committee
which consists of the Chief Executive Officer, Audit Committee
Chairman and Head of Internal Audit. Based on the investigation
findings and discussion with senior management, the Anti-
corruption Committee will determine the follow-up or disciplinary
actions to be taken and necessary remedial actions needed to
enhance the internal control and report the result to the Audit
Committee.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code provides that the issuer
should have a policy on payment of dividends and should
disclose such policy in the annual report. The Company has
adopted a dividend policy on 30 December 2022. Any declaration
and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to the Constitution of the Company and the Singapore Companies
Act. The declaration and payment of any dividends in the future
will be determined by our Board of Directors, in its discretion,
and will depend on a number of factors, including our results of
operations, cash flows, financial condition, operating and capital
expenditure requirements. In addition, our shareholders in a
general meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which
must not exceed the amount recommended by our Board. Under
the Singapore Companies Act, a Singapore company may only
pay a dividend out of profits.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. A shareholders communication policy has
been adopted by the Company on 30 December 2022.

The general meeting (the “GM”) provides opportunities for
communication between the Company and the Shareholders.
Directors and the Company’s External Auditors were present at
the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 5 June 2024
to meet the shareholders and address their questions. To promote
effective communication, the Company also maintains a website
at www.austasiadairy.com, where information and updates on
the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.
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Procedure in relation to raising enquiry and concerns

Shareholders who wish to make any enquiry to the Company may
do so in writing to by the following means:

By Post:

Singapore
400 Orchard Road, #15-08, Orchard Towers, Singapore 238875

Shandong, China
No. 10, Yongguan Road, Yongan Town, Kenli District, Dongying
City, Shandong Province, China

Hong Kong SAR, China
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queens Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong SAR, China

By Email:
investor@austasiadairy.com

Anonymous ones would not generally be dealt with by the
Company.

The Company has reviewed the Shareholders Communication
Policy and considers the communication with shareholders is
effective during the Reporting Year.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Constitution, an extraordinary general meeting
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than 10
per cent. (10%) of the total number of paid-up Shares (excluding
Treasury Shares) carry the right to vote at general meetings of
the Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the
meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company. If within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the Members’ requisition duly proceed to
convene a general meeting, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionists, may themselves, convene a
general meeting, but any meeting so convened in the same
manner as nearly as possible as that in which general meetings
are to be convened by Directors.

/\\ 2. Je= \\
15 é/ﬁi&%

FRRHEARBEIZERF

BERMAMARRELEAER - ALEBNATRE
AEBETAEHER

B :

b
400 Orchard Road, #15-08, Orchard Towers,
Singapore 238875

SUEITES
B L R IR T 2R N [ K R BEOK SR R 1097

PEEBEITHE
FEEBFRITBERETERFREBER1835E MHA
4618

investor@austasiadairy.com

KRB —HRTeIBERE -

ARBEEHBREEBRE  URR/EREFEN
ESREBBEBEY -

BRRABARREIAE ZRF

RBABER MBS ENEEEFRBREH
GERZBHBETIRBRBOER (T REER
Btn) Ao 2 H(10%) B SR EZEZE2RER
MAEEARRBRAEG LEENERN - RIZBBRK
%*—?EUK@‘ - HEERKAAT ARG Z B NLLIRE
BRALBEBREAXARAZEMPELRE ° f#ﬂi%
%ﬂﬁékxﬂx%aﬂizaim BAREHITB AR
RRg  BREZ2ERKALAATARKE - MAH
TARENTRA  BEREAUEEREFTAHERAEN
FR—E e

137


mailto:investor%40%20austasiadairy.com%20?subject=

138

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Corporate Governance Report
SEEREE

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Shareholders who wish to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director, Shareholders may lodge a
written notice Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong with the Company in accordance with the “Procedures
For Shareholders To Propose Persons For Election As Directors”
published by the Company on its website at www.austasiadairy.com
from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted Constitution on 11 November 2022. From
the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, there is no
change to the Constitution.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chua Sook Ping Christina (85%) has been appointed as the
Singapore company secretary of the Company. Ms. Ho Wing Nga
has been appointed as the Hong Kong secretary of the Company.
Ms. Chua is the primary contact person for secretarial matters of
the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of both
Singapore secretary and Hong Kong secretary on corporate
governance and board practices and matters. Ms. Chua is the
primary corporate contact person of the Directors.

Company Secretaries generally keep themselves updated on
new laws and regulations. During the Reporting Year, each of the
Company Secretaries received no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to refresh their skills and knowledge.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The total fee paid/payable to the external auditors of the Company
RMB4,805,000 in respect of audit services for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

Categories of the services

BR#5 28 5

SEEAHE

o B B 2 B

KARIGEE2024F 12 A31 B IEFENBEARSG
B AN BN 28 B AR 4,805,000
TCEHIAT :

Fee paid/ Payable
BB

FREFFRE

Annual audit services

RMB4,805,000
AR#4,805,0007T

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards and
for timely financial disclosures under the Listing Rules and any
other regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report of this
annual report.
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Ernst & Young
27/F, One Taikoo Place
§i 979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of AustAsia Group Ltd.

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)

R —EE2718

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AustAsia
Group Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 147 to 270, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that as at 31 December 2024, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB1,252
million and the Group’s total bank borrowings amounted to
RMB3,498 million, of which RMB2,462 million will be due for
repayment within one year from 31 December 2024, while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to RMB282 million. The Group
incurred a net loss of RMB1,269 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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B M AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RRETER

REESEE (H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RPN ESTNAEERRETER

Valuation of biological assets

EWEEMGE

The Group's biological assets, including dairy cows, beef
cattle and forage plants, are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of each reporting period. As at 31
December 2024, the carrying amount of biological assets
was RMB3,324,174,000.

EREEYEE (BENF - RERERHED) AR RE D
KODARBEMEERANGE - R2024F12A31H &9
BENKRMEMARE3,324,174,0007T °

We considered the valuation of biological assets as a
key audit matter because (i) the carrying amount of such
biological assets accounted for approximately 34% of
the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2024;
and (ii) significant judgements and assumptions were
involved in management’'s assessment, such as the
discount rate, the estimated future market prices of raw
milk and beef cattle, the estimated average daily milk
yield and the estimated feeding costs. Management has
engaged an independent external valuer to assist the
Group in the valuation of the biological assets.
BURREMEENGHEBRBAREFER  DHN()ZF
EMEEMNREEN BS5EBEN2024F12A31BEERE
BAI34% : (i) BERER S RAEXHA G RERR - f0
BRI E - A4 RAF GG RKTISER - At &R THE
NMERGFAMKAE - EREEEE BB LINDEEMG
B BEREHEMEELEITHE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 20 and
37 to the consolidated financial statements.

EEAFEH NG AT BRERME2.4  HaE20 KHizE37 -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of biological
assets included:

B EMEENHEETNEF R

(1) Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and
testing the Group’s internal controls on the
determination of the fair values of biological

assets;
(1) T FHELUR RESSEENAEAAMEES
POBRESIE

(2) Evaluating the competency, objectivity and
capability of the independent external valuer;
(2) MR B INB AL ERD R RS TR ) - BB R AE

(3) Evaluating the valuation methodologies and key
assumptions such as discount rate, the estimated
future market prices of raw milk and beef cattle,
the estimated average daily milk yield and the
estimated feeding costs with the assistance of our
internal valuation experts; and

(3)  FEHNEBIEEZERBIEE AL GE 7L & EE KRR
WMBEERE - A RAFHEFFRRTHES -« G5
B ED S KT SRR - &

(4) Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures.

(4) FHEBEWNREIMKE -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

B AR

BB ET e MBRRERNEE (B)
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BB RAEEMEE -

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among HfIEEFEHZESH (EPEE) FFEINEHNEE
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and REBEZHEURERNENERSE @ BERMAEST
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in  F 3% Bl H A BF 42 I BV (E (] &2 K ERFRHETTE @ -

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we HfIERHBHEZESRTER  HBEKRMEFTEE
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding RBIBHMEBERENR  WHEESBEBEAES
independence and to communicate with them all relationships BB ASFERIBL MW EBEMEMSE
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our T8 - AR AEBEZ D EBIHEEHE (NER)
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate  MEERAIFTE) o

threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yee Chung Man.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 B ILFE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARBT ARBT T

REVENUE A 5 3,683,841 3,924,360
Cost of sales 85 BAR (3,666,842) (3,906,318)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw IR A (BB

milk at fair value less costs to sell THEE KA S HER

at the point of harvest R EE & M 20 564,084 694,044
Losses arising from changes in fair RKERFRABER

value less costs to sell of beef cattle HEN AN Z B R EIE 20 (90,047) (3,624)
Gross profit E A 491,036 708,462
Other income and gains H b A Rz 5 66,961 94,691
Losses arising from changes in fair value RKEHEMEMEEAAEBE

less costs to sell of other biological assets HEE A B R EE 20 (1,260,646) (667,883)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (4,855) (2,894)
Administrative expenses THRAX (231,529) (225,553)
Research and development expenses R (13,587) =
Reversal of impairment/(impairment losses) CREERMECRE

on financial assets E8) #m 7 20 (97,000)
Other expenses Hbpx 6 (15,616) (10,826)
Finance costs BERA 8 (282,295) (268,948)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BiAIE A 7 (1,250,511) (469,951)
Income tax expense FrigBiF 2 11 (18,776) (18,840)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (1,269,287) (488,791)
Attributable to: AT AL, -

Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZZ= DN (1,269,287) (488,791)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EENESAREERES

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BEANEBREE

OF THE PARENT 1&
Basic R
— For loss for the year — FAEIE RMB(1.81) RMB(0.70)

AR¥@A.81)t AR®(0.70)7T
Diluted e
— For loss for the year — FAEIE RMB(1.81) RMB(0.70)
AR¥@A.81)t AR®(0.70)7T
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SmeEEEWRER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBFTT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (1,269,287) (488,791)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hih2HEER
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified REERMAIEET HEEER
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: A E fih 2 T S48
Exchange differences: ME W =5
Exchange differences on translation of HINETF I EE N AR
foreign operations = (4,002)
Net other comprehensive loss that may be REERRE R ET D EEER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods Ky H fth 2 H &8 F%8 - (4,002)
Other comprehensive loss that will not be REBERETEEH EEER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: Ky H fth 2 HEE
Equity investment designated at fair value through #§E AN AR EEFEAEE
other comprehensive loss: FFAHMEEBENRERE
Changes in fair value AREEZEE = (8,830)
Net other comprehensive loss that will not be REEREAgEN D EEER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent K E fih 2 E5 185 58
periods - (8,830)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, FRHEM2MEEE & BRHE
NET OF TAX - (12,832)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR £ A2 EAEMHE (1,269,287) (501,623)
Attributable to: LA AT FEA -
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZZ =N (1,269,287) (501,623)
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31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

31 December 31 December

12H31H 12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MisF ARET T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B KREE 14 3,159,924 3,361,082
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a) 1,400,676 1,518,608
Other intangible assets HihEmEE 16 3,506 5,103
Biological assets EYEE 20 2,905,038 3,541,014
Other long-term assets HEHtwRAEE 17 8,446 8,779
Long-term receivable KEIFEWFRIA 18 4,580 =
Total non-current assets IEMBEEBE 7,482,170 8,434,586
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories 8 19 1,151,662 1,311,682
Biological assets EYAE 20 419,136 512,402
Trade receivables R kT8 21 296,703 367,049
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE - E A REUCRIE
other assets Hi&EE 22 239,641 277,437
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 23 281,921 273,999
Pledged deposits and restricted cash EEAEREZRGIER S 23 842 209
Total current assets MBEEMRE 2,389,905 2,742,778
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBE
Trade payables FETFRIE 24 692,302 785,309
Other payables and accruals HEMENRIERERTIE R 25 390,991 368,999
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRIRTTIER 26 2,462,495 2,016,413
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 84,536 70,513
Deferred income PRIEWA 4,871 3,628
Tax payable FERTIR 6,864 7,787
Total current liabilities MENE BB 3,642,059 3,252,649
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

31 December

31 December

12A31H 12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

HisF ARET T ARBTTT
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEFE (1,252,154) (509,871)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERABAS

LIABILITIES 6,230,016 7,924,715

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HERITIERK 26 1,035,897 1,383,910
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIBAE 27 4,335 4,335
Deferred income PRIEWA 25,769 26,090
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 1,356,503 1,434,714
Total non-current liabilities JERB B ERE 2,422,504 2,849,049
Net assets EEFE 3,807,512 5,075,666
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 F#H A EIGHEE
Share capital %N 28 2,435,712 2,435,712
Treasury shares EFRHD - (1,831)
Reserves s 30 1,371,800 2,641,785
Total equity MR 3,807,512 5,075,666
TAN Yong Nang Edgar Dowse COLLINS
FR&Em Edgar Dowse COLLINS
Director Director

EZE EZE
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GEEREHR
Year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F12A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRTRAARE
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
Foreign fair value
Share currency  through other
Share  Treasury option  Statutory translation comprehensive  Merger  Refained Total
capital shares reserve*  reserve*  reserve* loss*  reserve* profits* equity
WAAEETE
BEEHTA
B2 EEEN
M SHEENAA
Bk EERE ROBERE iRRE  BEER  BERR AHER  ERAER  BRER
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETR  AR¥TR  ARMTn ARBTR ARETR  ARETR ARMTR ARMTn ARETR
Notes — (Note 26) (Notes 29, 30)  (Note 30)  (Note 30) (Note 30)  (Note 30)
W (Has) (Wiz9-30)  (hz) (Wi (Witso) (Wi
At 1 January 2024 N02451R1R 2,435,712 (1,881) 13,787 517,989 71,150 (52,197)  (54,866) 2,145,922 5,075,666
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - - - (1,269,287) (1,269,267)
Total comprehensive loss ERREEELE
for the year - - - - - - - (1,269,287)  (1,269,287)
Shares repurchased BEERR - (1,176) - - - - - - (1,176)
Eouity-setiled share option ~ IWEREENDRAHET S
arrangements 29 - 3,007 (698) - - - - - 2,309
Transfer from retained profits BB EHEFIE 0 - - - 2,154 - - - (2,154) -
At 31 December 2024 RN2024512A318 2,435,712 - 13,089 520,143 71,150 (52,197)  (54866) 874,481 3,807,512
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GEEREEHR
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31BILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRAREARR
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
Foreign fair value
Share currency  through other
Share  Treasury option  Statutory translation ~ comprehensive Merger  Refained Total
capital shares reserve’ reserve’ reserve” [oss” reserve” profits” equity
WAnBEHE
BEEHHA
EEEEED
8 SHEENRR
RE  BRERGL BOBEEE feRk  AEER BREEE  AREA  BEME ERuE
RMBOO0  RMB'000 RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB'00O RMBOO0O ~ RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB'0OO
ARETR  ARETT  ARBTR  ARMTR ARETR  ARBTn ARMTR ARETR  ARETR
Notes— (Note 28) (Notes 29.30)  (Mote 30)  (Note 30) Note 30)  (Note 30)
wd (W) (Widz9-30) (o) (ko) (Bd) (B
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 120231518 (HE5) 2,432,340 - 11,840 514717 75,152 (43367)  (54,866) 2637925 5573801
Loss for the year FREE = = = = = = - (48791)  (488791)
Other comprehensive FRAMREEE:
loss for the year:
Change in falr value of an WANBEHEAEES
equly investment at fair FALB2EERNRE
value through other RENDAREEY
comprehensive 1oss, Rl
net of tax - - - - - (8,830) - - (8,830)
Exchange differences related BB FHABNELZE
to foreign operations - - - - (4,002) - - - (4.002)
Total comprehensive loss ERREEEEE
for the year - - - - (4,002) (8,830) - (488791)  (501623)
Issuance of shares pursuant  RETTERBRREL TR
to the exercise of the
over-allotment option 3,312 - - - - - - - 3,312
Shares repurchased BEERR - (7252) - - - - - = (7.252)
Equiy-setiled sharg option ~ [AEREERIRHER %
arrangements 29 - 5,421 1,947 - - - - - 7,368
Transfer from retained profits ~ EAEAHFIE K] - - = 3212 - - = (3212) =
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A31A 2,435,712 (1,831) 13,787 517,989 71,150 (52197)  (64,866) 2145922 575,666

consolidated statement of financial position.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves
of RMB1,371,800,000 (2023: RMB2,641,785,000) in the

2,641,785,0007F) K54 fEfE -

* ZEREREREEAMBEMRARE A
KR#1,371,800,0007C (20234 : AR
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 B ILFE

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥T T ARBEFTT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZEFREHERE
Loss before tax i Al & 1R (1,250,511) (469,951)
Adjustments for: AT EIERE
Impairment of long-term receivable REAEW IR E 7 - 89,756
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment FEWRIE R E
of trade receivables (BE), 7R 7 (20) 7,244
Reversal of allowance for inventory BOREFTERE
obsolescence 19 - (8,362)
Amortisation of other intangible assets EfbEmR A ESE 7 1,597 1,709
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W BERERETE 7 184,109 164,426
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 30,710 25,613
Gains on modification of leases e E W 5 (1,967) (23,103)
Net loss from changes in fair value EYMEEAAEBEES
of biological assets iV el 20 1,350,693 671,507
Amortisation of arrangement fee ZH B 13,221 =
Finance costs Bl & KA 8 282,295 268,948
Interest income FlEWA - (3,516)
Losses on disposal of items of property, HEME - WE KRB
plant and equipment HEWEE 6 10,246 6,521
Share-based payments LARE (7 B E R 95 3R 7 2,309 6,501
Operating cash flows before changes in BEECREFINLE
working capital RERE 622,682 742293
Decrease in inventories FERL 161,339 11,840
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, FEU IR - REARELIR
long-term receivable and prepayments, RERFERAFOE - Hib
other receivables and other assets FEW R IE e HoAh B B
A (12 0n) 103,582 (144,868)
Decrease in trade payables and other JE ST FRIE DA 2 ELAth A
payables and accruals FRIE J FEETIE B R A (55,275) (415,877)
Increase in deferred income PRIE U AL N 922 5,687
Cash flows generated from operations KEEENRESRE 833,250 199,075
Income tax paid BFEHR (19,699) (15,115)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBMSRE®
mEFRE 813,551 183,960
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=] EE-@)JILE%‘:Z
Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T ARBT T
Net cash flows from operating activities KRB TS
HEeREFE 813,551 183,960
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEBESRERE
Purchases of items of property, BEYME BER
plant and equipment HEIEE (139,686) (523,926)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE - BB &KEE
plant and equipment I8 B FTiS 508 5,612 7,908
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets HEEYEEMSFHIA 20 377,216 582,598
Additions to other intangible assets NEEMEREE 16 - (1,132)
Purchase capitalisation of biological assets BEEMNMEYMEE (803,541) (1,291,327)
Placement of restricted cash and TFREZBRHEE R
pledged deposits [ ERES (846) (475)
Withdrawal of restricted cash and RENZ R HH & R
pledged deposits [ ERER N 213 6,252
Net cash flows used in investing activities REFBFMARE
MEFE (561,032) (1,220,102)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ®EFHFESESRE
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BTG FT1S 3R - 3,372
Shares repurchased B2 B B R (D (1,176) (7,252)
Interest paid EfFIE 31 (202,655) (185,387)
Payments of lease liabilities HEAENK 15 (121,863) (147,967)
Repayment of interest-bearing bank borrowings — {Bi&sH BIRITIE K (3,125,171) (1,948,671)
New interest-bearing bank borrowings g BIRTTER 3,206,165 3,196,659
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities &&&®) (FiR),/ Fifg
REemEFHE (244,700) 910,754
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReERBLEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS g, CRd) F8E 7,819 (125,388)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEFE R B FE
R 103 1,441
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#IR& KIREEEY 273,999 397,946
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREeRESEEYD 23 281,921 273,999
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReLREEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS EBRAT
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHERR 282,763 274,208
Pledged deposits and restricted cash EEBFREZRHEE 23 (842) (209)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the ReEnsXRMERE R
statement of cash flows HEEEY 23 281,921 273,999
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

AustAsia Group Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The
registered office of the Company is located at 400 Orchard
Road, Singapore 238875. The Company completed its
initial public offering and was listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
2425.HK) on 30 December 2022. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding and its subsidiaries are
mainly engaged in the production and sales of raw milk,
beef cattle and feed products, and the distribution and
sale of milk products in Mainland China.

There is no change in controlling shareholders of the
Company comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella
Santosa, the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited
(as trustee of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees
Limited, Fidelis Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited, Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh
Limited and Tallowe Services Inc (together, the “Controlling
Shareholders”).

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

AAREBER

AustAsia Group Ltd. (A7) B—FKK
TN M L W AR I AR AR
EERAR - RARKFEMMERMR400
Orchard Road, Singapore 238875 °
2022512 A308 » KARFIETKE XA
BENTRNEBHERSMERRGER LT
(BRADMSR : 2425.HK) » KR EIM EEEH)
RIREER - MENBRAREZ2EREAM
MERBD AFRARERNEERES
AR B mey 5 35 RS o

RABHERE (BERenaldo Santosa
S 4~ Gabriella SantosaZ * - Scuderia
Trust * Highvern Trustees Limited ({E
AScuderia Trustf® <5 A) * Magnus
Nominees Limited * Fidelis Nominees
Limited * 85I &EERBEMR A A * Rangi
Management Limited * Tasburgh Limited
N Tallowe Services Inc. » #7% [1ER% L
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

INFORMATION 1.

FRNBARNER
ARBEEZMBERROFAERBRIIMOT

RAREEER (H)

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ of equity
registration and registered share  attributable to the
Name business capital Company Principal activities
2R
A% SRy EREEERY  EEREMRE AQFAEGRERSL FEEHR
Direct Indirect
EE Bk
Dongying AustAsia Modern Dairy Farm Shandong, Mainland China USD35,000,000 = 100 Production and sale
Co., Ltd. of raw milk
RERTRAHSERAT REIRM - IR 35,000,000 7T REMEERHE
Tai'an AustAsia Modern Dairy Farm Co., Ltd.  Shandong, Mainland China USD30,000,000 - 100  Production and sale
of raw milk
RERTHRRHGERLA hER - LR 30,000,000% 7 REMEERHE
Dongying Xianhe AustAsia Modern Dairy Shandong, Mainland China USD25,000,000 - 100  Production and sale
Farm Co., Ltd. of raw milk
RENTRTRAHSERAT RER - IR 25,000,000% 7T REMEERHE
Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia Modern Shandong, Mainland China USD40,000,000 - 100  Production and sale
Dairy Farm Co., Ltd. of raw milk
EWNBTRAMEERAH RERM - LR 40,000,000% 7T REMEERHE
Dongying AustAsia Beef Co., Ltd. Shandong, Mainland China USD26,430,000 - 100 Production and sale
of beef cattle
RERTNGEEBRAA RERL - LR 26,430,000% 7T M4 EEREE
Shanghai AustAsia Food Co., Ltd. Shanghai, Mainland China USD3,000,000 - 100  Trading, wholesale
and distribution
of milk products
LERERMERATF HEANN - BE 3,000,000% 7 ABmES  HERDH
Chifeng AustAsia Modern Dairy Inner Mongolia, USD85,600,000 = 100  Production and sale
Farm Co., Ltd. Mainland China of raw milk and
beef cattle
FRERTHERHGER DA HEA - ARG 85,600,000 T RENRATEERKAE
Pure Source Dairy Farm Co., Ltd. Shandong, Mainland China USD187,000,000 - 100  Production and sale
of raw milk
RSB R AR REIRM - LR 187,000,000 T RRMEERHE
Shandong AustAsia Feed Technology Shandong, Mainland China USD12,000,000 - 100  Production and sale
Co., Ltd. of feed products
R RT SRR RA R B - IR 12,000,000 7T FHEMEERHE
Dongying Niuren Niuyu Catering Shandong, Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100  Catering management

Management Co., Ltd.
REFANTEERERERAR

PEIA - LR

AE#1,000,0007

BHER



2.1

Annual Report 2024
ZRCNEER

Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP
(continued)

INFORMATION

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The English names of the companies registered in Mainland
China represent the best efforts made by management
of the Company in directly translating the Chinese names
of these companies as no English names have been
registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, which
comprise all standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for biological assets.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

RAREEER (H)

FRNBARNESR (F)

ZETEAM R BN R AHHANRREE
EESANS HEEBAZFETXEE - RE
W EFY EAEMERE T EETE -

EERR ERINBTIEFERNFEES
HBR A EEFE E X E Rl W AR A B

NG

G R
R

ZEM BRI IDRIBEEREYEHRE SR
R EREREK(BREERNESES
(KEFETER)EEE ) #ENRELE
ANRE  (KEBRSFE)ZESHEN
DEZzZ(ERetER) R ENREZE S
ZRBRBE(RBGI) BERE - %%
MHBRRERELRALGER - EEMEE
BROb o« ZREMBMRTIIAARE (AR ])
mE BMEBFHUENREREONTM
(BRERBHRA) ©

mAER%E

BAMBEBRRBEARRREAMBERR (K
MAIANER|)HE2024F12A31B IH5F
EVBRE - WBARIEAARHESHE
THINER (REEBUHERE)  E4AEERA
SEWREFWEBE MBS G RES T
13k - WEESBBEHWIRE A (A
BT ASERARENITIEEWIEE S BEE
MR AR Y EZELERE - BREE
il 4 o

157



158

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

2.1

o BCR (&)
mREE (&)
REEE ()

—RIBERTEEES BUIRE R R IE S
Zﬁm WARBHE P RIKIRE T KZH
M R SRR - AR RER T EE
BHAHWRRETNRNE  @EEBMEAER
BEELBERL B

(a) HEFERENNOEMKEEFEARL
B #ZHE

(b)y EMAEHNTHMEENERN X

B B8 2 B O B 75 #R 3% T 3E BR AKX B 4B B A R
EHREA BN ST HRAER - HEQR

WESEERAEERGENERARESH - I
BEAHESZIEFIERILEH -

Bk A M2 R & EAKED FBR
REBYRAGER AARIEEB R - AN
SR SIBOHE RS R B AR o EHAK
BB ARIZHANR Z BB AA SEAR
BEEAE #x - BA XHERRERE
A B BRI EH -

WEERBEABR EXMYI =ZHEEZEFHTES
BE-RAZETRELES  AAKEEE

B ERTIDAEHIBIRE T - HBA
BIROVE G fEME 21 35 A B O I SRR I
QBN INREIERER S °
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the foreign currency translation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately RMB1,252 million and the
Group’s total bank borrowings amounted to RMB3,498
million, of which RMB2,462 million will be due for
repayment within one year from 31 December 2024, while
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB282
million. The Group incurred a net loss of RMB1,269 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024. These conditions
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given consideration to the future liquidity of
the Group and its available sources of finance in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern. Certain measures have been
and are being taken by the directors of the Company to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position which
include the following:

(i) The Group continues to improve the milk yield and
the quality of raw milk and negotiate with customers
for better selling price in consideration of the market
developments.

2.1
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31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

IR (M)

RBLEE ()

BARE ()

finl A5 52 B 2K K ET B0 B 2 B 045 Il - RIAG AR
IFEREEEE (BEME) - 86 - EA3E

ERciEm MONERE R 0 WRREARE
BREMNANEBERBEEEFABSNER
BT o TR E R E M2 RS R
AEBRGEHD  DREASEERHER
@ﬁ%iﬁ%%%ﬁimmﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁﬁ%
MERTEFR D REREHEFNE

FREEER

R2024F12A31H - AEENRHEFEF
HHOABARE12528 8T » NEBMIRTT
EREEAEARKES4908F8 T HP AR
o 462 BB ITTAN 2024 12 531 H#EsT
—FRNEE MERSRREEZEMAAR
BO82EHETT - EiE2024F12831HILF
B AEBELEEBEFEARK126088
Lo ZERBRARA  FEAUESHASERS
BEENENBRERNRENEATET
o

ERZEBN  ARREZFEEELAEEN
AERBDESRAIAESHIR - ARFBALE
BELREUBERIERERLE - ARF
EECREBTERDRE THENSAEARRE
MRBESKPBRR - HREHE :

(i) ZRIMENER  AEERERS
FRENMEENEEYRESHEHE
SFEVSHEE (AR o
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

(i) The Group continues to enhance and streamline the
procurement process to reduce purchasing costs
in order to mitigate the impact of the decrease of
selling price of raw milk. The Group’s in-house pre-
mix feed mill will continue improving feed quality
and help to control feed costs.

(iii) The Group continues to take proactive financing
measures to ensure sufficient facilities from financial
institutions and shareholders are available in the
foreseeable future. Up to the date of this report,
consent letters from certain banks have been
obtained regarding the amendments of certain
financial covenants and extension of certain
facilities’ effective period.

(iv) The Group continues to monitor capital expenditure
to balance and relieve cash resource to support
operations.

(V) The Group is exploring other debt or equity financial
arrangements.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast
covering a period of twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. They are of the opinion that, taking
into account the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the directors believe it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the dairy
industry in Mainland China, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to state them at their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current
year's financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)
Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7
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2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(a)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale
and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of IFRS
16, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group
does not have supplier finance arrangements,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

IFRS 2.3

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are

o BCR (&)
CHEMEMKRERNWERIBERES
aH 2Rl

AEBRARNZEMBRRTEAUATEH
B i R AR FTR] RS TR B IS 3R

not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised IFRS Accounting
Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity?

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7,
IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7?2

- Volume 11

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and amended standards upon
initial application. IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It also
requires disclosures of management-defined performance
measures in a note and introduces new requirements for
aggregation and disaggregation of financial information.
The new requirements are expected to impact the
Group’s presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures of the Group’s financial performance. So far,
the Group considers that the new and revised standards
are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s
results of operations and financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its biological assets and equity
investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

23

24

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

o BCR (&)

CHEMEMKRERNWERIBERES
=H2ERI ()

AEBEFEZERN MEETENRER
ERRNFE - (RRP RS L) E185%
SINBRRIIMOFRTE - SFEABE R
PNET e BRARBHERABMERA R
DEBATHEERNz — &% KRE R
B IR RRIEEE  Y2MEREE
B/NEE o HTREEM T REETEBEER
MEMEERE  WHBERNBERD
FRIBHHTRE - TRERA ST EARER
BERMFBARAEERBRANEKE - B
RIALE  AEBRBRIET REEFTERTK
AR AEENRERERPYBIRRAELS

2,480
AFE -

EAEHHE
AABEEHE

AEERZHRERRFEEEMEERETE
RARREEFEBEEHF ALCGE2EK
HOKERE - AABEATH2EER
ERMERFR ST HEREMBIKEZR
BEMXANERE - AABEHETIENR
RHEEELAERRBENRINEELAR
IEMHR(AETEME) REEXAER
BEBEMGET AEBELBARMEAZET
ERREEENE  c BEEXARENAAEE
DEAmS2REREEXABEBRAA
HWRRATE - AIRERME2EERRERE
KBTS ©

165



166

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

Level 2 -

Level 3 -

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, biological assets and equity
investment), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

4.5%-5%

9%-10%
18%-20%
18%-20%

Buildings and site facilities
Machinery and equipment

Office furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Software

Software is acquired separately and is amortised on a
straight-line basis over its finite useful life of 5 years.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Biological assets

Biological assets are measured on initial recognition and
at the end of the reporting period at their fair values less
costs to sell, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the period in
which it arises. Biological assets comprise dairy cows, beef
cattle and forage plants.

Dairy cows and beef cattle

Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves,
and beef cattle are measured on initial recognition and at
the end of each reporting period at their fair values less
costs to sell, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the period
in which it arises. Costs to sell are the incremental costs
directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, mainly
transportation costs excluding finance costs and income
taxes.

The fair value is determined based on their present
location and condition and is determined independently
by professional valuers. The fair value of heifers and
calves and beef cattle for which there are active markets
is determined by reference to the quoted market prices.
For milkable cows for which there is no active market, fair
value is determined by valuation techniques, for example,
discounted cash flow techniques.

The feeding costs and other related costs including
the depreciation charge, utility costs and consumables
incurred for the raising of heifers and calves are
capitalised, until such time as the heifers and calves begin
to produce milk.

24

o BCR (&)

EXREHEE (&)

EMEE
EMEEEVIAERSFREBRREQA
EBEREHEXAETITE  EAHLEL

Ml m s EREEEERMNAABERN

MR- EMBEEBENT  REMEARE
1 o

i KA+

ma (BEKEY - BT RES) KRBT

EVRERR NS REMRIZEAABER
EHERNETE - EAHEEEN RS
FEEEHEELHRANGABaRAER -

HERARTERRBREERENIZEK
K I2REBRA  BTEBEBERAM
PSR -

N

AREBEREBEEBEINMLEMRRET I
3%%%%%4#5 B ERT IS -
RMSREETERT BERKAFHR
ﬁFﬁ BERIEERTHR - WA M ERIN
BEEXIFNAALEE  WREREFNE
5 e

F
%
2

W\

EERTRETRGEDA - mBEXKARE
BN (BRETEER 2BEERA
REABERTREFRELNBERER) BE
BEAE -



24

Annual Report 2024
ZRCNEER

Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Biological assets (continued)
Forage plants

The immature corn and sorghum plantation costs consist
of field preparation, planting, fertilising and maintenance
and an allocation of other related cost. In general, a corn
plantation and a sorghum plantation take about six months
to reach maturity from the time when the seedings are
planted.

Plantations in initial stages of growth are stated at cost as
market-determined prices or values are not available.

Plantations close to harvest and the harvested products
of the Group’s wet corn and sorghum are measured at fair
value less estimated point-of-sale costs. The fair value is
determined based on the actual selling prices in the local
market at the point of harvest less estimated point-of-sale
costs.

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of plantations
at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs and the
change in fair value less costs to sell of plantations at each
reporting date are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Upon harvest, the forage plants are transferred to
inventories for feeding the dairy cows and beef cattle.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk harvested from
the Group’s biological assets. Raw milk is recognised at
the point of harvest at its fair value less costs to sell. A
gain or loss arising from agricultural produce at the point of
harvest measuring at fair value less costs to sell is included
in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings and site facilities

3 to 40 years
2 to 7 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and
laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

Purchase or sale of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

For those

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors

specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans

and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

2. EFEEKGE

24 EBEXEFHEEHE)
TRMEERE (&)
—M% ()

—[EEB - BYIRERAREERRIL &
BERENRBREBERER2
EAEREEERSBITEN
SRIA

FRE - BVERRAREERREE
BMBEYIFEERESREE
EEBEERBRERZHEMNE
EEESEAENESRTA

F=RE - NBEAHERLEERE(E
FBAXRAEHEEERE)
hEBRERERMEDRE
EBECEAENSREE

BT %

R BEEABMEX D IAKERAATEE
TETHBERBEK D 7 E R EWSIRT
FARBERABETEAHERBEERS
18 REBELETE  AEEY TRHEER
REEE  MEREXHREAHNEZHESR
EEBERERBERRE AKECDREHSA
EEEFRBRERR I BHER  IRIFES
ABFENRREREREBERFIELRAE

g ek
VG 1R K AT &

TRBERVGERS DB RUAEER
EAHEPHAEHESNEREE  BEX
R A RSk FE AT 5E (A A ) o



24

Annual Report 2024
ZRCNEER

Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade payables,
other payables and accruals and Interest-bearing bank
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade payables, other payables
and accruals and Interest-bearing bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held
by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories mainly include raw materials, low-value
consumables and finished goods. Inventories are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to

completion and disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in

which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

24

o BCR (&)

ERETEHE (&)

F 8Bt ()

«  RERWBAT BEAARAHD
¥ 1A 5 B8 A R E BT

FOREMBEEENGRHEZENT
BERERRB A gL R BB AT RE IR
BB = R A A AR AR R R B
7T THER ©

REREMRENEERBEEENR@E -
WA BAREE RN ERTAEIAER 25
HHDEEHREE - AR ECHAEE
FREE - RERHEECHAEERSHED
RTNER - ARATEE RHBREAEH
PAdg 1= 2 350 5 B o3 M RE 5 TR B EE S T A BE

=7
s ©

EERBEEERABDRERNREHRE R
HRELERMOHE (RBOX) ZRPHR
BREEFENBEREER CHEGE -



24

Annual Report 2024
ZRCNEER

Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received, and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

Sale of raw milk

Revenue from these sales is recognised when the
goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria
for acceptance have been satisfied.

Sale of beef cattle

Revenue from sale of beef cattle is recognised when
the beef cattle are collected by customers.

Sales of milk products

The Group sells milk products to distributors
and end customers (collectively referred to as
“customers”). Revenue from sales of these products
is recognised when the goods have been delivered
to customers.

Sales of feed products
Revenue from sales of feed products is recognised

when the goods are delivered to the customer and
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates several share option schemes.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”) and cash (“cash-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model,
which are given in note 29 to the financial statements.

further details of

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met.
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

However, if a new award is

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as
defined by the laws of the countries in which it operates. In
particular, the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentages of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. Companies of the Group located in
Singapore make contributions to the Central Provident

Fund scheme in Singapore.

The contributions are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme,
and contributions paid to the defined contribution pension
scheme for an employee are not available to reduce the
Group’s future obligations to such defined contribution

pension plans even if the employee leaves.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring

costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period,
it will assess whether the information affects the amounts
that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements
to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period
and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions
in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will
disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an
estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such
an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

24

o BCR (&)
EXREHEE (&)
s

ZEVBERUARANEEEEARKE
5l e AEBSERBTRESEBNYEE
% MEBERNOMBRRIAR HAZIGEE
BitE - TEBERTENINERZ TR
HEBRRZEHNBETHEEBEXA
B UONBSHEMEBEERRBERBEH
RUGEERWEXBE - ERIHABHE R
HEANZENGEBERANER -

PAONE BB R MIZE LR A EBRIEEEIR
BRERRZAMEXBE « LINERER
MRAREBEFENIFEEBERRAELR
BEEANERRE - BEUAREEIE
WIFERERELNRENBREER AR
BEEHELNRDNERIZER T A
R AAnBEEKAKIBEREMEEKE
YIEaMRNWIAR - HIFEEZEMTORRE
b2 mEK B TR

BMEABEERIGERR - K ILERER
NHERBHIFEEHEENIFERMERE
EERMRAXRWANEXE - Y1525 HH
RARBENRERARBNEEMEL T
MEEXFEEHRENRH - HEZER
NRBHFAKR - AEERESERNEE
M RRRKEERZEH -



24

Annual Report 2024
ZRCNEER

Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise the
option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers
all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for
it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances
that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or
not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the lease
(e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options (continued)

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the
lease term for leases of farmland due to the significance
of these assets to its operations. These leases have a
short non-cancellable period (i.e., three to five years) and
there will be a significant negative effect on production if a
replacement is not readily available.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of dairy cows and beef cattle

The Group’s dairy cows and beef cattle are measured
at fair value less costs to sell. The fair value of dairy
cows and beef cattle is determined based on either the
market-determined prices as at the end of each reporting
period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, cost incurred and expected yield of
the milk to reflect differences in characteristics and/or
stages of growth of dairy cows; or the present value of
expected net cash flows from the dairy cows and beef
cattle discounted at a current market-determined rate,
when market-determined prices are unavailable. Any
changes in the estimates may affect the fair value of the
dairy cows and beef cattle significantly. The independent
qualified professional valuer and management review the
assumptions and estimates periodically to identify any
significant change in fair value of dairy cows and beef
cattle. Further details are given in note 20 to the financial
statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than gooadwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

EREFHAB NG (&)

fhEt TRERE (F)
Tt RAFA DA EEGE

AEBNNFRATRAABEBHEEKRAN
FE - NERATH AR EERESRSH
ROTHEE (K2ENFORE - Fik -
ERGH MEENRARERHENERE
ARV FER S REBROZR)
BE  AEEARETHEEER - ARED
FERATEENERFRERENRERE
RIS FI RN E o Mt B ENTAE
B RSN RAFTNAABEELEERY
2 -BUAAREXGEMNEEECHE
ERBMGE - UEENF RAFHRR(E
ENEMEARE(C - FEERMHERERME
20 °

e MEERE (BEFI)

AEERZREPRFIEMAFEREE
(BREREEE) REAEABRETR -
AEEERFHRNELEESFETREN
ANEEMFEE@RETFREETAIA -
HAth3F S B E N B B R AR R 4 8E YR Bl BR
EERETRENR -EEEXRSELE
UHREER L AT RO SHE (MERAR(E
ERFHEXNAEEEREERNE cKSE)
B BIFAERE - 2 A EEREERAKN
SAEDERRBUEERAFRSFHAL
RAMER SN A ABEKAIBRENTISE
RBLEEENRERA - EFtEERER
- EEEAMG REZEESRSELE
UHEPHARRESRE - WEAAEMNIER
KUFEZEHeRENERE -

197



198

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows: (1)
raw milk business for the production and sale of raw milk;
(2) beef cattle business for raising and sale of beef cattle;
and (3) ancillary business for sales of milk products, feed
products and others.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that other income and expenses, non-lease-related
finance costs from the Group’s financial instruments,
impairment of long-term receivable as well as head office
or corporate administrative expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024

REsIER (FH)

HZE2024F12A31BIEFE

Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
R e Hith &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR%T T AR%T T ARET T
Segment revenue (Note 5) D EBURA (H7:15)
Sales to external customers  $H& FINEBEF 2,888,940 497,946 296,955 3,683,841
Intersegment sales D EEHE 194,459 64 376,954 571,477
3,083,399 498,010 673,909 4,255,318
Elimination of intersegment K $% SE &
sales (571,477)
Revenue A 3,683,841
Segment results o EEE (772,255) (95,609) (1,431) (869,295)
Finance costs (other than BEXAN (TEE
interest on lease liabilities) THEBEHNFE) (201,032)
Unallocated corporate and KO BEHIDE K
administrative expenses THAX (231,529)
Unallocated other income RABLEEMIRA K
and expenses 553 51,345
Loss before tax TAIEE (1,250,511)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

REsIER (FH)

HZE2023F12A31BIEFE

Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
R A4 Hth A%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARBFIT ARBTIT
Segment revenue (Note 5) D EBURA (H7:25)
Sales to external customers  $H& FHNPEF 3,341,602 361,992 220,766 3,924,360
Intersegment sales 5 BB A i & 127,810 - 257,026 384,836
3,469,412 361,992 477,792 4,309,196
Elimination of intersegment K $% SE &
sales (384,836)
Revenue IL'ON 3,924,360
Segment results DEBEE (47,216) (10,548) 7,890 (49,874)
Finance costs (other than BEXAN (TEE
interest on lease liabilities) THEBEHNFIE) (188,633)
Unallocated impairment of KA EHEEfEK
long-term receivable SRIERVE (89,756)
Unallocated corporate and KO BEHIDER
administrative expenses THAX (225,553)
Unallocated other income RO EEAE M AR
and expenses X 83,865
Loss before tax HAIESE (469,951)

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions
according to operating results of each segment. No
analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is
presented as the chief operating decision maker does
not regularly review such information for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are
presented.

ITEREARARERBS DMK EREET
RE - AR EERLERRELRRERDE
AR EMEMNBEWLEREE  FARE
JIBDEEEMD R ABENIN - Eitt - &
2573 BUATI D FREAE -
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Other segment information

Year ended 31 December 2024
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INFORMATION 4.

REsIER (FH)

HZE2024F12A31BILFE

Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
R SES Hty &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT AR%T T AR®T T
Amounts included in the AN EEEER
measure of segment results:  ©%FE ¢
Gains arising on initial W ER IR A (BB
recognition of raw milk at TRAH S AR A
fair value less costs to sell ERRANEE
at the point of harvest ol 564,084 - - 564,084
Losses arising from changes 2RERFAAEE
in fair value less costs to BIHE AN E B
sell of beef cattle B8 - 90,047 - 90,047
Losses arising from changes REEMAEMEE
in fair value less costs to ARBERIEE
sell of other biological A B R &R
assets 1,259,986 660 - 1,260,646
Depreciation and amortisation B Bz IR ITE K
charged to profit or loss e 170,612 30,994 14,810 216,416
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBME 76,353 4,902 8 81,263
Selling and distribution HHE kDR X
expenses - - 4,855 4,855
Research and development 25
expenses - - 13,587 13,587
Reversal of impairment on JE W R IE R (A
trade receivables - - 20 20
Capital expenditure =R 1,127,891 503,050 1,337 1,632,278
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(continued)
Other segment information (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

REsIER (FH)

HibpEER (1)
HZE2023F12A31BILFE

Raw milk Beef cattle Ancillary Total
REH A4 Hith &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEFT AREEFTT ARBEFTT ARBEFTT
Amounts included in the AN EEEER
measure of segment results: &7 ¢
Gains arising on initial W ER IR A (BB
recognition of raw milk at RAH S AR A
fair value less costs to sell ERRANEE
at the point of harvest Eolrg 694,044 = = 694,044
Losses arising from changes 2RERFAAEE
in fair value less costs to BIHE AN E B
sell of beef cattle K E 18 - 3,624 = 3,624
Losses arising from changes REEMAEMEE
in fair value less costs to ARBERIEE
sell of other biological A B R &R
assets 665,805 2,078 = 667,883
Depreciation and amortisation H Bz BRI E K&
charged to profit or loss e 159,177 24,726 7,845 191,748
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEME 75,455 4,846 14 80,315
Selling and distribution HE ko iER
expenses - - 2,894 2,894
Impairment loss on trade JEW IR R E 5 1R
receivables - - 7,244 7,244
Capital expenditure NG 1,670,470 506,858 73,463 2,250,791
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

REsIER (FH)

EiFER
(a) KA EEFEFEYA
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

Mainland China R A 4B,

3,683,841 3,924,360

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

HWAB R TRE P REE S -

(b) FREBEE

31 December 31 December

12A31H 12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Mainland China R A HB,

7,477,590 8,434,586

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

FIERBEEERTIREEMEL
Elo TERESRIANMELERIEE

o

H
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about major customers

The revenue from each individual major customer
accounting for over 10% of the Group’s revenue during the

year is as follows:

REsIER (FH)

FREEEFHNER

FA - BAEREBRRAI0% A LS EE

BERPBERAT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
Customer A BEA 946,524 1,187,858
Customer B =FB 615,585 782,907
1,562,109 1,970,765
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS WA~ Efb AR WS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA -
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Revenue from contracts with customers BEAHIA
Sale of raw milk REHNHE 2,888,940 3,341,602
Sale of beef cattle A4EE 497,946 361,992
Sale of ancillary HihiHe 296,955 220,766
Total A&r 3,683,841 3,924,360
Timing of revenue recognition LN
At a point in time 12 05 [ Bh 3,683,841 3,924,360
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Htt AR W= (58)

(continued)

Performance obligations BHREE
The Group sells raw milk to manufacturers of dairy AEBMIAZGREREERMD MR
products, beef cattle to food processing companies, milk MIARSHEEAS - mUICEENEtRE
products to cafes and other end customers and feed FPHEIRMRABIGHERMER  3tH
products to farms. For sales of raw milk, beef cattle, milk HEFHERMY A AR EERE
products and feed products to its customers, revenue mmE - WARE BTG EERRE (AR
is recognised when control of the goods has been FPREIERITHESREMRERE) ER -
transferred, being at the point the customer received the ROZHERDIRBETNSEREE - HER
goods and was satisfied with the quality. Payment of the B A ﬁﬂﬂéﬁﬁ’ﬂ:fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂ Hi#E 30
transaction price is determined based on market price. The X MEEIRENEER -—RKREELEH
credit period of sales of raw milk and feed products is 30 HHHES0E 45K TERFAIERER %90
days since the invoice date. The credit period of sale of B WRAAFEFREHEEE -
milk products is generally 30 to 45 days since the invoice
date, extending up to 90 days for major customers. And no
credit is provided for beef cattle customers.
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBFT
Other income and gains H A A Rz
Government grants B8 26,412 27,969
Gains on modification of leases B EE R 1,967 23,103
Insurance claims REREE 23,627 13,416
Technical service fee B RG2 4,653 18,173
Interest income FEUA 1,652 4,014
Scrap sales REmh i & 470 595
Material sales R & 6,206 4,527
Others H A, 1,974 2,894
Total other income and gains Hi A R 458 66,961 94,691
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

(continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation

In most of the sales contracts, the amount of consideration
that the Group has a right to invoice corresponds directly
with the value to the customer of each incremental good
that the Group transfers to the customer. As permitted by
IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied

performance obligations is not disclosed.

WA - B AR Wz ()

TRENBGBEBNECTETNRZER

ERZENHEANT  AEEERHAEER
MHESREAREBIGEFNSIZER
mETFNEEEREE - RIE(BERMT
WEERDFISWAATE  DEEZFR
ERNBEHNEER TR SERT THE -

6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. Hfthix
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT T
Foreign exchange losses, net (Note 7) SNEE E5 18 588 (122 7) 3,800 3,006
Losses on disposal of items of property, HEME - BE K&
plant and equipment JHE®EE 10,246 6,521
Others A, 1,570 1,299
Total a5t 15,616 10,826
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LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. WBAIESE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBRFABR LN, GEA) U T&
(crediting): HEEY
2024 2023
2024F 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mzt ARETR ARBFL
Costs of sale of raw milk REE S E R AR 2,888,940 3,341,602
Costs of sale of beef cattle AR HER A 497,946 361,992
Costs of sale of ancillary Hib KA 279,956 202,724
Cost of sales HEMRAR 3,666,842 3,906,318
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE
equipment 14 314,953 288,531
Less: Capitalised in biological assets B ERNMEYEE 130,844 124,105
Depreciation charged to profit or loss EBRENGRATE 184,109 164,426
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15 96,311 103,161
Less: Capitalised in biological assets W BERNMCAEYEE 65,601 77,548
Depreciation charged to profit or loss BEZMRAITE 30,710 25,613
Impairment of long-term receivable REEYGIERE - 89,756
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment e FRIE (RiERR),/
loss on trade receivables REEE 21 (20) 7,244
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment SREE (RERD),/
losses on financial assets AEEE (20) 97,000
Reversal of provision for inventories FEREED - (3,362)
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hib &% 16 1,597 1,709
Lease payments not included in the AT AHEBEFTEN
measurement of lease liabilities HEMH 15 17,779 25,850
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR 357 B 4,805 5,084
Losses arising from changes in fair value REEMENEEAAERE
less costs to sell of other biological assets HEEKAZEMNEIE 20 1,260,646 667,883
Employee benefit expenses (including EERBMNRX (BRREESER
directors’ and chief executive's remuneration):  &&{THABH#M)
Wages and salaries TERF® 308,644 318,423
Pension scheme contributions EBIRE BT 69,534 61,367
Share-based payments expenses PARR D AER A REX 2,309 6,501
380,487 386,291
Foreign exchange differences, net IMEERFE 6 3,800 3,006
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HREMK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEXKEITAOT :
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ET T AREETTT
Interest on bank loans RITEFFE 201,032 188,798
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFE 81,263 80,315
Interest on contract liabilities AHAEFE - 2,164
282,295 271,277
Less: Interest expense capitalised W BAREFERE - (2,329)
Total &t 282,295 268,948
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. BEERBRSITHAETHMH

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

BiEEMAEA - FECRAIEMN)FE383(1)

(@)~ (b)

() (DI R A RIEFIFH 280 (F

BESMNEER) RENAFREEERERR

and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information ITRAB®FHMOT
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T
Fees e 1,323 1,099
Other emoluments: His -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind and &% 2B R EWEFIA KL
pension scheme contributions RIRE T B R 15,777 18,776
Performance-related bonus BERHES 1,086 2,839
Share-based payment expenses AR RER &S RFE 1,227 4,274
Subtotal NEE 18,090 25,889
Total =X 19,413 26,988
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options in respect of their services to the Group under the
share option scheme of the Company, further details of
which are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’'s remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

EERRSITHRAEHM (&)

RAFE - REARBNRD TS - &
TEERHUAEE N RBGERI D B
E—FHBHENMBIRERME29 - 2T HHE
ZARBEIREHEREE  YERRE
HEGSBERRABR - LXEFRESTT
BABZHMBRECD BREAFEHBRERT
HEHE ©

(a) BIFBITES
MREFESN FEILIERITEFHHR

ST
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Chang Pan, Peter ok 274 270
Sun, Patrick FEE 296 293
Li Shengli e 274 270
Total a&t 844 833

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2023: Nil).

RAEE - BERNFIBLIENITE
EMHAMIE (2023F : ) ©
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. BEENBRSTHASHMH (&)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)  Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HITEERESTHRAES
2024 20244
Salaries,
allowances Performance-  Share-based Pension
and benefits related payments scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus expenses contributions remuneration
e RER DRGHAER BihE

g BNEAN BuRE  HEEEX SRR CHED
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  AR%TR

Executive directors: WIES:

Tan Yong Nang e - 5,336 - 431 63 5,830
Edgar Dowse Collins Edgar Dowse Collins - 4,832 386 478 135 5,831
Yang Ku HE - 3,001 700 191 90 3,982

Non-executive directors; JEHITEE

Tamotsu MATSUI* Tamotsu MATSUI* - - - - - -
Hirata Toshiyuki** FHRET™ - - - - - -
Gao Lina BER 228 2,320 = 127 - 2,675
Gabriella Santosa Gabriella Santosa 251 - - - - 251
479 15,489 1,086 1,227 288 18,569

* Tamotsu MATSUI was appointed as a non- * Tamotsu MATSUIR 202446

executive director on 5 June 2024. ASEEZARIERNITES -
b Hirata Toshiyuki resigned on 5 June 2024. ** FHETR20244F6 A5 H Bt

£
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9. EERESTHAEHM (&)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HITEERESTHRAE (&)
(continued)
2023 20234
Salaries,
allowances  Performance-  Share-based Pension
and benefits related payment scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus expenses  contributions  remuneration
56 BER AR BERE Bhe
ik ENEF BagES HITEY FENES A HH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AREFT AREFT
Executive directors: ROES:
Tan Yong Nang BR&E = 5,744 = 1615 59 7418
Edgar Dowse Collins Edgar Dowse Collins - 6,064 1,065 1,713 - 8,842
Yang Ku BE = 3,864 1774 685 27 6,350
Gao Lina BER - 1,858 - 261 = 2,119
Non-executive directors:  FFHITES :
Hirata Toshiyuki TRk - - - - - -
Gao Lina BER 131 1,160 = = - 1,291
Gabriella Santosa Gabriella Santosa 135 - - - - 135
266 18,690 2,839 4,274 86 26,155

Saved for Mr. Tamotsu MATSUIl and Mr. Hirata
Toshiyuki who have waived their rights to receive
Directors’ fee, there was no arrangement under
which a director or the chief executive waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

BrTamotsu MATSUI%A K FMAE
TRERERSHEESESHEFR
SN RAFE  BEEEUESTH
ABRBEAZHRESRBREL

AT
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2024512 A31H

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
4 directors (2023: 3), whose emoluments are included in
the disclosure above. Details of the emoluments of the
remaining 1 (2023: 2) individual for the year are as follows:

10.

TEREFHESR

RFRNEEERFHNEERIE4RES
(20234 : 3%) - AMle B Ll ES -
RERNBBFH14 (202349F : 28) AAD
B & &7 T

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T AREET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RN EWET 3,990 6,090
Performance-related bonus EN S 50 1,206
Share-based payments expenses AR B E TR R 3 2 56 332
4,096 7,628

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

FHERATHRENIFEERIFRSITRA
BMREHHMERSHARINT

Number of employees

EEAH

2024 2023
2024 20234

RMB2,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 AR#2,000,001 L&
AR #3,000,0007T - -

RMB3,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 AR#3,000,001 TE
AR #4,000,0007C - 1

RMB4,000,001 to RMB5,000,000 AR#4,000,001 L&
AR #5,000,0007T 1 1
1 2

During the year, share options were granted to the highest
paid employees in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are included in note 29 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at
the date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for each reporting period is included in the
above disclosures.

RER  HERFHESRE RSB RHN
AR 35 eI AR An HAE - R — T H BRI
WRMTTE29 - ZEHMENDABEINEL
PHETE YERBEBHEFRSBEERAME
R EXHWEDBRESREHNMBHRR T
B -
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2024F12 A31H

INCOME TAX 1. FiEH
2024 2023
20244 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR®ET T ARBT T
Current income tax BIERAR1S 7
Charge for the year FAMR 6,893 5,231
(Overprovision)/underprovision EF (BERE),/
in prior years BETE (1,737) 51
Withholding tax AR (a) 13,620 13,558
Total tax charge for the year FATFIALREE 18,776 18,840

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss
before tax using the statutory rates to the tax expenses per

FERAZEREHERARHABRNHERX
HRBR A BEREA RH X ER B IR

the consolidated statement of profit or loss at the effective THETHHERENT
tax rate is as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 ARET ARBEFTT
Loss before tax TRl Es 18 (1,250,511) (469,951)
Tax at the statutory rates to losses in REEBEREHARIKE
countries where the company operates  Fi7E B 8B B H (b) (312,628) (110,189)
Effect of tax exemptions granted to BTREEBEEHKHR
agricultural entities ol (c) 304,225 88,575
Tax losses not recognised RERNTIAEE 328 1,198
Expenses not deductible for tax AR R X 15,390 26,047
Super deduction of research and i3 & NGk
development expenses (422) -
Tax losses utilised from previous AEAGE B IB & 18
periods - (400)
(Overprovision)/underprovision of FEERE (BBEEE)
taxation in prior years BETR (1,737) 51
Withholding tax TEAR (a) 13,620 13,558

18,776 18,840
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2024512 A31H

11.

12.

Notes:

(a)

DIVIDENDS

INCOME TAX (continued) 11. % (&)
Miet -
Withholding tax mainly represents the withholding (a) FEMHEERMB A RRFE AR
enterprise income tax when the subsidiaries in NABANERTRRE R BTN
Mainland China paid the royalty fees to the Company B BRFARAMNTENCEMSREE
and the withholding enterprise income tax rate is 10% £10% (20234 : 10%) °
during the year (2023: 10%).
The tax charge represents income tax in Mainland (b) TRIB 8 PA AR B P b B2 T D038 BT 22 AE /9 BT
China and Singapore, which is calculated at the B8 ZEBBERBRZEERMME
prevailing tax rate on the taxable income of the BT BB R R ERBUA M IRITH X
subsidiaries established in these countries and regions. FE EEMENT ¢
The statutory tax rates are as follows:
2024 2023

20244 20234
Singapore BTN 17% 17%
Mainland China o At 25% 25%
According to the prevailing tax rules and regulation (c) RIEPE A (REMERE) (T(hE
of the law of Mainland China Enterprise Income Tax FBBiE) ) MITHUBGRAIRIER - K
(the “EIT Law”), certain subsidiaries of the Group in SENFERAMEHBDHE AR SR
Mainland China are exempted from enterprise income HHTERBRAMEE R EEREENE
tax for taxable profit engaging in the operation of AN EREBEERER -
agricultural business in Mainland China for each
reporting period.

12. KE

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company to
its ordinary shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

HZE2024F12A31 B IEFE - ANQ AW E
MEZTBERBES SR EIRKE (20234
) o

7
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LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 699,391,863 (2023: 700,412,612)
outstanding during the year.

The Group had no potentially diluted ordinary shares
in issue during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023. The weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, as used in the basic loss
per share calculation, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are

13.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

BRAREERESBAARGERE
|
BEREANBRSBEENG AR EBRES
FEAFAEBEEBEBRERFRBEITEING
699,391,863% (20234 : 700,412,612/%)
BRI BETTAE -

HZE2024F K2023F12A31AILFE - &K
SETECETETEESL AR - TEMA
ZEBBNEFEHE ARG ESRELRE
BRENFRABITENEBEREE - IRER
BIETERER A EEREE AR ATR
f& M B R T 2 AR I I -

o

SREANMEEERIZATRERGE

based on:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT T
Loss &
Loss attributable to ordinary equity AR EEREREIE 2 AT
holders of the parent used in the basic TaRER B ARGER
loss per share calculation (1,269,287) (488,791)
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
Shares RH
Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESREREERNFEA
shares outstanding during the year BATIE SN E B AR N T H9 88
used in the basic loss per share calculation 699,391,863 700,412,612
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRE
Buildings  Machinery Office
and site and Motor furniture Construction
facilities equipment vehicles and fixtures in progress Total
BFR BARAER
BHRE  HEERRE KEEH EE£E ERIE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETr AR¥Trn AR®Tr AR%Tx AR%¥T:R
31 December 2024 20245128318
At 1 January 2024 202451 A1H
Cost BRA 2,472,193 2,384,935 36,228 62,847 15,985 4,972,188
Accumulated depreciation ZEHMERAE
and impairment (538,156) (1,032,684)  (10,266) (30,000) - (1,611,106)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,934,037 1,352,251 25,962 32,847 15,985 3,361,082
At 1 January 2024, net of 202451 A18 -
accumulated depreciation EHNBREFNER
and impairment BE 1,934,037 1,352,251 25,962 32,847 15,985 3,361,082
Additions NE 3,815 83,706 2,503 1,941 37,688 129,653
Disposal HeE (997) (14,358) (292) (211) - (15,858)
Depreciation for the year FNNE (105,977)  (194,607) (3,418) (10,951) - (314,953)
Transfer Eute 7,472 25,994 - 27 (33,493) -
At 31 December 2024, netof 72024512 f
accumulated depreciation 318 - EMk
and impairment SEMERRE 1,838,350 1,252,986 24,755 23,653 20,180 3,159,924
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12 8318
Cost B% 2,481,261 2,458,801 37,100 63,941 20,180 5,061,283
Accumulated depreciation 2AMERRE
and impairment (642,911) (1,205,815)  (12,345) (40,288) - (1,901,359)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,838,350 1,252,986 24,755 23,653 20,180 3,159,924
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M - BERRE (&)

(continued)
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
and site and Motor furniture ~ Construction
facilities  equipment vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total
BFR MRRER
B WWRERE  BEES EERE rETR CE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETET ARETT ARETT ARETR
31 December 2023 2023%F12A31AH
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 20231518
(BE75))
Cost (restated) AN (2 E3)) 1,083,446 1,933,952 32,409 43213 524,143 4,517,163
Accumulated depreciation ZAMERRE
and impairment (restated) (mE5) (442,371)  (869,556) (7,928) (22,108) - (1,341,963)
Net carrying amount (restated)  SRELS(E ({8=5]) 1,541,075 1,064,396 24,481 21,105 524,143 3,175,200
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F 1818 ¢
accumulated depreciation EHREZFMER
and impairment (restated) HE (EE7) 1,541,075 1,064,396 24,481 21,105 524,143 3,175,200
Additions NE 36,933 202,426 4,682 20,776 226,404 491,221
Disposal nf= (587) (9,272) (87) (464) (4,019)  (14,429)
Depreciation for the year FAME (96,124)  (179,434) (3,114) (9,859) - (288,531)
Transfer B 452,740 274,135 - 1,289 (730,543) (2,379)
At 31 December 2023, net of  #2023F12831A -
accumulated depreciation B RATE
and impairment RRE 1,934,037 1,352,251 25,962 32,847 15,985 3,361,082
At 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31H
Cost B%S 2,472,193 2,384,935 36,228 62,847 15,985 4,972,188
Accumulated depreciation ZHFERAE
and impairment (538,156)  (1,032,684) (10,266) (30,000) - (1,611,106)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,934,037 1,352,251 25,962 32,847 15,985 3,361,082

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying amount
of RMB509,805,000 (31 December 2023: RMB659,456,000)
was pledged to banks as security for the Group's bank
borrowings, as further detailed in note 26 to the financial

statements.

26 °

I == S

B R Z

M2024F12A31H + AR¥509,805,000
7L (20234124318 : AR%659,456,000
o) WEREAAED B G RITIERRNEER

TR ER - Fi B B 755 i K B 5E
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2024512 A31H

15. LEASES

15. HE&E
The Group as a lessee AEBEREBEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of REERELEREHAOSEHE T - &
leasehold land, buildings and site facilities and other FRiGHEBBEAREMREREEHEE
equipment used in its operations. Leases of land generally R THMEEBRTEEIZLI0FNHEE
have lease terms between 3 and 40 years. Lease terms H - HEMBRZERNEERE  TRETHE
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different B ST MG R 61 o 18 R H A 35 3 7% 1B Y
payment terms and conditions. Leases of buildings and HERTEB2E7FNMEER - HMERED
other site facilities generally have lease terms between 2 HEREAGI2EANERNEEN R X
and 7 years. Leases of other equipment generally have EREESE —RME @ AEBETERAR
lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of EENEEMEREEEE -
low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) (EHERE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use REAREE G HESENREEMN
assets and the movements during the year are as SEERAT
follows:
Leasehold Buildings and
land site facilities Total
HET#h BFRGHRIE &ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT ARETT
As at 31 December 2022 120224 12H31H &
and 1 January 2023 2023%1A1H
(restated) (#£E5) 1,355,686 625 1,356,311
Additions RE 55,232 - 55,232
Modification of leases e E 210,226 210,226
Charge for the year F AR (102,766) (395) (103,161)
As at 31 December 2023  72023F 12 A31H &
and 1 January 2024 2024%1H1H 1,518,378 230 1,518,608
Additions NE 6,190 2,400 8,590
Modification of leases EREE (30,211) - (30,211)
Charge for the year FRkR (95,949) (362) (96,311)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 1,398,408 2,268 1,400,676
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15.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying
amount of RMB12,858,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB13,134,000) was pledged to bank as security
for the Group’s bank borrowings, as further detailed

in note 26 to the financial statements.

Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the

HE (&)
AEBEREBEA ()

(a)

(6)

EHEELE (#)

MR2024F 12 A31H

AR

12,858,0007C (20234124314 :
AR#13,134,0007T) WEREAEE
BIGRITIE R AR EIRITHE A E
R HEB2HMBRERME6 -

HERE

RENEEBBENEREENZSIEN

movements during the year are as follows: U
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBEFTT
Carrying amount at the beginning of  F¥HEREE
the year 1,505,227 1,330,524
New leases g 8,590 55,232
Modification of leases EREE (32,178) 187,123
Accretion of interest recognised FRERFEIG M
during the year 81,263 80,315
Payments BN (121,863) (147,967)
Carrying amount at the end of FARIRHEE
the year 1,441,039 1,505,227
Analysed into: AT -
Current portion mEE D 84,536 70,513
Non-current portion IEREN D 1,356,503 1,434,714

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed

in note 38 to the financial statements.

HEBBENEIH B 7RI 75 3RKR M

FE38HEE o

219



220

AustAsia Group Ltd.
HEEEARAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15.

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:

HE (E)
AEBERARBA (B)
(c) REDAEREMERBHZELN
o
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBETTT

Interest on lease liabilities MEBENE 81,263 80,315
Depreciation charge of TREEENERS

right-of-use assets 30,710 25,613
Expense relating to short-term EEE AR

leases 17,779 25,850
Total amount recognised in NIE= R AR

profit or loss 129,752 131,778




16.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Annual Report 2024
ZRCNEER

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

16. HtbBEEEE

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

Software
B
RMB’000
ARBTT

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022%F 12 431 H &2023F1A1H

Cost (restated) R (FEEF) 18,122

Accumulated amortisation (restated) Rt (KB (14,821)
Net carrying amount at 1 January 2023, #2023F 1 A1 AKEFE - 2k

net of accumulated amortisation (restated) ZETEE (KET) 3,301
Additions NE 1,132
Transfer from construction in progress EReERETRR 2,379
Amortisation provided during the year FRNETIREHE (1,709)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H 5,103
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023F 12 431 H &2024F1A1H

Cost DN 20,258

Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (15,155)
Net carrying amount at 1 January 2024, R2024F1 B 1BEREFEE - 2%

net of accumulated amortisation RET#E 5,103
Amortisation provided during the year FNETIREE (1,597)
At 31 December 2024 2024412 A31H 3,506
At 31 December 2024 K2024F12 A31H

Cost B 20,258

Accumulated amortisation R (16,752)
Net carrying amount AR HE 3,506
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202412 A31H

17. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

17. HEtRHPEE

31 December

31 December

12HA31H 12H31H
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Prepayments for property, W - BE R FEENKRIE
plant and equipment 8,446 8,779

18. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE

18. RUEBWFE

31 December

31 December

12H31H 12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Amounts due from Food Union IEE 5 1% FE Y Food Union
AustAsia Holdings Pte. Ltd., AustAsia Holdings Pte. Ltd.
non-trade B 123,883 123,883
Amount due from a director JEW—RZEEFHE 4,580 =
Impairment A (123,883) (123,883)
4,580 -

The long-term receivable is repayable beyond twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. As at 31
December 2024, the balance of amount due from a director

was RMB4,580,000 (31 December 2023: Nil).

31 &) -

REIEWFIEA B RS REF 12 ARE
B o R2024F12A318 - BIR—BEEXK
BHitEeh A AR 4 580,000t (2023F 12 A
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INVENTORIES 19. EFE
31 December 31 December
12A31H 12H31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®EF T
Raw materials JRA R 1,085,887 1,234,011
Low-value consumables KB EFE R 34,249 42,143
Finished goods SR 31,605 35,607
1,151,741 1,311,761
Provision for inventories FERE (79) (79)
Total ST 1,151,662 1,311,682
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of R2024E12A318 + ARK1,026,713,000
RMB1,026,713,000 (31 December 2023: RMB1,045,701,000) 7t (2023F12 A31H : AER%1,045,701,000
was pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings, T B E D RSN EBIRTE I IE
as further detailed in note 26 to the financial statements. (R - SHiEE SRR SRR 26 o
BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 20. 4YBEE
A — Nature of activities A—EEIME

The biological assets of the Group are mainly dairy cows
held to produce raw milk and beef cattle held for sale.

The quantity of dairy cows and beef cattle owned by the
Group at the end of each reporting period is shown below.
The Group’s milkable cows are dairy cows held to produce
raw milk. Heifers and calves are those dairy cows that
have not reached the age at which they can produce milk.
Beef cattle are raised for sale. Beef cattle mainly consist of
Holstein, Angus and Wagyu.

AEBMENEET BHEAEERRNTH
BT R S A -

REREHR - AREHEE NPT MAFH
BENMTHATR - ARENKEFTER/EER
Hmaga it - BRF REFEREER
ENFRODT - AFTIREEMRE - A
FERRBFATHES - RRMF RN -

31 December 31 December

12A31H 128318

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Milkable cows [BASTES 65,282 66,085
Heifers and calves B4 RIES 56,969 64,717
Beef cattle A4 35,707 38,433
Total &5t 157,958 169,235
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20.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
A — Nature of activities (continued)

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached the age of approximately 14 months old.
After a pregnancy term of approximately nine months,
a calf is born and the dairy cow begins to produce raw
milk and the lactation period begins. A milkable cow is
typically milked for approximately 300 days before a dry
period of approximately 60 days. holstein will
be sold when they reach the age of approximately 540
days, angus are generally sold when they reach the age of
approximately 405 days and wagyu will be sold when they
reach the age of approximately 600 days.

In general,

When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred
to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated
fair value on the date of transfer.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its
biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following
risks:

I Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which its plantation and breeding take
place. The Group has established environmental
policies and procedures aimed at complying with
local environmental and other laws. Management
performs regular reviews to identify environmental
risks and to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate to manage these risks.

ii. Climate, disease and other natural risks

The Group’s biological assets are exposed to the
risk of damage from climatic changes, diseases
and other natural forces. The Group has extensive
processes in place aimed at monitoring and
mitigating those risks, including regular inspections
and disease controls and surveys and insurance.

20.

EYEE (&)
—EEME (8)
—RRIRER  BEKFREIN14E A KE - B

FARBBRETALERS - LBHEAMNESR
B EEEAE  DFRBREERED - I
HFH - — R BEELHCORNE D
,Hﬂzm s B H4I300 K PR o —RRIR

ToT BT3B A E F B i B 49 540 R B 5 4 o
& TR —REFREDL405 KK
HE - MAEFREDL600KFiG# HE -

BRARBEERBNE  REEEBN
Fﬁ.ﬁr@fﬁf 18 - A EEAKEFER -

AEBEER-RINREMEERROAR °
AREBEEGA TR

P EEREEES

AEEABTHLLEEEMEESR
X EEERER - AEREEH
ERERREER - EEETHIR
BEhEMER  BEBSETEHE
& AR R 5 AL e 3 R R ) E BV B8 K
RAEEZERR

ii. SRR~ R RAME ARG

RNEBMEYEERRERBKES L
KR REMBARZMEENBER
% o NEREET AR E EEE R
BZERBHORE BRETHER -
FRRIES - AE kR -
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BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

A — Nature of activities (continued)

ili.

Risks from the fluctuations in market prices of raw
milk, beef cattle and feeds

The Group is exposed to price fluctuations in raw
milk, beef cattle and feeds. The Group has taken
actions to continuously monitor the market price
of commodities and an in-house feed mill has
commenced production to minimize the risk from
the fluctuation of feeds’ price. Moreover, the Group
has also take measures to upgrade the breeding
technology and herd management so as to improve
the quality of raw milk and beef cattle to maintain a
stable growth of sales.

B - Value of dairy cows, beef cattle and forage

plants

The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows and beef
cattle owned by the Group at the end of each reporting
period is shown below.

20.

EMEE (&)
A-EBME ()

2024F12 A31H

i, REL) - BIF R AE 8 75 (B 185 8

g

AEBEBRRHY - AT RAHER
KEBER - REECRRITEFE
EEmmimE - BREFERRD A
MAEEAS R EREBNRREE

=K o s

A& B TR EREUE HE T AR

BRERMRSHER  UReRERED
RATHEE  KmRFEHENIEE

#E -

B— it - BAREARENNER

AEBHEANDTRAFREZHRERRHA
REEREHERNENBERA TR -

31 December

31 December

12A31H 12A31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Milkable cows pSEas 1,957,789 2,380,530
Heifers and calves B4 RIES 947,249 1,160,484
Beef cattle A4 419,136 512,402
Total B&r 3,324,174 4,053,416
Current BN &R 419,136 512,402
Non-current JEBNEA 2,905,038 3,541,014
3,324,174 4,053,416
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20. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 20. 4£YEE (&)
B - Value of dairy cows, beef cattle and forage B— 4 - W4 REAIHEWHERE (&)
plants (continued)
Heifers and Milkable Beef
calves cows cattle Total
B4 RESF [PASE e a5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARB%®TR AR®TR AR%Txn

Balance at 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H

B A5 B 990,387 2,459,901 380,267 3,830,555
Purchase BE 1,174 - 20,197 21,371
Feeding costs and others BRI AR R H A 994,055 = 477,554 1,471,609
Transfer R (787,273) 787,273 = =
Decrease due to sales B 85 Rk 2> (26,870) (193,736) (361,992) (582,598)
Losses arising from changes in KRB AR BEREE
fair value less costs to sell KA Z e H & (10,989) (672,908) (3,624) (687,521)

Balance at 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H

Epfets 1,160,484 2,380,530 512,402 4,053,416

Purchase BE 8,388 - 2,179 10,567

Feeding costs and others =S &L i 990,920 = 492,548 1,483,468

Transfer R (854,152) 854,152 = =

Decrease due to sales & $5 5 iRk > (157,433) (219,784) (497,946) (875,163)
Losses arising from changes in  REARBEREE

fair value less costs to sell PRAE B K E1E (200,958)  (1,057,109) (90,047)  (1,348,114)

Balance at 31 December 2024 72024412 A31H
Y 4 B2 947,249 1,957,789 419,136 3,324,174
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BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 20. 4£YEE (&)
B - Value of dairy cows, beef cattle and forage B— 4 - W4 REAIHEWHERE (&)
plants (continued)
The Group has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate REBEFTEYNFEEN G LG — (P28
Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent firm of TREFERERABRAA - HEHAREBGT
professional valuers, to assist the Group in assessing the HAREENDENAFARAEE - BUG
fair values of the Group’s dairy cows and beef cattle. The BREAEBEREETHEITER - IR
independent valuer and management of the Group held BERMATISEESNE L - UBREBENIE
meetings periodically to discuss the valuation techniques BHET ARBEEANBENBERM AR
and changes in market information to ensure that the HEEANPERANEIZEGASBERTBRE
valuation was performed properly. The valuation techniques MIFE37 R EE -
used in the determination of fair values as well as the key
inputs used in the valuation models are disclosed in note
37 to the financial statements.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s dairy cows and R2024F 128310 AEEEBAARE
beef cattle amounting to RMB3,324,174,000 (31 December 3,324,174,0007T (2023F 12 A31H : AR
2023: RMB3,684,156,000) were pledged to banks to secure #£3,684,156,0007T) BIH 4 RAFEHEA T
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group, as further RIT - UIERBE T AREEMNE TIRITER -
detailed in note 26 to the financial statements. FHIEBLHP B MK E26 o
The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of REHDO VB ERREMEEN A AEBER
raw milk and from the changes in fair value less costs to HEKNEBFAEAEMBRKEBERESNT
sell of biological assets is analysed as follows: N
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBETTT
Losses arising from changes in fair KEADF A A BEREENA
value less costs to sell of dairy cows BEHE1E (1,258,067) (683,897)
(Losses)/gains arising from changes in fair ~ KEFAFHED AR BERES
value less costs to sell of forage plants RRAZENH (E518), WS (2,579) 16,014
Losses arising from changes in fair RKERFRABEBBEEXR
value less costs to sell of beef cattle gErEE (90,047) (3,624)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw R ERIZ A A BEREEK A
milk at fair value less costs to sell at the 2 R R AN E A AU as
point of harvest 564,084 694,044
(786,609) 02,537
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. FEWFIE
31 December 31 December
128318 12A31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREETTT
Trade receivables e IR 303,927 374,293
Impairment RE (7,224) (7,244)
Net carrying amount AR FE 296,703 367,049

For sales of raw milk, milk products and feed products,
the Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period of sales
of raw milk and feed products is 30 days since the invoice
date. The credit period of sale of milk products is generally
30 to 45 days since the invoice date, extending up to 90
days for major customers. And no credit is provided for
beef cattle customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management.
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

In view

REBEMERSFRHEEREY - AR
REARNEEEREZARE  EFREPK
SN BEMBPABNMNEIE - RERER
EmEENEERARZAMHEI0OKR - I
SMHENEER —RALERAHEI0E
45K FERFPALEREHRZI0K - AW
ﬂiﬁﬂmﬁFEﬁ'ﬁWéE o K%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%t
o NEFEE E AR EEEUGK ﬁmf¢%¥
%\J WHRBEE W%\J*BF'EJLAHMZT S
&I - BE 4 fR %%&Efim,ﬁﬁﬁﬁa o B8
B SR A R 7N £ [ B W SR TE B R 2% 1N [A)
EPEHANSE  WUESEAEFHNEER
% o NG B I A B E FEUGRIB A RIS A (A
EHRIEMEAERTE - BUGRIETGT

5 o
B
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net

of loss allowance, is as follows:
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31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

21. FEWEIE (E)
RIREER - BUE

31 December

KR (HERE R R ) 1R %
SRHBADHREATIT ¢

31 December

12H31H 12H31H
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Within 1 month —EAR 285,339 351,535
1 to 2 months 12 2{E A 10,109 8,061
2 to 3 months 22318 A 842 2,365
Over 3 months 3MEAME 413 5,088
296,703 367,049

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due R2024F 12831 H » AEEAEUWFIE

from a related party of RMB16,177,000 as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: RMB18,830,000),
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the

major customers of the Group.

B 45 JE K B8
which are
18,830,0007T)
BERIRHMNEEERERSR -

HE ESBAARE
16,177,0007C (2023412 A31H : AR
AEBURAAEEREE

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables of M2024F12H31H + AR#¥277,019,000

RMB277,019,000 (31 December 2023: RMB310,033,000) 7t (202312 A31H : AK¥310,033,000

were pledged to banks to secure certain bank borrowings 7o) KSR R B T RT - AERET

granted to the Group, as further detailed in note 26 to the AEBNETRITER  FEBL2HYER
financial statements. FMIEE26 o

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARBTFTT

At beginning of year REA] 7,244 -

(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment CR{ERBEE) RAERE
loss (note 7) (Ha£7) (20) 7,244
At end of year RER 7,224 7,244
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21.

22.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. BEWFIE (&)
An impairment analysis is performed at the reporting date Rid BHE AR EBBETRED T - A
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. FTETEHEEEE EHEEEEEDER
The expected credit loss rates are based on days past due EEHUBEBEANZERS S EAR (A
for groupings of various customer segments with similar Zine c EmELY - FRPEAEFR - UK
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, NERABESEMEERBEANESEHE)
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit MBI REETE - R2024F12HA31H ' &
or other forms of credit insurance). As at 31 December BREKERNSGEARE7, 224,000 L& E
2024, the balance of RMB7,224,000 with special risks was I EIERBRERE -
assessed individually and fully impaired.
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 22. FEfFE -  HttEWREREMEE
OTHER ASSETS
31 December 31 December
12H31H 12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBEFTT
Prepayments TR IR 228,599 259,700
Deposits and other receivables B RE M EY IR 11,042 17,737
239,641 277,437

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. At 31 December 2023
and 2024, the Group expected that the credit risk was
considered to be low and the expected credit loss rate was
immaterial, thus the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of other receivable
due from a director was RMB1,334,000 (31 December
2023: RMB6,442,000).

PIALESRNESREEMT R HELOR
BH S RSB EIE B - M2023F K
2024F 12 A31H ' AEEEAEERRE
K BFEHEESERYTEKN  BKEE
BEWTIEARED -

R2024F12A31H - EbEIREEHIAL
B ARE1,334,0007T (2023412 A 31
B : AR®6,442,0007T) °
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2024F12 A31H

RERBRESEYURCERER

31 December

31 December

12H31H 12A31H

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE 282,763 274,208
Less: Pledged deposits and restricted cash & : EEFFRRZRHEIRE (842) (209)
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEED 281,921 273,999

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group were denominated in the following
currencies. The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China's Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RB|ERR - AEENRE R|ITHEBIAT
JIEHEE - ARBIEEdRLAREME
¥ BRRIESE AU CHMNEE GG M
(e - EERNMETERTE)  ~AEEWL
FHURBRRBREIIEXHNRITHARE

REBEREMER -

31 December

31 December

12A31H 12A31H

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBEFTT

RMB AREE 275,954 264,916
usD SETT 5,150 8,303
Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD") BT 418 416
Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) T 319 364
Australian Dollar (“AUD") BIT 80 =
Total A& 281,921 273,999
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23.

24,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The cash and bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

As at 31 December 2024, the bank balances of RMB15,000
were pledged to bank to secure bank borrowings granted
to the Group (31 December 2023: RMB4,000).

As at 31 December 2024, there was no deposit pledged to
bank as security for the purchase of imported alfalfa (31
December 2023: RMB205,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the bank balances of
RMB827,000 (31 December 2023: Nil) were restricted by
the bank because a supplier is in litigation, resulting in a
court-freeze on accounts payable.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of
each reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

23.

24,

ReRBESEEYURBSEARAER
(&)

PR SRIEE B RTFRAERIH A E
BEDFI S - Be RRITEBEASALEE
KRB R ATIRTT -

1K2024F12A31H + HEAR®E15,0007TH
RITHEBERFRITUEALAEEERE
TEFOER (2023F12A310 : AR
4,0007T) °

R2024F12A31H » EFXEMRFE
T 1EAEBENERENER (20234124
318 : AR¥205,0007T) °

R2024F 12831 H  RITEHRARK
827,0007T (2023512 A31H : T) BH—H
HEFERFLRPMIZBRITRS - BEE
BTRAE B AR IR o

PR RRIR

REBREMRENERHAHNENFTEZER
BT

31 December 31 December

12A31H 12H31H

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Within 2 months 2@ A AR 386,290 477,966
2 to 6 months 22618 A 182,871 157,526
6 to 12 months 621218 A 89,392 124,107
Over 1 year 1A F 33,749 25,710
692,302 785,309




24.

25.

TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the trade payables of
RMB55,083,000 (31 December 2023: RMB34,823,000),
which are due to a related party, are repayable on credit
terms similar to those offered by the major suppliers of the

Group.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on the terms of 30-180 days.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
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24. FEATFRIE ()

#2024F12A31H » AR¥55,083,0007T
(2023F12A31H : AR¥34,823,0007T)
HEN RIE AR A EE E BEERATIR
HEBERTBEUNZEGIEN FHEES -

JEMFRIBB TR BEEHREEA30E180
3{ °

25. HhEMAREREFIER

31 December 31 December

12A31H 12A31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

k3 ARBT ARBT T

Other payables H fth S 5B 27,191 24,126
Accruals FEETIER 31,697 17,481
Payroll payable ERIE 54,895 71,672
Construction payables B EESE 218,033 228,401
Contract liabilities aHBaE (a) 44,449 10,970
Interest payable FERTFI S 14,726 16,349
390,991 368,999

Included in the Group’s other payable was an amount due
to a related party of RMB2,489,000 as at 31 December

2024 (31 December 2023: RMB2,281,000).

MR2024F 1231 H » NEBEH {thER X
THB R IE BB 5 sRIE A R#2,489,0007T
(2023412 A31H : AR¥2281,0007T) °
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25.

26.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) 25. HtENFHEREIER (&)
Note: i -
(a) Contract liabilities (a) aHEE
The contract liabilities of the Group represent only the REFNSHBEEERPTENIIE
advances from customers. The following table shows TREIRERREHYT AR D BEELS
revenue recognised that was included in the balance BHEERUWA -
of contract liabilities at the beginning of each reporting
period.
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T AR%TT
Advances from customers BPEBENMNRIE 10,970 19,106
INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. FTEBITER
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
2024%12831H 2023F12A31H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRFIE(%) B  ARETR  BERAE%) HEAE ARETR
Current B &8
Bank loans - secured RITER - FHEA 3.90-4.80 2025 2,031,410 4.00-4.80 2024 1,560,212
Current portion of long-term R ESR{TEFENE
bank loans - secured o — FEA 3.30-9.56 2025 431,085  3.40-8.86 2024 456,201
2,462,495 2,016,413
Non-current Fe BN ER
Bank loans - secured RITER - BER 3.30-9.56  2026-2028 1,035,897  3.40-8.86  2025-2028 1,383,910
3,498,392 3,400,323
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2024F12 A31H

26. FTEMBITHEIRGE)

31 December 31 December

12A31H 128311
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBEFT T

Analysed into: AITET
Bank loans: IRITEK -
Within one year or on demand —FAYIEEK 2,462,495 2.016,413
In the second year B 461,863 523,680
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FZENF (BEEEMF) 574,034 860,230
3,498,392 3,400,323
Notes: st -

(a) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank facilities
amounted to RMB4,183,316,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB4,710,046,000), of which the unutilized bank
facilities were RMB202,681,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB1,196,984,000). The Group'’s facilities are secured
by the pledge of certain of the Group’s assets.

(b) The Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, deposits of
RMB15,000 were pledged to banks to secure
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2023: RMB4,000);

(i) As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables
of RMB277,019,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2023: RMB310,033,000);

(iii) As at 31 December 2024, inventories of
RMB1,026,713,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2023: RMB1,045,701,000);

MN2024% 128310 - NEEMAHETT
B A AREA4,183,316,0007T (2023
F12H318 : AR%4,710,046,000
) HRXBAMNBITERABARE
202,681,000t (2023F 12 A31H : A
R#1,196,984,0007T) ° AEBENER
ANEETEEFERR -

AEBEIRITEUA T 5= IR (IR

(i) R2024F12A318 * FHRA
R¥15,000t 2| FIRT
(2023F12H318 : AR
4,00070) ' fEAARSEEERES
FRITERBER

(ii) R2024F 128318 - ELR
HIEAR®277,019,0007T
(2023F12A31H : AR
310,033,0007t) B & IH F 8
1T EAAEEREE TIRTT
BRI ER

(i)  M2024%12H318  FEAR
#1,026,713,0007T (20234 12
A318 : AR¥1,045,701,000
) BEBTIRIT - (ERAEE
BRETHRITEROER
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2024512 A31H

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

As at 31 December 2024, property, plant and
equipment of RMB509,805,000 were pledged
to banks to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB659,456,000);

As at 31 December 2024, biological assets of
RMB3,324,174,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2023: RMB3,684,156,000);

As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets
of RMB12,858,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2023: RMB13,134,000);

As at 31 December 2024, shares of a subsidiary
of RMB562,000,000 were pledged to banks to
secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2023: RMB562,000,000);

As at 31 December 2024, investments in certain
subsidiaries of RMB1,517,996,000 were pledged
to banks to secure certain bank borrowings
granted to the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB1,517,996,000); and

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
bank loans amounting to RMB3,476,940,000
were guaranteed by the Company and certain
subsidiaries of the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB3,236,561,000).

26.

FTESRITHER (&)

Wizt - (&)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

R2024F12A318 W% &
ER&E#HEARE509,805,000
7T(2023F12A31H : AR
659,456,0007T) B TR
17 ERASEERE TIRITE
EFEIR

MN2024%12 318 £9%
EEANRKS,324,174,0007C
(2023%F12A31H : AR¥
3,684,156,0007T) K T 4R
11 EAREEERE TRITE
FEPER

MN2024%12A318 " £
EEEARK12,858,0007T
(2023%F12A31H : ARM
13,134,0007T) B #IFFIRTT
EAAEBERE THRITER
PER:

R2024F12A318 — KK B
AR B AR 562,000,000
JT(2023F12A318 : AR
562,000,0007T) B TR
11 EAREEERE TRITE
FEFER:

R2024F12A318 HTHB
ANRIEE ARKE1,517,996,000
JT(2023F12A318 : AR
1,517,996,0007%) EEM TR
1T tERASEERE TIRITE
FEER: &

M2024%12 43180 K&
SEEETRTERARSE
3,476,940,00070(2023F 12 A
31H : AR#3,236,561,000
JT) BAAR RAE B E TH
BATEER -
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. :tESETHE(E)

(continued)

2024F12 A31H

Notes: (continued) et - (#)
(c) The ba.nk borrowings are denominated in following (©) ST S TB R
currencies:
31 December 31 December
12H31H 12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
UsD E 206,004 256,925
RMB AR 3,292,388 3,143,398
3,498,392 3,400,323
27. DEFERRED TAX 27. EEBIIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows: RLEBIEBENZEHOT
Deferred tax liabilities EEBEAE
Withholding
taxes
BB
RMB’000
AR¥TR
At 1 January 2023 (restated) #2023F1 518 (&KEF) 4,179
Foreign exchange movement HNE B 156
Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 7 2023F 12 A31 BRI A SRR R
consolidated statement of financial position at FRERAELETIE S EERE
31 December 2023 4,335
Foreign exchange movement SINE B Eh -
Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 202412 A31 HRER A ISR R
consolidated statement of financial position at PR AEET B & R
31 December 2024 4,335
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27.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following item:

27.

ERERE ()
EEBEEE (&)
BRI TSR B HPRER A E E AR HER -

31 December 31 December

12A31H 12A31H

2024 2023

2024 F 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBEFTT

Tax losses TIEE 18 23,778 54,195

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries had unused tax losses of RMB23,778,000 (31
December 2023: RMB54,195,000) incurred by the non-
agricultural business in Mainland China. These unused tax
losses will expire in subsequent 5 years as disclosed in
the following table if not utilised. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in relation to such tax losses as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

MR2024F 128318 - AEEETHB A A
R B AR IE R EBE LR RFERTIE
B8 B AREE23,778,0007T (2023412 5
318 : AR®ES4,195,0007T) ° #0 TR
B ELERFEANEBESERESTAL
H(ETFA) - AREER BREINERZE
A ERBEF BT REET K - A ARBZ
ERBEBIEBRRECHBEE -

31 December 31 December

128318 12A31H

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AR®ET T

Year 2024 20244 E - 31,727
Year 2025 20254 E 17,674 17,674
Year 2026 2026 F E - =
Year 2027 2027 F & - -
Year 2028 20284 Z 4,794 4,794
Year 2029 20294 Z 1,310 =
23,778 54,195
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DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the Mainland China Corporate Income Tax
Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the accumulated
profits of Mainland China subsidiaries amounting to
RMB1,550,254,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: RMB2,465,758,000), as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future because the Group will retain the
funding for the development in Mainland China.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

27.

28.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

EAERE (&)
EEBEEE (&)

BHE(PFREAMEERETE)  RAERA
KL EIINE (2R M INE IR B E TR A
I8 BB AM10% HITEINEL % E B 20084
1A1THBES - BHAMR2007F12431H
BEENEF o a0 B R INE R E E BT
EMREEER 2 HFERKE - BIFTIA
EARENENRE ANEBENEARER
5% o Bt - ANEEAERR A B Ak 37 89K
B ARIEBE2008F1 A1 BRELANANFAE
KRR B AR TEFORL o 0 Kk P B 79 b B /2B
RNEIR2024F12 A3 AWM ERFBHARKE
1,550,254,0007T (20234128318 : AR
#52,465,758,0007T) REr & MR T IRE
SEFHIEEAE - Th R AN SR B AL S ) B B
FrEBARME BEARAEERBRBETEH
AEREMNES  ZEFEREZERUERL
RRATgETSHEE o

AR AEBRRX N BRE T FEERMAFHR
‘R -

IR A<

42

31 December 31 December

12A31H 12A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBETTT
Issued and fully paid: BBEITRERE
700,463,112 (2023: 700,463,112) 700,463,112(20234 :
ordinary shares 700,463,112) A% & @A 2,435,712 2,435,712
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 28.

Shares (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital

B2 (&)
B4 (%)
ARARAEHEBMT -

is as follows:
Number of
shares in
issue  Share capital
ERITROBE R
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At 31 December 2022 and 2022412 431 B & 20234
1 January 2023 (restated) 1A18 (&E3)) 699,857,112 2,432,340
Issuance of shares pursuant to the exercise RIETT{E B RIEZITIRG
of the over-allotment option 606,000 3,372
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023F12A318 &
20241 H1H 700,463,112 2,435,712
At 31 December 2024 K2024F12831H 700,463,112 2,435,712

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as and when declared by the Company.
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without
restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 29.

In July 2020, the Company implemented the “AAG
Performance Share Plan” (the “AAG PSP”). The purpose of
the AAG PSP is to, inter alia, foster an ownership culture
within the AustAsia Group which aligns the interests of
executives and employees of the AustAsia Group with the
interests of its shareholders and to motivate participants in
the AAG PSP to achieve key financial and operational goals
of AAG and/or its respective business units. The AAG PSP
shall continue in effect for a term of five years, provided
always that the AAG PSP may continue beyond the above
stipulated period with the approval of the shareholders of
the Company.

Under the terms of the AAG PSP, the directors and
employees of the AustAsia Group who have met the
relevant criteria set out in the AAG PSP or by the
Remuneration Committee of AAG (“AAG Remuneration
Committee”), are eligible to participate in the AAG PSP.

EEBRFEABEREAARAEIREERR
BMBEBRERES FRE®E T
ERIR S o BRI EEE -

LR 6 R E R 894K

R2020F7 8 ARAIEH T [AAGHE AR
METEl] - AAGEMIRMFTEIM B M (K
B35) FEAustAsia GroupREBIZE T AS
{t » £ AustAsia Groups & K& (& 8 #F| 35 6
HBRRFERET - - WHBAAGEI RN,
ENLEETBAAGERES B EK
EPIMBAR S RIEE BIZ - AAGEBRND
FTENARBAAST BEEAAAREHL
B AAGEBIRMFTBIPT LA BB A F il R
TR HARR o

RAAGHE MM EFEMEFIAT + AustAsia
GroupMEZEREEEFE HAAGHE MK
MEFEIHXAAGHIMZE S ([AAGHIMZ B
=) REMBBIZE  RBEBRSHEAAGE
WA ET S -
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The ordinary shares which are the subject of the awards
are based on 100% of the grant. The shares awarded on
the vesting date could range from 0% to 200% depending
on the achievement of pre-determined conditions within
specified periods. Settlement will be in cash unless the
Company has achieved an IPO by the date of settlement,
in which event settlement will be in AAG shares.

For equity-settled tranches, the Group applied the binomial
option pricing model in measuring the fair value of the
share awards at the grant date. The equity-settled tranches
are recognised as expenses over the performance period.
The equity-settled component referring to this right is
recognised as AAG performance share plan reserve in note
30 to the financial statements.

The following table illustrates the movements of the AAG
Performance Share Plan during the year:

29.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

AR 40 B E 1 8K (8)

EARBMERBMHRIEI00% K Tt E
e RNEBEHEBORDLEANRO%ZE
200% 2 [+ B EUR K SR G 72 15 7 B B
REGEXENR - BRIERARELAERSHNE
BTHERAARAEE  TRIBURSETE
g EARRCDERERAHEES A
AAGHRIDHEITHHE -

HRgEaENEY AKRERAT ZEAERX
HEEERYREERR T A RN ZEN

AABE - AL B ERE BN EER
BB - SERAIE RIS ER
T HRR B RS0 T TR BAAGH MR D B)
B -

TRINTERNAAGE MR M & B A& B 1F
5

2024 2023

2024 % 2023%F

Number Number

HE HE

Outstanding at 1 January W1 A1RETESN 682,100 1,293,100
Exercised during the year FRNITHE (682,100) (611,000)
Outstanding at 31 December W12 31 BE#TES - 682,100

The Group recognised expenses of RMB2,309,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB6,501,000).

KREBEHE2024F12A31HILFERER
M AR¥2 309,000 (20234 : AR
6,501,0007T) °
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

30. RESERVES 30. f#fE

31 December 31 December

12A31H 12H31H

2024 2023

2024 % 2023%F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

k3 AR¥T T ARBTTT

Statutory reserve EERES (a) 520,143 517,989
AAG Share Appreciation Plan AAG 17 18 B 5l (12,735) (12,735)
Japfa Performance Share Plan (EBEBIR DT E 7,099 7,099
AAG Performance Share Plan AAGEBRIE D ETEI 29 18,725 19,423
Merger reserve & Pt (b) (54,866) (54,866)
Fair value reserve NREERE (c) (52,197) (52,197)
Foreign currency translation reserve INEEIR B (d) 71,150 71,150
Retained profits B 17 874,481 2,145,922
1,371,800 2,641,785

(a)  Statutory reserve (a) ZEERES

In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law
applicable to the subsidiaries in Mainland China,
the subsidiaries are required to make appropriation
to Statutory Reserve (“SR”). At least 10% of
the statutory profits after tax as determined in
accordance with the applicable Mainland China
accounting standards and regulations must be
allocated to SR until the cumulative total of the SR
reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital.
Subject to approval from the relevant Mainland
China authorities, SR may be used to offset any
accumulated losses or increase in the registered
capital of the subsidiary. SR is not available for
dividend distribution to shareholders.

1R 15 58 P 7 o B A s B B 2 B (S
BhELR) MBRRBREETH
#He (DEERES]) - BREBEERANSP
B At & 5 2E BI RN R e E B SA B B
“ABEHNEL10%BRRDEIEERTE
fFES HEErTHESHIRFHEE
ERIK B A A EMERRN50% « &
BB IS PIiE - A EHES A
LA B S P B A BV fE Al 25t 518
SEMEFEMER - ZEREEBESTE
ARABRRIRERS o

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREET T

Balance at 1 January W1 A1ERERS 517,989 514,777
Transferred from retained profits B 7FFEH#E 1 2,154 3,212
Balance at 31 December ®12 A31 BRI &R 520,143 517,989
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30. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference
between the consideration paid and the net assets
of a subsidiary restructured under common control.
The Group has applied the pooling of interest
method for business combination under common
control.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve represents the present value
changes recognised for the Company’'s equity
investment for which the Company has elected to
present the value changes in other comprehensive
income.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents
exchange differences arising from the translation
of foreign operations whose functional currencies
are different from that of the Group’s presentation
currency.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

30. f#fE (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BHtEAE

B HHREERE IS EERES
TEANMBAREEFECHNE
B ARERARRESIRETHR
ZH T RRES G -

N

NABEEMEE
AABEFRERERR QAR R RE
RENREZS  ARARRERZE
EBEZHTAHLME2EHKE -

N

I ERE
SNEBEEEREREEEREARS
B2 SRE WA BN E I R E
AR R

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBT T

Balance at the beginning of year REY R AR 71,150 75,152
Net effect of exchange differences TBINEFSITHE A RVFE R

arising from translation of foreign EHENTE
operations - (4,002)
Balance at the end of year RERI LR 71,150 71,150
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31 December 2024
202412 A31H

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

31. HFERTRERMT

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFEERSB
During the year, the Group had non-cash RAFE KXEBRGSHAEEEK
additions to right-of-use assets and lease HEBBENIFREAFAESNAR
liabilities of RMB8,590,000 (2023: RMB55,232,000) #8,590,0007T (20234 : AR
and RMB8,590,000 (2023: RMB55,232,000), 55,232,0007T) & AR%8,590,000
respectively, in respect of lease arrangement for 7T (20234 : AR¥55,232,000
leasehold land and buildings and site facilities. L) DERHEET N RIEF RS
HIEHE S HE o
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REFTBHFELENAEGSED
activities
2024 2024 F
Other payables
Interest- and accruals -
bearing bank Lease interest
borrowings liabilities payable
Hit B RER
FESt1EE —
SHEBITER HEAE FERFIE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR®T T AR®T T
At 1 January 2024 1202441818 3,400,323 1,505,227 16,349
Changes from financing MEREREL
cash flows 80,994 (121,863) (202,655)
New leases HE - 8,590 =
Modification of leases B E - (32,178) -
Amortisation of arrangement fee % & #4 13,221 = =
Foreign exchange movement HNE £ 3,854 - -
Interest expense FEFAX - 81,263 201,032
At 31 December 2024 12024412 8318 3,498,392 1,441,039 14,726
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31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b)

(c)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

31. HLREBE

REXRME ()

(b) BMEFBFELNRESD (H)

2023 2023%F
Interest- Other payables
bearing and accruals -
bank Lease interest
borrowings liabilities payable
H At JE AT FRIE K
FEFTIER —
FTEERITIER HEBE FERTFIE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARBEFTT
At 1 January 2023 (restated) #2023%1H1H
(&=75)) 2,172,437 1,330,524 10,774
Changes from financing BMERSREZD
cash flows 1,247,988 (147,967) (185,387)
New leases g - 55,232 =
Revision of lease terms TREMEET - 187,123 =
Foreign exchange movement #SMNE &) (20,102) = =
Interest expense capitalised BAbLF| B - = 2,329
Interest expense R BRI = 80,315 188,633
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H 3,400,323 1,505,227 16,349

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

(c) HERSRHARE

SPAREREXRNHERSRHARE

statements of cash flows is as follows: R
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBT T
Within operating activities R EHF 17,779 25,850
Within financing activities ERE EE 121,863 147,967
Total G 139,642 173,817
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. HHEAEE

No significant contingent liabilities were recognised within

the Group during the year.

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 33. EEHEA

Details of the Group’s assets pledged are included in note

RER  AEBYEEREARBAE -

AEEBANEEFTRN P BHRRM 23

23 and note 26 to the financial statements. N f5E26 ©
34. COMMITMENTS 34. EE
The Group had the following contractual commitments at REBEPREHRE NG KRE

the end of the reporting period:

31 December

31 December

12A31H 12H31H
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBEFTT
Capital commitments in respect of: BUATHHEBEARRE :
Construction in progress ERIE 1,028 247
35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BBMALRZ
(a) The Group had the following transactions with (a) FEERFREBEBLIETTUT
related parties during the year: RB:
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
et ARMT T ARBEFTT
Entity controlled by the shareholder =¥ AR T BEAFEX
which has significant influence AT HI R B 88
over the Company
Sales of products EmiHE (i) 170,209 200,815
Entities controlled by the same RN AR — AR
Controlling Shareholders of the EHNEE
Company
Purchase of inventories BETE (ii) 168,049 118,789
Management fee expense ERERARY (iif) 4,132 2,940
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31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35. BBAEXRZ (&)

(a)

(b)

The Group had the following transactions with (a)
related parties during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(i) The sales of products to the entity controlled by
the shareholder which has significant influence
over the Company were made according to
the market prices and conditions offered to the
other major customers of the Group.

(i) The purchase of inventories was mainly related
to feed. The transactions have been conducted
in accordance with market prices agreed
between the parties.

(iii) The management fee expense was mainly
related to the service charge by the entity
controlled by the same Controlling Shareholders
of the Company. The fee was equal to the cost
of providing the services plus 5%.

Compensation of key management personnel (b)
of the Group:

FAEERFAEBABLETTUT
X5 - (&)

(i) B ARFEBERFZEHOBRR
ERHNBERBFLNEREE
REAASEEMBEIERFRE
HEV IS ER R ARIFETT -

(ii) BEFETZEARNBH - &
EXGHIRBETEHENT S
BT -

(iiy EERERAAXFZHAARRT
7] — ¥2 A% A% 3R 422 51 ) B L B
MRS EER - ZBERASHIE
HARIEHIBL A IN5% ©

AEEFTEEBEASEHM :
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT T

Short-term employee benefits EHEEREN 17,342 21,881
Share-based payments expenses LARRAD B E TR 3 2 1,227 4,274
Total compensation paid to TNTFEEEBEAEN

key management personnel e 18,569 26,155

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’'s
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial
statements.

BHAEERESTTBRABMESHE—
FHBHNI B RERMEEY
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35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

Outstanding balances with related parties

35. BAMELRZ (&)
(c) EREAEETT ORI AER

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024128311 2023%12A31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR¥TR AREFT
Trade receivables FEMFRIE
Meiji Dairy (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. and BAILE (BMN) BRAE
other subsidiaries of Meiji Co. LA AR EMHITE LA (i) 16,177 18,830
Prepayments, other receivables JERFIE - AthERFIER
and other assets HtEE
Yang Ku BE (ii) 1,334 6,442
Long-term receivable REENGR
Yang Ku 15 (i) 4,580 =
Trade payables JERFIE
Annona Pte. Ltd. Annona Pte. Ltd. (i) 55,083 34,823
Other payables and accruals HiENFIBERERIEE
Annona Technical Services Pte. Ltd. Annona Technical Services
Pte. Ltd. () 2,489 2,281

(i) Amounts due from and due to the related

parties were unsecured,

interest-free and

repayable on credit terms.

(i) Amount due from a director was unsecured
and repayable by month within five years.
The interest rate is LPR plus 2%.

(i) & W I e A~ Rt 77 SR IR AR AR
- 2ERZEERKESR -

(i EREFFEASERFRERN
ﬁim?ﬁﬁ B8 o FIERAEE
HMBEFIE(LPR) 2% °

%- )8
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

As at 31 December 2024

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

BERABSNEMIA
RBERR  SESHTANKREENT

A2024%F12A31H

Financial assets TREE
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
REBER A
STENEREE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIBEEEYD 281,921
Pledged deposits and restricted cash EEREREZRHES 842
Trade receivables e U kT8 296,703
Long-term receivable REfEWFRIE 4,580
Deposits and other receivables e R H AR EIE 11,042
Total CE 595,088
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R SR
STENERAE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Trade payables AN RE] 692,302
Financial liabilities included in other FT A E A JE A RRIE K AT IE B Y
payables and accruals SRBE 259,950
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HEERITER 3,498,392
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,441,039
Total i 5,891,683
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36.

(continued)

As at 31 December 2023

HR2023F 12831 H

Financial assets TREE
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
£i7% - $iSIDWIN
ATENEREE
RMB’000
ARBTT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEED 273,999
Pledged deposits and restricted cash EEREREZBRHES 209
Trade receivables e IR 367,049
Deposits and other receivables e MEMERFIR 17,737
Total CE 658,994
Financial liabilities cRas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
Eizg: iz ]DHIN
AEMNESRAE
RMB’000
ARETIT
Trade payables FETRIAR 785,309
Financial liabilities included in other AT AH A &~ RRIE K AT IE B Y
payables and accruals SRBE 268,876
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEERITIER 3,400,323
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,505,227

Total

A&T 5,959,735
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits and restricted cash, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, trade payables, other payables and
accruals and short-term interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of long-term receivable, long-term interest-
bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for long-term receivable, long-term interest-bearing
bank borrowings and lease liabilities as at the end of the
year were assessed to be insignificant.

37.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

REEFE

TRMEENBBZARBENREEIARE
RHEHTARMIEXBESBRFEENER
TETEMXZMBFHOSEARK - T7177
ERBRIAREFEAEE :

>

R

N
VI

RekBREEY CEAFRRZRHIR
T BUWGRE - Re R EMBEKGR - BN
FRIA ~ EAb R SRIE KR IE B DA RS HIET
BHRITERz ANEBERAEKEERSE - £
EMNZEFTENEHHMNE -

REREFIE R ERITEREBER
BZARBEDBBEAEBRLUENR - F
RN RGHR A TAE A A X
HIEFAKRESREBLTHRRAE - X
SEBHFNFENRMEEFE  RBFE
RITEREBEERENTEOR RSN
ARBEEZHEFERALTERK -
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31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

37.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets which were measured in

Level 3 as at 31 December 2023 and 2024:

Type

Rt

Valuation techniques

fhE{E M

37. LQAEEEE (H)

AT AR2023F 202412 A31 BHRE
A ENEYEEGEMBENER NI EH

RBABBORE

Significant unobservable
inputs

EXTAEERARE

Inter-relationship

between significant
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurements
ERFTUEEBABBHEAR
EEFEZEHNALER

Heifers and calves

B4 REL

The fair value of 14-month-
old heifers and calves is
determined by reference

to the local market selling
price.

14E A RBERFREFHR
REED2REMTISEERE
F oo

For the groups of heifers
and calves which are
younger than 14 months
old, incremental costs
required to raise the cows
from their respective ages
at the end of each reporting
period up to 14 months
were subtracted.
HRTm14E AN E K R
B REEZREPIRBL
FRZEFiRAEE14EA
PR VIR SR -

For heifers and calves
which aged between 14
and 24 months, incremental
costs required to raise the
heifers from 14 months to
their respective ages at

the end of each reporting
period were added.
N 14Z 24 A ME K4 K
B TS RERRER
KRERI4ERRABRERBEEF
B ATRE AL SRR ©

Estimated local market
selling prices of 14-month-
old heifers were RMB20,700
and RMB21,800 per head
as at 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively.
720244 [ 2023412 A 31

H - 14ERRERFOE M
MISEEMFIIAEEAR
#20,7007T k AR #521,800
I o

Incremental costs for
heifers and calves which
are younger than 14 months
old ranged from RMB8,839
to RMB17,613 and
RMB9,531 to RMB18,502
per head as at 31
December 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

20244 220234 12 A 31
B Tmil4EANEEENX
4 REFHIEERAD BN
TARYS,839TTEARKE
17,613 TR AR¥9,531TE
AR#18,5027T °

Incremental costs for
heifers and calves which
aged between 14 and 24
months were RMB13,404
and RMB13,555 per head
as at 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively.
20244 220234512 A 31
B 14224 AMEKSE
RIEH SRR SR D 5
BARKEA3404 TR AREE
13,5557T °

An increase in the
estimated local market
selling price used would
result in an increase in the
fair value of the heifers and
calves, and vice versa.
PRt At EminERE L
FRERERFREFOAR
BEEN - RZA

An increase in the
incremental costs used
would result in a increase in
the fair value of heifers and
calves which are younger
than 14 months, and vice
versa.

FTER FA 835 8 BRI I B 3R
Tm14E R BB K4 RIEF
B AREEEMN  R2ZIFA -

An increase in the
incremental costs used
would result in an increase
in the fair value of heifers
and calves which aged
between 14 and 24 months,
and vice versa.

FTER FR /38 & A 7R 38 00 4 3R
142 24E A B KA RIESF
B RARBEEMN  RZIRA -
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets which were measured in
Level 3 as at 31 December 2023 and 2024: (continued)

Type

i)

Valuation techniques

fh{E B

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

37. LQAEEEE (H)

Significant unobservable
inputs

EXTUBRERARE

LA ABR20234F k202412 A31 BN E
CHHENEDEEMENMBNEXR NI
R ASIBENEE  (8)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable
inputs and fair value
measurements
EXRFUEERABBEAR
EETEZENEERE

Milkable cows

wEE

The fair values of milkable
cows are determined using
the multi-period excess
earnings method, which is
based on the discounted
future cash flows to be
generated by such milkable
COWws.
REHFE AR BEERAZHE
BUWREETE - % ETIER
B BB BEA A E A RO BE TR AR 2R
BeRE o

The estimated feeding
costs per kilogram (“kg”)

of raw milk used in the
valuation process ranged
from RMB1.98 to RMB2.18
and RMB2.35 to RMB2.90
as at 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively.
720244 [ 2023412 A 31
H - RMEEEETFRANEGT
= RE R A E SRR 5 7
NFARKE198TEARE
218 R ARME2.35TEA
R¥2.907T °

A milkable cow could have
as many as six lactation
cycles. Estimated average
daily milk yield per head

at each lactation cycle
ranged from 28kg to 43kg
and 28kg to 40kg as at 31
December 2024 and 2023,
respectively.
—SAREHFE LB AR e S
EINIR o FA2024 5 [ 2023
12H318  FERENMIE
HM K et B HE
MEH RN F28FmE43TF
" N28TREATR ©

An increase in the
estimated feeding costs per
kg of raw milk used would
result in a decrease in the
fair value of the milkable
cows, and vice versa.
FERANE TR RE e ke
g HAK ZN 15 00 S B B A
AREERD - RZTA -

An increase in the
estimated average daily
milk yield per head used
would result in an increase
in the fair value of milkable
cows, and vice versa.
FTER A BB B R0 (b 5T
HERAENHSENKEERKE
FHRABEEMN - R2TF
SR o
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 37.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets which were measured in
Level 3 as at 31 December 2023 and 2024: (continued)

AREEFEZ (E)

LA ABR20234F k202412 A31 BN E
CHHENEDEEMENMBNEXR NI
R ASIBENEE  (8)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable

Significant unobservable inputs and fair value

Type Valuation techniques inputs measurements
EXTAEEGABBELR
p:Eic) fRERM EXRTAERG ABE BEFEZEWEERE

Estimated average prices An increase in the

of raw milk per kg ranged  estimated average price of
from RMB3.56 to RMB3.93  raw milk would result in an
and RMB4.17 to RMB4.83  increase in the fair value
as at 31 December 2024 of milkable cows, and vice
and 2023, respectively. versa.

R2024F %2023 12 A31  FREFT FHEREE MG
H  8FTRRHEDNOMGT BREBFORAEBEEM -
HEBI RN FAREI56 RZIA -
TTEARK3IBTRARE

417TTEAR4.837T ©

Discount rates for estimated An increase in the

future cash flows used were estimated discount rate
12% and 12% as at 31 used would result in a
December 2024 and 2023, decrease in the fair value

respectively.

of milkable cows, and vice

R2024F K 2023F 12431  versa.
B FTERAMMERTARIIBER ATRAN G AR RIE nigE
SHIBED R AE12% K% 12% o BMEKBFFHOAREBERD © K
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of biological assets which were measured in
Level 3 as at 31 December 2023 and 2024: (continued)

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

37. LQAEEEE (H)

Significant unobservable

LA ABR20234F k202412 A31 BN E
CHHENEDEEMENMBNEXR NI
R ASIBENEE  (8)

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable
inputs and fair value

Type Valuation techniques inputs measurements
EXTAUEEGABBELR

p:Eic) fRERM EXRTAERG ABE EEAEZENEERE

Beef cattle The fair values of newborn  Estimated local market An increase in the

e beef cattle and mature beef selling prices of newborn estimated local market

cattle were determined

by reference to the local
market selling prices.
MERFRKARFHRAE
BEN2REMTSEEBET -

The fair value of immature
beef cattle was determined
by reference to the local
market selling prices

of newborn beef cattle

and mature beef cattle,
adjusted by the estimated
incremental daily gain in
weight at the end of each
reporting period.
REBEIR - REARGH
RNABETISRIERFMK
RAFHEMTHEBETE
WARE (TR B B S 1T

beef cattle per head ranged
from RMB663 to RMB1,481
and RMB1,080 to RMB1,720
as at 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively.
20244 220234 12 A 31

H - BEMERFOEETE
mHEED RN F ARB663
TTEARKEA 41T RARKE
1,0807TE AR#1,7207T °

Estimated local market
selling prices of mature
beef cattle per head
ranged from RMB16,290 to
RMB31,021 and RMB16,926
to RMB25,680 as at 31
December 2024 and 2023,
respectively.
720244 [ 2023412 A 31
H - SEKARFHEE
HMTHEEI N FARE
16,290 LE AR#31,021 7T
R AR16,926 TE AR
25,6807 °

The average daily gain in
weight per head ranged
from 0.93kg to 1.33kg and
0.87kg to 1.43kg as at 31
December 2024 and 2023,
respectively.
20244 [ 2023512 A 31
B SEFHBEESFINT
0.93F®=%=1.33F % }0.87
FRE1.43F 5w °

selling prices of newborn
beef cattle used would
result in an increase in the
fair value of beef cattle, and
vice versa.

FTiR AT £ A B (5T &
SEELLABEHAFHAR
BEEMN - R2ZINA

An increase in the
estimated local market
selling prices of mature
beef cattle used would
result in an increase in the
fair value of beef cattle, and
vice versa.

FRE R AR R 5T B
SEEEABEHAFHAR
BEEM - RZIA

An increase in the average
daily gain in weight per
head would result in the
increase in the fair value of
the immature beef cattle,
and vice versa.
FETHEIBEAIEMNEER
REKFARAFHRAAEEIEM -
R 2 IR e
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 37.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments and
biological assets:

Assets:

As at 31 December 2024

AREEE (&)

R WIERE R
TRATAEESBTARENEEN AR
BEHEER

B

MN202412 A31H

Fair value measurement using

ARBEFERANTEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BEAUEE EATABER
EIET S E [IPN ¢ WARE
(8B—%&) (B=&) (B=#%) =i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR®T AR%T R AR%T
Biological assets — current EWEE - RE - - 419,136 419,136
Biological assets — non current “£#1&E — 3ERE - - 2,905,038 2,905,038
Total At - - 3,324,174 3,324,174
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 37.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2023
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31 December 2024
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M2023%E 12 A31H

Fair value measurement using
NAEBEFERBUTEL

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BEAAEE  BAIAHEER
BT IS IR(E BABUR BABIR
(B—&) (F=8) (B=8) At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Biological assets — current EYEE — RE - - 512,402 512,402
Biological assets — non current “£#1&E — 3ERE - - 3,541,014 3,541,014
Total - - 4,053,416 4,053,416

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both assets and

liabilities.

The movements in fair value measurements of biological
assets within Level 3 during the year are disclosed in note

20 to the financial statements.

FR BEERABOMEBEES -—MEE R
AREBEFEZHER  TEE=FNEA
HEH -

FoBNEMEEN AR BEFENFEAE
BRI B IRMI T 205 5 -
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, cash and cash
equivalents and pledged deposits and restricted cash.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s obligations
with a floating interest rate. The Group closely monitors
its interest rate risk by performing periodic reviews and
evaluations of its debt portfolio and gearing ratio. The
interest rates and terms of repayment of the bank loans
of the Group are disclosed in note 26 to the financial
statements. In the opinion of management, the Group has
no significant interest rate risk.

38.

cRIEBEEBERBE

AEBNTIESRITABRETBRITEN
ReRReEEYARCERTREZ R
e -ZEeRITANTIEZANEREEE
MEFELEEED  AEBERAREERR
MEREENZREMEREERAE  F
WA FE MR IR e FE A 5RIA -

FEESBTAELNIEAKR A EME
% NERR - EEERRIGDMLER

et

FeEEREBETHRE  UEBKERAR  H
BEatan R o
FI == [ Ba

AEEHEBEOMSNXEBEBEREARE
BT BMEFENEK AR - AEERB
HEBEBESREAARLXETERRS
Rt - OIS EFREE - ANEEIRTT
BRI (B8 BRI B S SRR MY s 26 7
B BEERS  AEELEEANKME

B o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax

(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

TREREEBEREEK (&)

A=mEk (H)
TRERNTEMBEMEERFIENER
T AEEWAEE CREH F BN XER
MFE) BN ESRBEEEHNHRE -

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in loss

in basis points before tax
B2, BATEE
CR)  #m GEd)

% RMB’000

% ARBTR

2024 20244

RMB AR 0.5 16,623
usb ET 0.5 1,030
RMB AR (0.5) (16,623)
usb ETT (0.5) (1,030)
2023 20234

RMB AR 0.5 15,826
UsD X7 0.5 1,285
RMB AR (0.5) (15,826)
usb = (0.5) (1,285)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales, purchases or interest-bearing
bank borrowings by operating units in currencies other

than the units’ functional currencies.

S EE /R Bk

AEEHBEXZEERR - ZFARKE L
BB LB E R IAINERETTH
& BEXFERITER -
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. “mEKEZEBERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SPEE R B (4E)
Therefore, the fluctuations in the exchange rates could Eit - EXRBAUETELAEENLEE
affect the Group's results of operations. In the opinion of B-BREERR AKEEWEEKRINER
management, the Group has no significant foreign currency B o
risk.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TRETASEBRREHARBAIBERARNE
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change EERTEFMBEEMEERFIAENERLT -
in the USD exchange rates, with all other variables held HETERSBETSINHRE -
constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and the Group’s
equity.
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in loss (decrease)
in USD rate before tax in equity*
EnER HAIEE rEREmMm
g, CRD) w35 m) OR2)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR¥T R AR¥TR
2024 2024
If the RMB weakens against the USD i AR HETEE (5) (10,167) (10,167)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD i A R# 5 =T HHE 5 10,167 10,167
2023 20234
If the RMB weakens against the USD i AR HETEE (5) (1,923) (1,923)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD i A R# 5 T HHE 5 1,923 1,923
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. SREMETEEERBECR (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk FERR
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEBEERERTREEBRINE=FET
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers X5  AEENPBRAMBAEEREEKRR
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit ETRSGNEFPHEEZEREFEEEZER o It
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances N - BRI RS EUGRIB A REITERIE - R
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's SEEEGMNEERRITTEX -
exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BSREBRFERER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRIIBRBEAEBREEBRENEEEEZR
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EEEERE  TZERBHER (BRIEH
which is mainly based on past due information unless other HERAEBANE T UERARLE T
information is available without undue cost or effort, and %) RREWMERRNFREERDHE -
year-end staging classification at the end of each reporting
period.
As at 31 December 2024 1K2024F12A831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
FEEE ZHEHEERSE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-KE E-ER FE=ER  @StEE &3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR%TR AR%Tn AR%ETR
Trade receivables* FEURRIE - - - 303,927 303,927
Financial assets included in FTABMRIE - EfEMEOR
prepayments, other receivables REMEENNERERE
and other assets
- Normal** —EF* 11,042 - - - 11,042
Pledged deposits and restricted cash EHEBGEHRRIBHEE
— Not yet past due — WA 842 - - - 842
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEY
— Not yet past due — KRB 281,921 - - - 281,921
293,805 - - 303,927 597,732

261



AustAsia Group Ltd.
262 HEEEARAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024512 A31H

38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

TREREEBEREEK (&)

BESRBRERKE (E)
HR2023F 12831 H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 7888
EEEE 2HBEHEEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FME  FZRBE  F-BBR BhRE CHI
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TRT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Trade receivables* JE R IE - - - 374,293 374,293
Financial assets included in FTATRNFIE - iR IR
prepayments, other receivables REMEEANCREE
and other assets
- Normal** —EF* 17,737 - - - 17,737
Pledged deposits and restricted cash ZHEFFH L ZREIFESE
- Not yet past due — HABH 209 _ _ _ 209
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEY
- Not yet past due — WARBHE 273,999 = = = 273,999
291,945 - - 374,293 666,238

*%

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

C BRI R L0 B B K
T R SR )RR T R
FERTRE -

> STATEN TR - H AL RIR R A A&
EANSREE  ERAHETEER
BTREREENEERR B HRERIA
RIHRARIEMAERT - HEEER
BRR/IEFE]- B EREENEER
BEWRAIFE] -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral.

At the end of each reporting period, certain concentrations
arose from credit risk of the Group’s trade receivables due
from the Group’s five largest customers as follows:

38.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2024
2024F12 A31H

cREMEE B ERBUER ()
RS E RN FRER (F)

HRAEEERER T MEERIFNE=D
EIRS  WEFWEERS -

HIR - ARBERRENAEREPK
EENETEERRERBERAT

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

R2024F 20234

12H31H 12H31H

Customer A EEA 19% 17%

Customer B =FB 26% 29%

N/A*

Customer C ®FC 6% INiE

Customer D EFD 7% 6%
N/A*

Customer E =PE TiE A 4%
N/A*

Customer F =PF TER* 5%

N/A*

Customer G PG 9% TR~

67% 61%

* The corresponding trade receivables were not those * REREHR - R FE WA FEFE

due from the Group’s five largest customers at the end
of each reporting period.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by establishing
credit verification procedures. Management determines that
there are minimal concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customers of the Group’s trade receivables
are recognised and creditworthy.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed
in note 21 to the financial statements.

WAEBERREFPHFIE -

EFERBNEPREETRBARIEFERER
FETEE - EEERR  ARANEEHEK
RENFEPYER T BEEBRI - FAE
EnEERBRETEERE -

BRASEE RSO E R ERRBRE
BBBEF BRI BRRME21PRE -
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 38. £ @EKMEEBZRBUR (#)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk TR B B B
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using REEFAKLBERDESTE TAERA
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the EeREmERk ZIAGEZRESRIA
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial RemEE (EKRE) MR BBURKE
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows KEEFWBRERESRE
from operations.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at REENESRBERSRE RO G
the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual (REHREIRNAZHE D) 0T -
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
As at 31 December 2024
A 2024%12831H
On demand
or less than
1year 1to5years Over5 years Total
REREE
20y K3 1E54 HBIB5F &ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
Lease liabilities HEAE 157,296 469,752 1,962,232 2,589,280
Interest-bearing bank FTEERITIER
borrowings 2,495,150 1,202,004 - 3,697,154
Trade payables FEATFRIE 692,302 - - 692,302
Financial liabilities included & A E b &~ 3IE
in other payables and REETIER &Y
accruals cHMEE 259,950 = = 259,950
3,604,698 1,671,756 1,962,232 7,238,686
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THAREERRREBE (&)

B ()

As at 31 December 2023
R2023F12 A31H

On demand
or less than
1 year 1to 5 years Over 5 years Total
A F 15854 A5 F a&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AR¥ETTT ARBTTT ARBTTT
Lease liabilities HERE 148,020 521,703 2,077,688 2,747,411
Interest-bearing bank STERITIER
borrowings 2,122,121 1,643,675 - 3,665,796
Trade payables FEfTRIA 785,309 = = 785,309
Financial liabilities included 5T A EAth &1 3018
in other payables and LAEFTIEE B
accruals ERBaRE 268,876 - - 268,876
3,324,326 2,065,378 2,077,688 7,467,392
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38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is debt divided by capital. Debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing
ratios as at the end of each reporting period were as
follows:

38.

TREREEBEREEK (&)

ErER
AEBERNEENTI 2B BERARERNEER
BRENRED  THFRRNEARLE
XFFEEBA FACBRREE

AEBEEREERNER  AREBELERRD
BCMBRAEENE RS LETHE -
REBIABRELRER  FAEEJEHE
AR BB E  MRRREE AR 31T
AL o AEBAZEIMNBIE NN EARZ R
MRE - NERFE  EREANER K

AEBEFEREAREL R (BIEHRAER)
EREX - BREREFRRTERREESR
B BABREERAEAARIERERD - R
BEHROERBELEMNT :

31 December 31 December

12A31H 12A31H

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FrEIRITIER 3,498,392 3,400,323
Lease liabilities HESE 1,441,039 1,505,227
Debt B 4,939,431 4,905,550
Equity attributable to owners of the parent HARHEE AEGER 3,807,512 5,075,666
Gearing ratio BRBELX 130% 97%
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. ZXAQARMBMRRFK

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the REREHR - AR B KR E R0
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ™

31 December 31 December

12831H 12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries A ENGIEES e 3,104,616 3,103,948
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 3,104,616 3,103,948
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Prepayments, other receivables and FERTFRIE - HtEBGRIER

other assets Bt &EE 245,207 304,199
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 4,134 9,028
Total current assets mEEERE 249,341 313,227
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Due to a subsidiary FE— KM B AR FIR 854 =
Other payables and accruals EMERRIB N ERTIE R 24,150 21,367
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITIERK 142,049 124,795
Tax payable FEATIER 37 37
Total current liabilities mENBERE 167,090 146,199
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 82,251 167,028
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABRABAE

LIABILITIES 3,186,867 3,270,976
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITIER 63,955 132,130
Deferred tax liabilities RIEF T B E 4,335 4,335
Total non-current liabilities EmEBERRE 68,290 136,465
Net assets BEFE 3,118,577 3,134,511
EQUITY EH
Share capital [N 2,792,706 2,792,706
Reserves 1 325,871 341,805
Total equity M AERE 3,118,577 3,134,511
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. ZAATBBMRRE (&)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: #fat -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARRRMEHBRRNT ;
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value Foreign
through other currency
comprehensive Treasury translation Share option Retained
Share capital income shares reserve reserve profits Total
RRABEHE
BEEHHA
A2 ERES
e [EERE EERG  MEREEE  ROBEHE BRHE ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTRL ARETTR ARETTL ARETTL ARETTL ARETR  ARETR

At 31 December 2023 and 20238124318 R
1 January 2024 024%1A1H 2,192,706 (52,197) (1.831) - 11,151 384,682 3,134,511

Loss for the year EnER - - - - = (17,067) (17,067)

Total comprehensive loss for A2 AFEEE

the year - - - - - (17,067) (17,067)
Shares repurchased EER( - - (1,176) - - = (1,176)
Equity-settled share option WEREENRNBERE

arrangements - - 3,007 - (698) - 2,309

At 31 December 2024 R20245 12317 2,792,706 (52,197) = = 10,453 367,615 3,118,577
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 39. ZXATFEBRRE (&)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued) Hat - (&)
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value Foreign
through other currency
comprehensive Treasury translation Share option Retained
Share capital income shares reserve reserve profits Total
RRABEE
BEEHHA
A2 EREs
e ;ﬁﬁﬂ% EERG  MEREEE  ROBEHE BHHE ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTRL ARETTR ARETTR ARETTL ARETTL ARETR  ARETR

At 31 December 2022 and R022E12A318R

1 January 2023 (restated) 2023%1 817 (SE7) 2,432,340 (43,367) = (67,901) 24,707 (140474) 2,205,305
Profit for the year ERflE - - - - = 543,127 543,127
Exchange differences related to BN FHEBNEL 8

foreign operations 356,994 - - 67,901 (15,503) (17,971) 391,421

Change in fair value of an equity  MAREEEELEE
investment at fair value through aJr}\ﬁMEEﬁEE’JH%
other comprehensive loss, RENAABEED
net of tax 33 5 (8,830) - - 5 = (8,830)

Total comprehensive income ~ ERZANREES

for the year 356,994 (8,830) - 67,901 (15,503) 525,156 925,718
Issuance of shares pursuantto  BETEBERRE

the exercise of the ¥kt

over-allotment option 3,312 - - - - - 3,372
Shares repurchased EREERG - - (7,252) - - = (7,252)
Equity-settled share option WEREENRNBERYE

arrangements - - 5421 - 1,947 - 7,368

At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A31A 2,792,706 (52,197) (1,831) - 11,151 384,682 3,134,511
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40.

41.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(1)

On 24 February 2025, the Company entered into
a USD25 million facility agreement with a financial
institution for the purpose of providing working
capital for the Group. The term of the facility
provided under this facility agreement is six months
from the date of the first drawdown of the facility
agreement with an option to extend for a further
three months, which is subject to the financial
institution’s sole discretion.

On 26 March 2025, the Company entered into a
USD8 million facility agreement with a financial
institution for the purpose of financing the Group’s
repayment of bank borrowings. The term provided
under this facility agreement is six months from the
date of the first drawdown.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025.

40.

41.

HE

(1)

HBREE

N2025F2F24H » ARRE—FRE
BT I —TES A EE TR E
#UALSERHEEES - BE
ZREmRREENRENBRAE R
ES =R o D= NI
ARERER=EA  ZLEHhAZE
BB 2 REBYIEIRTE -

M2025%3H26H » ARRIE—FRE
BT — B8 EEELNBE R
# o UBRAEEEERITENIREER
o ZREMEIEHMNBRAEE X
IREA BRRENEA -

REE I BB SRR

BEHR RN 2025F3 31 B EES=GH AR
BRETEE -
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As of December 31,

HZ12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:x
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(BE5) (mE5) (&%)
REVENUE WA 3,683,841 3,924,360 3,802,915 3,365,025 2,790,879
Cost of sales HERA (3,666,842)  (3,906,318)  (3,788,788)  (3,348,677)  (2,790,141)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw  ZEYERR AR EERHE
milk at fair value less costs to sell at RAN SRR INEE
the point of harvest ol 564,084 694,044 843,216 991,416 884,253
(Losses)/gains arising from changes in REAFARBERBEEK
fair value less cost to sell of beef cattle REBK (BB)/ bz (90,047) (3,624) 25,648 126,309 150,647
Gross profit e 491,036 708,462 882,991 1,134,073 1,035,638
Other income and gains H A Rz 66,961 94,691 50,281 90,060 40,885
Losses arising from changes in fair value ~ REEG4ENEEALEE
less costs to sell of other biological RIHEKAE B EE
assets (1,260,646) (667,883) (158,183) (72,961) (97,648)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERZT (4,855) (2,894) (2,899) (3,479) (4,357)
Administrative expenses THRX (231,529) (225,553) (334,442) (277,421) (166,663)
Research and development expenses HRERT (13,587) - - - -
Reversal of impairment/(impairment SREERNE/ CRES
losses) on financial assets 18) #E 20 (97,000) = (31,592) =
Other expenses HibF% (15,616) (10,826) (46,027) (9,286) (23,263)
Finance costs BEM A (282,295) (268,948) (219,797) (139,492) (93,801)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM REBECEEBHHA
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (B8),/FE (1,250,511) (469,951) 171,924 689,902 690,791
Income tax expense FIEHAS (18,776) (18,840) (13,845) (15,694) (7,681)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM REFELLEEBNER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (E1#8),/ 78 (1,269,287) (488,791) 158,079 674,208 683,110
Loss for the year/period from a REERIHEEEBHEF
discontinued operation R/ HREE - - = = (22,332)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD &/ /HIR (B#E) /FIE  (1,269,287) (488,791) 158,079 674,208 660,778
Attributable to: AN ARG
Owners of the parent SUNIE 7PN (1,269,287) (488,791) 158,079 674,208 660,778
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As of December 31,

BZ12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE ARETT ARETT AR%®Tr ARETR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(mE5) (mE7) (mE5)
Total assets 9,872,075 11,177,364 10,740,386 8,768,081 6,364,642
Total Liabilities 6,064,563 6,101,698 5,166,585 3,755,558 2,112,567
Total equity 3,807,512 5,075,666 5,573,801 5,012,523 4,252,075
Attributable to Owners of the Company 3,807,512 5,075,666 5,573,801 5,012,523 4,252,075

Non-controlling interests
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BERARR

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the RAFHRA - MXESBEIN LW THAEAET
following expressions shall have the following meanings: HRE -

“‘AAG PSP"

[AAGHE R 5t 8l ]

“Annona”

[ Annona

“Audit Committee”

[BEtERBE®

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[EFg]

“Companies Ordinance”

RKONSIIESTDA

“Constitution”

the AAG Performance Share Plan adopted by the Company on 3 July
2020, which was amended on 5 December 2022
RARIR2020F 7 A3 RERMHIAAGE MR M aTEl - ZatEIRN2022F 125
CHl

Annona Pte. Ltd., a private company limited by shares incorporated
under the laws of Singapore on 3 November 2009 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Japfa

Annona Pte. Ltd. * —ZKK 20094 11 A3 BRI i A E s A 2 AL A IR
MERREF - REENZENB AT

the audit committee of the Board
EEgFLEEY

the board of directors of the Company

ARREES

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

LR BIMERCPTE M B E AT

AustAsia Group Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws of
Singapore with limited liability on 17 April 2009

AustAsia Group Ltd. * —KMR2009F4 417 BRI MESEE M AE
R A

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time
EREDF622F (R ANEG]) (B INRHEET S 7t )

the constitution of the Company (as amended from time to time), adopted
on 11 November 2022 and effective from the Listing Date
RARMR2022F 11 A11 BERAWLH £ B AR £ R BB ERR (CTRERT)
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BERARR

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ AR

“Director(s)’

[E%]

‘ESG”
[ESG]

“ESG Report”
[ESGH#4]

“Global Offering”
[EIREE

“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”

[ SE A4

“HK$” of “Hong Kong dollars’
[T

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“Japfa”

[fE3% ]

has the meaning given to it in the Listing Rules and, unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the group of Controlling Shareholders
comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa, the Scuderia
Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust),
Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited, Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and
Tallowe Services Inc.

BB FmARAFAETHEE - BERXEZSHFES - fEHRenaldo Santosast
4 + Gabriella SantosaZz =t * Scuderia Trust * Highvern Trustees Limited
(fEA&Scuderia Trustf 5L A) * Magnus Nominees Limited * Fidelis
Nominees Limited * Bl &R &EZEKR B AR « Rangi Management Limited
Tasburgh Limited & Tallowe Services Inc. 48R &) — 481 AE A% 3R

the director(s) of the Company

ARRES

Environmental, Social and Governance
RE - g RER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R g RERWRE

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Shares

BRARNHNEBLBARBEREREE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRATREME AR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BREEE®ET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEIEBRRITRIE

Japfa Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore on 8 October 2008 and
listed on the Mainboard of SGX-ST (stock code: UD2)

£8 - —KMN2008F 10 H 8 BAEF MIX T AL KA FT AP E IR E 82 Al
(FEHNHE - UD2)



“Listing”
[ 7

“Listing Date”

[ £ A H

“Listing Rules”

[ERA

“Model Code”

M Al

“Nomination Committee”

[RRZE®]

“PRC” or “China”

[ e

“Prospectus”
[HBRER ]

“‘RMB”
(AR ]

“Remuneration Committee”

EE e

“‘RSU”
[ 52 BR IR 7 B0
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BERARR

The listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
P ) FERS 22 PR 4R =T

30 December 2022, being the date of listing of the Shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange
2022412 A30 R - AR R MEE AP Y B A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

(BEREBERIMBERRDRESF ETRAND) (ETRERT M)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
LR AIMSRCIFE LM BT AESETES X I T ESTA

the nomination committee of the Board

EEERARET

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this annual report
only, except where the context requires, references in this annual report
to PRC or China exclude Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

PEARLANE - BESRFRME  RXESEAEIN  RERYPBIAE
RTBEEE  RFIRAE

The prospectus of the Company dated 16 December 2022
RARIBHAA2022F 12 A16 A 2 BRER

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEBARE

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFxeymMEES

restricted share units granted under the RSU Scheme
RAR SRS AR B AT 815 T 8 X R SR 0 B L
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“‘RSU Scheme”

[ 52 FR i B £ B8 51 21 )
“SFO”
[(EFH R EE5RE)]

“Shares”

[zt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ &R |

“Singapore”

[ #7003

“Singapore Companies Act”

[FT IR RDED ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B56 22 FfT |

“U.S.” or “United States”

S0

“UsbD”
[%&7t]

the post-IPO RSU Scheme adopted by the Company on 5 December
2022
RATFHR2022F12 A5 ARANE R ARSI R G5 BL5 2

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to time
BEBEDIESTIE(EF RBAE BRI (R KET M)

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company

AR BN AR ) E SRR

holder(s) of Shares
SSESE=IN

the Republic of Singapore
TN AN E

the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

1967 F(RADE)  EAEHER] ~ MFesk AR M Bk

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERBMEXHMBR AR

the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of
the United States and the District of Columbia
EMNBERE - HELT REH - ZEEMMN RS EisR

Dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.

KEHEEERET
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